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Foreword 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Foreword 
At a glance 

 

Who we are and what we do: 

 

The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust (QEH) provides healthcare 

services at The Queen Elizabeth Hospital, a 500-bed acute hospital which opened in 1980 and 

is located two miles outside King’s Lynn town centre. 

 

We provide healthcare to more than 240,000 people in West Norfolk, north-east 

Cambridgeshire, South Lincolnshire and part of Breckland via the hospital and a number of 

outreach services at community hospitals and medical centres in our area. 
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Our aims 

Our aim is to be the preferred 
hospital for local people, providing 
accessible emergency, specialist and 
follow-up services at our main 
hospital and via specialist outreach 
clinics and surgeries. 
 
The financial year covered by this 
report details our activities in our first 
full year as a Foundation Trust.  
 
Our pledge to Foundation Trust 
members and all other patients in our 
area was as follows: 
 

 We will listen to our Foundation 
Trust members and governors 
before determining our aims and 
aspirations for the future 
 

 We will plan our services in 
partnership with GPs and work with 
our partners to provide a seamless 
service that meets the needs and 
demands of our local population.  
This pre-empted some of the 
provisions since outlined in the 
Health and Social Care Bill 
 

 We would invest in our hospital and 
find ways of improving our 
efficiency still further 
 

 We would aim to meet all national 
performance targets set for the 
NHS 
 

 We would strive to develop our 
services as an asset to the local 
community 

 

 
 
 
Our income 
 
During the year under review, 1 April 
2011 – 31 March 2012, our income 
was £165 million. We ended the year 
with a trading surplus of just over £1 
million.  
 
However, this was below our plan of 
£2m. It is important for the Trust to 
achieve a surplus in order to invest at 
an appropriate level in the hospital 

infrastructure on an ongoing basis.  
 
The Trust has enhanced planning and 
implementation support arrangements 
for our efficiency savings programme 
going forward to ensure we continue 
to stay ‘in the black’ and invest in 
services for the benefit of patients. 

Where we have excelled 

Building on the good performance of previous years the Trust has excelled 
in a variety of areas of patient care, as follows: 

 Knee surgery: The influential Dr Foster Hospital Guide named the QEH as 
one of the best NHS Trusts in the country for knee replacement surgery. This 
was supported by data released by the National Hip Fracture Database, 
which revealed we are one of the top Trusts in the East of England for 
orthopaedic care 
 

 Pressure ulcers: The QEH has been identified as the best Trust in the East 
of England for low rates of hospital-acquired pressure ulcers – sometimes 
known as bed sores 
 

 Thromboembolism: The Trust has been awarded ‘exemplar’ status for 
outstanding work in helping to prevent venous thromboembolism (VTE) – 
sometimes referred to as ‘deep vein thrombosis’ 
 

 Critical care: We remain one of the top Trusts in England for delivering 
critical care 
 

 Day surgery: We continue to be one of the best Trusts in England for the 
quality of day surgery 
 

 Value for money: According to the Dr Foster Hospital Guide, we are one of 
the 12 most efficient hospital Trusts in England for value for money on our 
day-to-day running costs 
 

 Green issues: We were named as joint ‘number one’ organisation in the UK 
for carbon reduction. 100% compliance with Carbon Trust standards meant 
we topped the Environment Agency’s Carbon Reduction Commitment table 
 

 Young people:  Services for children and young people have been given top 
rating and are being used as examples of ‘best practice’ for other Trusts to 
follow 
 

 Catering: QEH catering staff were given a five-star top rating by the Food 
Standards Agency for high standards of kitchen hygiene and food 
preparation. Two QEH chefs were awarded Gold Medals in a national 
cookery competition for their outstanding skills 
 

 Staff engagement: We are one of the country’s Top Five NHS Trusts for 
having ‘the most focused’ staff, with the best ‘staff engagement’ profile of any 
NHS Trust in the East of England. This means we all share the Trust’s vision 
and work well as a team 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Facts and figures 
 
During 2011-12 we: 

 Treated more than 54,200 emergency patients – that’s an average 
of 148 emergency cases every single day of the year  

 Saw local people in nearly 269,000 outpatient appointments, 
which works out at more than 1,000 people seen every week day 

 Carried out more than 16,800 operations, which averages more 
than 320 each week 

 Ended the financial year with a trading surplus 
 
We employed full and part-time staff as follows: 

 1252 nurses, midwives and healthcare assistants    

 205 consultants and doctors 

 153 medical trainees 

 251 healthcare scientists and technicians 

 206 allied health professionals – for example, physiotherapists, 
audiologists and occupational therapists. 
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Chair and Chief Executive’s  

statement 
 

2011/12, our first complete year of being a Foundation Trust, has been one of challenge 
and achievement.  
 
In January 2012, Monitor, the independent regulator of NHS Foundation 
Trusts, took the decision that we were deemed to be in significant breach 
of our authorisation as an NHS Foundation Trust. It had three concerns. 
These were the Trust’s capacity and capability to plan effectively and 
achieve our forecast financial targets, the results of our Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) review and our failure to meet the C.difficile target. 
 
As a Foundation Trust we have to generate our own capital in order to be 
able to fund investment in service development and to maintain our 
buildings. It is therefore essential for us to be efficient and make a surplus 
so that we can continue to be sustainable.  
 
We have to achieve this financial balance alongside continuing to deliver 
high quality services and an excellent patient experience. This is a 
challenge. The funding for the work we carry out is reducing and service 
cost pressures continue to rise. The good news is that, thanks to everyone 
at the Trust’s hard work, we saw an improvement in our performance for 
the last three months of the financial year and have achieved a surplus of 
£1 million. 
 
The CQC review in August 2011 revealed we were non-compliant in three 
areas, record keeping, meeting nutritional needs and medicines 
management. An action plan was drawn up immediately to address these 
issues and the plan’s progress was closely monitored by the Board. An 
enormous amount of commitment and effort went into ensuring that 
everything the CQC had raised was rectified. By their unannounced 
second visit we had achieved full compliance, with some work 
recommended to further improve our record-keeping. We are now 
developing a new clear and comprehensive patient care record which will 
be used by all clinicians. 
 

Taking into account all the obstacles we have faced as an organisation 
this year, it is a credit to the calibre of our staff that the Trust has continued 
to be a high performer in a number of areas. We have been recognised for 
the high quality of care in intensive care, orthopaedic and stroke services, 
and the prevention of hospital-associated venous thrombo-embolism 
(sometimes known as deep vein thrombosis) in particular gained us 
‘exemplar’ status. We are also providing more services in facilities closer 
to people’s homes, such as in St. George’s Medical Centre Littleport, and 
will be expanding these further in 2012/13 into areas such as Fakenham.   

 
None of this could have been achieved without the dedication and hard 
work of all our staff, governors and volunteers. Our thanks go to all of them 
for their continued support.  
 
We look forward to the year ahead as we continue on our journey to 
ensure our commitment to patients and quality care remains at the heart of 
everything we do.   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

        

        

 

       Patricia Wright 
       Chief Executive 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

      
         

       Kate Gordon CB 
       Chair 
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Directors’ Report 
About us 
 
The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust (QEH) is a forward-
looking provider of acute healthcare and specialist services. The Queen Elizabeth Hospital 
is two miles outside the town centre and serves a part-urban, part rural population of around 
240,000 people in West Norfolk and parts of the neighbouring counties of Cambridgeshire, 
Lincolnshire and the Breckland area of South Norfolk. 
 
The Trust regularly features in ‘Top Performer’ surveys of NHS Trusts for high standards of 
care. In particular we are recognised for the high quality of our trauma, orthopaedic, stroke 
and maternity care and for the exceptionally high standards of our Blood Sciences team. 
The prevention of hospital-associated VTE (venous thrombo-embolism – sometimes known 
as deep vein thrombosis) helped to earn the Trust ‘exemplar’ status during the year under 
review. 
 
Our income for the year was £165 million. The chart indicates the sources of our funding. 

 

NHS Norfolk - £112m

NHS Cambridgeshire - £26m

NHS Lincolnshire - £10m

Special Comissioning Groups - £2m

Other PCTs - £2m

Strategic Health Authorities - £6m

Other sources - £7m
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In round figures we remain a 500-bed 
hospital, although ward 
reconfiguration carried out during 
2012-13 may see this number reduce 
as services are improved and 
demand for long-stay beds reduces. 
 
Emphasis in recent years has been 
on increasing the availability of our 
acute services to a population that 
may live many miles from the 
hospital, often in rural areas.  
 
Accordingly we have developed a 
highly successful outreach service for 
many procedures that formerly could 
only have been carried out in the 
main hospital.   
 
Working from centres such as the 
custom-built operating theatre suite 
at St George’s Medical Centre in 
Littleport, or theatres at local GP 
practices, we are able to take our 
services to where the patients require 
them most.  
 
We currently run outreach services in 
Littleport, Wisbech, Wells and 
Swaffham, with plans to expand into 
Fakenham during 2012-13.  
Our principal commissioners are 
NHS Norfolk, NHS Cambridgeshire 
and NHS Lincolnshire.  
 
We work closely with 43 GP practices 
across a catchment area of 
approximately 750 square miles and 
work especially closely with West 
Norfolk Practice Based 
Commissioning Consortium, whose 
GPs will be responsible for 
commissioning the majority of local 
healthcare services in future.   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Where we fit into the local health scene 
 
Sited near the junction of three counties, with the nearest other acute hospitals more than 40 miles away in any 
direction, the QEH holds a key strategic position in delivering healthcare to a varied population. 
 
We provide high standard services associated with a district general hospital, with highly specialised medical care – for 
example, complex heart and brain surgery – being carried out by partner Trusts offering specialist facilities. 
 
Advances in medical technology and methods of treatment have meant that the pattern of demand for acute beds is 
changing.  We are now able to treat more patients as day cases, either in our Day Surgery unit, or at one of the 
‘outreach’ clinics our surgeons run at GP surgeries and health centres.  
 

Case study 
 

A surgical outpost 
 
One of the most exciting local healthcare developments of recent years – 
particularly for our patients – has been the development of ‘outreach’ 
services at St George’s Medical Centre in Littleport. Patients living in this 
area, close to the conjunction of Norfolk, Cambridgeshire and Suffolk, can 
face a round-trip journey of up to 50 miles to visit their nearest NHS acute 
hospital in King’s Lynn, Cambridge, Bury St Edmunds or Hinchingbrooke. 
 
Our facilities at Littleport, developed in partnership with the resident GP 
practice, include a full-service operating theatre from where we now offer 
day surgery for eye conditions and minor ‘lumps and bumps’ surgery.  
 
During the year we added urology to the available services and have plans 
to extend services further still to include gynaecology. 
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Our vision for the future 
 
The Trust’s strategic objectives focus 
on achieving a vision of being The 
Preferred Hospital for Local People.  
We plan to achieve this over the 
coming year through six key 
priorities.  We will: 
 

 Always put the needs and care of 
the patients first 
 

 Tailor our services to meet the 
needs of local people. At the same 
time we will increase efficiency, 
improve quality and help the whole 
‘health economy’ to achieve 
financial balance 
 

 Investment in the Trust where 
necessary, in order to improve 
efficiency 
 

 Implement new technologies and 
systems that will improve patient 
care 
 

Aim to meet all regulatory, 
performance and quality targets; 
 
Develop the Trust’s strategic position 
as a community asset for West 
Norfolk and beyond. We will do this 
by working with local government,  
education and social services teams 
 
 
 
 

to maintain a hospital that is truly 
aligned with local needs.  
We will work in collaboration with our 
partners in delivering the highest 
quality healthcare, and we will train 
and develop staff from the local 
community wherever possible. 
 
Under this plan, we will grow our 
income and invest our surplus to 
ensure we continue to provide 
excellent healthcare to our population 
and have a stable and sustainable 
future.   

 
Divisional Reports 
 
We have developed robust plans for 
our four operating divisions for the 
coming year and these are outlined in 
the Trust’s Annual Business Plan. 
Examples of some of the new service 
developments we are planning 
include: 
 
Women and Children’s Division 
 

 Improving neonatal and 
gynaecology ‘outreach’,  
outpatient and home-based 
services 
 

 Development of fertility services 
 

 Expansion of midwifery team 
 
 
 

Surgical and Anaesthetic Division 
 

 Improving flexibility in main 
theatres and day surgery to 
improve productivity 

 

 Developing ‘outreach’ surgical 
services 

 

 Improving efficiency and reducing 
length of stay on the Surgical 
Assessment Unit 

 
Medicine and Emergency Care 
Division 
 

 Expanding cardiology services 
 

 Improve after-care of respiratory 
patients, to reduce readmissions 
 

 Improving dementia care services 
still further 
 

 Expanding the acute oncology 
service and community-based 
palliative care 

 
Clinical Support Services Division 
 

 Expanding the work of the Aseptic 
Unit 
 

 Developing ‘outreach’ services 
 

 Reviewing therapy services to 
improve support for stroke, short 
stay and orthopaedic patients 
 

 Expanding endoscopy services 
 

 Developing community dietetics 
 

Case study 
 
 

We’re baby friendly! 
 

 The award to the Trust of the UNICEF Certificate of Commitment in 
June 2011 signalled that the Trust is now officially ‘baby friendly’.  
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 

 This means that 
breastfeeding continues to 
be encouraged and 
supported by the Trust, to 
the extent that 
breastfeeding is now 
permitted anywhere within 
the Trust – putting the 
needs of our very 
youngest patients and 
visitors first! 
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Our Staff 
 

Staff Opinion Survey 

The Staff Opinion Survey results for 2011 returned another excellent set of findings for the Trust.  494 staff took part, 
which is a response rate of 62% and up 9% on the previous year. This response rate is in the highest 20% of acute 
trusts in England.  The key findings maintain our position in the top 20% of acute trusts overall with the 2011 summary 
position compared to 2010 as follows: 
 

Ranking Description Key Finding areas 2011 Key Finding areas 2010 Variance 

    

Best 20% 21 areas 25 areas -4 areas 

Better than average 9 areas 7 areas +2 areas 

Average 4 areas 4 areas Nil 

Worse than average 3 areas 0 areas +3 areas 

Worst 20% 1 area 2 areas -1 area 

    

Total 38 areas 38 areas  

 

The Trust’s four top scoring areas were: 
 

 Staff motivation at work 

 94% of staff who responded 
believe the Trust provides  
equal opportunities for  
career progression or 
promotion  

 Perceptions of effective  
action from employer  
towards violence and  
harassment 

 80% of staff having equality  
and diversity training in last  
12 months (significantly  
ahead of the average score 
of 48%)  

 
The four areas requiring improvement 
 were: 
 

 The percentage of staff  
witnessing potentially  
harmful errors, near misses 
or incidents in the last month was  
39%.Although this had gone down by 
1% from last year, this  
compared with an average  
for acute trusts of 34%. 

 Percentage of staff using  
flexible working options 

 Percentage of staff  
appraised with personal  
development plans in last  
12 months 

 Percentage of staff 
experiencing physical  
violence from patients,  
relatives or the public in last  
12 months (Although this  
had gone down by 3% since 
last year) 
 

 
Overall, this represents an excellent set of results and the Trust will now be 
concentrating efforts to address those areas requiring improvement. 

 
 

 
 
 
. 
 

Case study 
 

Shining Stars awards 
 
Local people gave an overwhelming vote of support to QEH staff and 
volunteers in March 2012 with the first-ever ‘Shining Stars’ staff awards, 
culminating in a Hollywood-themed gala awards night at The Duke’s  
Head Hotel in King’s Lynn. 
 
Staff were encouraged to nominate colleagues who, in their opinion, had 
made an outstanding contribution to local healthcare. Individual and 
team awards covered leadership, innovation, learning and development, 
partnership working and teamwork, and local residents and patients were 
invited to nominate staff, volunteers or teams in two categories. 
 
Each award category was sponsored by suppliers or business partners 
of the Trust, with local radio station KLFM sponsoring the Volunteer of 
the Year Award, and the Lynn News sponsoring the People’s Choice 
Award. 
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Equal Opportunities 
The key development in 2011/12 
has been the emergence of the 
Trust Equality Delivery System 
(EDS).  The EDS was published in 
July 2011 and serves as a 
framework to improve the equality 
performance of the NHS whilst 
supporting the Trust in meeting the 
requirements of the statutory 
Public Sector Equality Duty 
(PSED) contained within the 
Equality Act 2010. 
 
The EDS comprises 18 outcomes 
grouped under four goals and 
requires the Trust to analyse 
equality performance across the 
nine protected characteristics 
defined in the Equality Act 2010. 
 
Having met with relevant Trust 
staff and associated contacts and 
having located key evidence 
relating to the 18 outcomes, the 
Trust has completed its initial self 
assessment and has been graded 
at ‘amber’ which translates to a 
‘developing’ level.  This has been 
independently assessed and 
ratified by Local Involvement 
Networks (LINks) which comprises 
individuals and community groups 
such as faith groups and residents 
associations working together to 
improve health and social care. 
 
From this promising start, the Trust 
is now required to have reviewed 
and published equality objectives 
for 2016/17 and beyond. 
 
 

Occupational Health/Health and Wellbeing 
It was a progressive year for the Trust in terms of the health and wellbeing 
of staff.   
 
A selection of the many new initiatives introduced during the year included: 
 

 Zumba and Jive classes held on the main hospital site. 
 

 The Water Wellbeing Interactive Health Check Kiosk was located in the 
staff coffee lounge throughout January.  Staff were able to check their 
blood pressure and BMI and also access information on a range of 
health conditions. There was a high uptake of 756 tests taken by 
employees - an average of 34 checks per day 
 

 Stress Busting Day – a partnership approach with students from the local 
College of West Anglia provided head, arm and hand massages which 
proved very popular amongst staff.  Prizes for a free raffle were provided 
by a local Health Spa 
 

 A Health Trainer from NHS Norfolk continues to hold a weekly clinic, 
providing one to one support on smoking cessation, weight, exercise and 
alcohol management 
 

 A Weight Management Course is now established and is held once a 
week 
 

 A ‘Developing Personal Resilience’ Workshop was held in March for 
Managers and a further day in early May.  Both were provided free by 
the SHA through the ‘Staying Healthy at Work’ Programme. This is 
currently being considered for further ‘roll out’ across the Trust 

 
The year ended with the efforts of the Occupational Health Team being 
recognised for a collective award at the Trust Shining Stars award 
ceremony in March and the Back Care specialist team receiving an 
individual runner-up award for ‘practice innovation’. 
 

 
 

 

Sickness Absence Data 
Sickness absence data is collected onto the Electronic Staff Record (ESR) in ‘real time’.  This allows for up to date 
reporting and the development of effective remedial plans where key absence levels are ‘triggered’. 
 
Sickness absence data forms an integral part of the Trust ‘Workforce Scorecard’ which is submitted to the Board of 
Directors (BoD) on a monthly basis.  The current average monthly sickness absence figure is 4% and we are striving 
to regularly reach a level of  
3.5%. 
 
This figure is regularly  
supplemented by additional 
data on the ‘reason for 
absence’ which due to  
additional ‘descriptors’ within  
the ESR system is becoming 
increasingly sophisticated. 
 
 
Analysis of the main sickness reasons for March 2012 compared with March 2011 shows higher levels for 
coughs/colds/flu, musculo-skeletal and anxiety/stress/depression. 
 
The sickness data reported at Board of Directors level is replicated on a Divisional basis and the management team 
with their respective Divisional Human Resources Business Partner seek to develop individual action plans to 
maximise future attendance levels. 
 
 
 
 

Reason for sickness % of 
overall 
sickness 
March 
2012 

No. of 
episodes 
March 
2012 

% of 
overall 
sickness 
March 
2011 

No. of 
episodes 
March 
2011 

Musculo-Skeletal 17.57% 47 12.43% 42 

Anxiety/Stress/Depression 15.58% 35 10.04% 19 

D & V 11.07% 95 12.88% 134 

Colds/Coughs/Flu 8.60% 80 3.82% 39 

Ear/Nose/Throat 5.81% 28 3.05% 24 
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Education and training  
 

Organisation 

Development/Learning and 

Development  

The OD strategy is delivered 
through one-year operational 
plans.  To assess the impact of 
the work and to identify our 
future priority areas we 
commissioned Valuentis in June 
2011 to re-examine the QEH 
staff opinion survey. 

The findings showed that the Trust 
was in the top five acute trusts for 
2010 in relation to Highest 
Engagement scores and has 
strengthened its engagement scores 
at a much greater rate than the 
reference group as a whole.  The 
Trust was shown to benefit from a 
stronger engagement profile than is 
the case across the NHS in England 
and in East of England SHA Trusts in 
general.   

 
‘Development’ was the highest 
scoring area. ‘Line of Sight’ is a 
particular strength with the increase 
coinciding with the timings of the 
comprehensive appraisal review 
conducted across the Trust.  ‘Work 
environment’ was showing a 
significant increase and the in-depth 
focus on leadership development at 
all levels in the Trust is likely to have 
played a key part in achieving this 
improvement. 

 
The Trust has a proactive learning, development and education programme to 
meet the needs of all areas and all roles. A particular focus for development 
across the Trust has been in leadership development at all levels.  2011/12 
has seen:  
 

 The introduction of a new supervisory development programme for team 
leaders and supervisors in support services 

 Continuation of the very successful Leadership and Management 
fundamentals ILM level 3 programme for team leaders and first line 
managers in both clinical and non-clinical roles. 

 An emphasis on the development of clinical leadership through the new 
Clinical Leadership programme for consultants and service line leads in 
partnership with Kings Fund; and the creation of a new Leading Innovation 
for Clinical Practitioners Ba (Hons) MA programme built around the Clinical 
Leadership Competency Framework, in partnership with the UEA 

 Active participation in the Norfolk Leadership Academy for middle and 
senior managers which enables our staff to participate in system-wide 
learning 

 Development of the use of 360º feedback based around the new NHS 
Leadership Framework. 

 Instigation of an accredited coaching programme to support the creation of 
a coaching pool across the Trust 

 Creation of a virtual OD network which aims to create a virtual OD internal 
pool of people who can offer OD support to managers and teams across 
the Trust as they take their challenging agendas forward 

 
 
Values and behaviours 
Working in partnership with the Anne Frank Trust, a number of workshops 
have been held to develop our own unique values and behaviours which are 
meaningful to our staff and patients.  Anne Frank’s story provokes a response 
and an acknowledgement of the need to create a community within which 
everyone is valued, treated fairly and their voices heard. The interactive 
workshops have looked at real life scenarios both positive and negative from 
staff and patient’s perspectives and the discussions that follow allow the 
opportunity to explore values and start to capture those that reflect our key 
principles. 
 

 
2011/12 has seen continuation of the Assistant Practitioner (AP) programme pilot which aims to support the 
development of band 4 clinical support roles.  Governance and assurance were recognised as being really important 
to the AP project by both the APs and their managers and all were keen to have a code of conduct to provide 
assurance and to recognise the importance and contribution of these roles to the delivery of high quality patient care.   

 

Bands 1 – 4 development 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
  

 

 
 
 
 

QEHFT success in regional final of the National Apprenticeship Awards - 
Employer category – Supernumerary project – Norfolk wide  
 
The Norfolk Health Organisation’s Apprenticeship Project award submission for 
the National Apprenticeship Award (Macro Employer) won the East of England 
regional title and we are now recognised as a National Apprenticeship Service 
Top 100 Employer. 
 
Growing our own talent - Our QEH supernumerary pilot as part of the above 
initiative saw all ten candidates completing their apprenticeship in areas including 
business administration, customer service and healthcare support and eight of the 
ten candidates were successful in gaining employment here at The QEH.  
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Our partners 
 

In line with development of the NHS 
at national level, we have been 
focusing on building sound 
relationships with our healthcare 
partners at local level. In particular 
we continue to work closely with GP 
and management colleagues from 
the West Norfolk Practice Based 
Commissioning Consortium, which in 
2011 was designated as a 
‘pathfinder’ consortium, leading the 
way in developing local health 
services. The consortium will be 
taking over responsibility for the 
majority of buying or commissioning 
of local health services in 2013. A 
similar relationship is also developing 
with the equivalent GP consortium in 
North Cambridgeshire. 
 
Our strong links continue with our 
current main commissioners, NHS 
Norfolk, NHS Cambridgeshire and 
NHS Lincolnshire, and with the East 
of England Ambulance Service, 
which has services co-located on our 
site in King’s Lynn.  
 
Robust professional links are also 
maintained with regional centres 
responsible for the specialist care of 
some of our cancer, neuro and heart 
patients – for example, the Norfolk 
and Norwich University Hospital, 
Addenbrooke’s Hospital in 
Cambridge and Papworth Hospital. 

We also have an excellent working 
relationship with Norfolk Community 
Health and Care with whom we have 
undertaken a number of joint health 
initiatives during the year. 
 
At local level we continue to work 
closely with the Borough Council of 
King’s Lynn and West Norfolk – in 
particular liaising over the 
development of the hospital site and 
on issues relating to public health, for 
which borough councils assume 
responsibility in 2013.  We also have 
strong links with Norfolk County 
Council, particularly through Social 
Services teams, some of whom are 
based on site.  
 
We will continue to review our bed 
provision and how we can improve 
patient flow now and in the future. 
We must maximise the use of our 
limited space on site and ensure 
patients are receiving the right care in 
the right place at the right time. We 
will only achieve this by continuing to 
work closely with all our partner 
organisations to reduce unnecessary 
hospital admissions, enable the 
timely discharge of patients and by 
developing healthcare services closer 
to where our patients live. 
 
 

The past year has given the Trust the 
first full-year of influence on our 
strategic direction by local 
communities, via the Foundation 
Trust Governors’ Council. This 
includes representatives from local 
government, education and voluntary 
organisations. 
 
Our close day-to-day working 
relationship with the police and fire 
and rescue services was further 
strengthened during the year by joint 
participation in a number of 
emergency planning exercises.   
 
We have also worked closely with a 
number of local businesses, many of 
whom have given the Foundation 
Trust strong support through 
charitable donations, professional 
assistance and advice.  
 
As a matter of policy, for example, 
our Catering team sources food 
locally, where possible, and local 
suppliers are used. We have signed-
up to the NHS Prompt Payments 
Code, an initiative developed jointly 
by the government and the Institute 
of Credit Management, and aim to 
pay small businesses within ten days 
of being invoiced. 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Case study 
 
Tribute to a special lady 
 
One of the best-loved supporters of the Trust, former League of  
Friends shop manager Barbara Bush, sadly died last year – but 
will never be forgotten. Her love of high performance vehicles  
was legendary and her name lives on in the form of the Barbara  
B – a high-performance motorcycle.  
 
The bike is the latest addition to the ‘blood bike’ fleet operated  
by Norfolk SERV, the charity dedicated to delivering blood and  
tissue samples to NHS Trusts out-of-hours. 
 
Volunteer riders assembled outside the League of Friends shop  
in January to see the Barbara B blessed and dedicated by the 
Rev Ian Byrne, Norfolk SERV chaplain and himself a volunteer  
rider.  

 



The Queen Elizabeth Hospital  Annual Report and Accounts 2011/12    12 

 

Social and community 
links 
 
The most important of our community 
links continues to be with the Trust’s 
League of Friends. They have given 
invaluable support in providing 
equipment and resources for wards 
and departments and help to provide 
services generally not available via 
NHS funding.  
 
Our dementia patients and patients 
with learning difficulties have 
benefitted from the generosity of the 
League of Friends who funded the 
cost of providing pictorial menus and 
also red-topped water jugs and 
beakers for issue to patients requiring 
additional help with taking fluids.  
 

 
 
 
 
In addition, the League of Friends 
has bought many thousands of 
pounds worth of equipment now in 
use around the hospital. 
One of the more unusual items was a 
new £15,000 BMW motorcycle for 
use by the volunteer ‘blood bike’ 
riders for Norfolk SERV, who deliver 
blood and tissue to NHS Trusts out-
of-hours. 
 
During the year the Trust co-operated 
with local schools and colleges in 
developing joint initiatives including 
careers fairs and on-the-job work 
experience. 

 
 
 
 
One highly successful outcome of our 
links with Norfolk County Council and 
the College of West Anglia, based in 
King’s Lynn, has been the Project 
Search initiative, under which young 
students with learning difficulties 
have undertaken work placements at 
the hospital to give them valuable 
work experience and preparation for 
permanent employment at the 
conclusion of their course.  
 
This is now in its second year and 
has been strongly supported 
throughout the Trust. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Case study 
 
Young and enthusiastic – potential NHS staff of tomorrow 
 
There’s more to working in the NHS than being a doctor or nurse – that’s the message being given as part of a QEH 
community programme to encourage young people to consider a career in the NHS. 
 
Our highly successful Project Search initiative is now in its second year. Run in association with the College of West 
Anglia and Norfolk County Council, Project Search offers work opportunities to students with learning difficulties. 
Employed on a one-year rotation, students experience working life in different departments of the hospital, gaining 
valuable experience and knowledge to prepare them for permanent placements in employment once they leave 
college. 
 
Younger still are the NHS staff of 
tomorrow targeted by local 
employers, including the QEH, at  
careers fairs held at local schools.  
 
Primary school pupils as young  
as ten and 11 meet QEH staff at 
these career events and hear at  
firsthand what it is like to work,   
for example, as a radiologist or  
in catering, administration or one 
of  the dozens of other NHS  
careers. 
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Complaints and 
compliments 
 
During the year the Trust received 
516 complaints (compared to 556 in 
2010/11) and dealt with 84% of them 
within the target timescale of 25 
working days. Of these 98.6% were 
resolved locally following a first 
response. 
 
The primary source of complaint 
continues to be related to car parking 
on site. Long-term plans have been 
drawn-up by the Trust to improve car 
parking on site and a number of 
options for a solution have been out 
to staff and public consultation since 
December 2011.  This issue is dealt 
with at greater length elsewhere in 
this report. 
 
Complaints received by the Trust are 
handled in accordance with the 
Principles of Remedy good practice 
guidance, which the Trust has 
adopted. 
 
During the year 918 patients or their 
families wrote letters of thanks to the 
Chief Executive, thanking the Trust 
for the good care patients received 
and praising staff for their high levels 
of professionalism.  
 
This more than doubles the 
number of compliments and 
thanks we received the previous 
year, which totalled 451. 
 
The Board of Directors receives 
regular updates on complaints and 
compliments. In particular, the Board 
is briefed on examples of individual 
patient’s experiences or issues 
generated as a result of their care 
while with the Trust. Our PALS 
(Patient Advice and Liaison Service) 
team acts on behalf of patients and 
their families, when requested, and 
has been able to resolve a large 
variety of issues during the year, 
leading to positive outcomes. 
 
At all times the Board studies the 
causes and outcomes of these 
patient issues, with a view to finding 
ways in which the Trust may improve 
its performance. Where there has 
been room for improvement, 
immediate action is authorised so 
that we learn from any negative 
patient experiences and strive to 
ensure that performance is corrected 
in these areas. 
 

Risk management and 
patient safety 
 
The Trust has continued to focus on 
issues that support improvements 
both in the management of risk and 
in patient safety. Staff have been 
encouraged to identify and control 
risk within their work environment 
and practice through a process of risk 
assessment and active management 
of identified problems. This is 
underpinned by close monitoring of 
risk registers at a local, departmental 
and an organisational level. 
 
Staff have been encouraged to report 
any incidents that occur as an 
opportunity for learning and 
improving services and, as a result, 
the Trust has seen an upward trend 
in reporting. During 2011 / 12 there 
was a 10% increase in the number of 
incidents reported leading to an 
overall total of 6500 recorded 
incidents. These included issues of 
minor concern through to more 
serious issues requiring active follow 
up and changes to practice or 
process.  
The incidents fell into three broad 
categories - 5500 clinical incidents, 
18 non-clinical and 953 related to 
health and safety matters.      
 
The Trust has continued to report all 
patient safety incidents to the 
National Patient Safety Agency 
through the National Reporting and 
Learning System. This has included 
35 incidents that have been 
categorised as serious under the 
national reporting system. This year 
this has included those incidents in 
which a patient experiences a fall 
leading to a serious injury (14 
incidents) and incidents where a 
patient has developed a pressure 
ulcer graded at 3 or above (6 
incidents).  
 
Learning from incidents is recognised 
as key to managing risk and staff 
have been supported through a 
programme of training on using the 
technique of Root Cause Analysis to 
determine the underlying issues that 
have led to incidents occurring. This 
training has been made available to 
senior managers and team leaders 
across the organisation.  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Improving patient safety remains one 
of the three key quality indicators for 
the Trust. The organisation has built 
on the work undertaken in previous 
years to enhance safety and improve 
clinical outcomes for patients. The 
Patient Safety Committee has 
continued to act as the focal group 
for reviewing issues arising from 
individual patient safety incidents, 
disseminating national guidance and 
safety alerts and supporting initiatives 
to address particular aspects of 
practice where evidence suggests 
improvements to patient safety can 
be achieved.  
 
During this year this work has been 
supported through the formation of a 
Clinical Outcomes Group led by the 
Medical Director. This has provided a 
forum for reviewing data and 
information on the outcomes of 
treatment and care across all clinical 
specialties and has supported the 
organisation in its drive to reduce 
mortality. This year has seen a 
further 8% reduction in mortality over 
the 12 month period. 
 
A number of quality improvement 
measures were agreed with our 
commissioners and these included 
specific goals that led to 
improvements in patient safety. 
These are outlined in detail in our 
Quality Account but include amongst 
others, initiatives such as the 
introduction of Seven Simple Steps to 
reduce the number of patient falls 
and a sepsis resuscitation care 
bundle to reduce mortality in patients 
presenting with acute sepsis.  
 
An understanding of risk 
management and patient safety has 
been further embedded into the 
culture of the organisation through 
the delivery of workshops and 
training sessions and by providing 
support at a local level in reviewing 
practice, investigating incidents and 
developing risk registers as a vehicle 
for monitoring and controlling risk. 
The Patient Safety Bulletin has been 
published on a regular basis and has 
provided an opportunity for sharing 
best practice and lessons learnt from 
incidents, and on certain months has 
included detailed articles to improve 
staff understanding of specific patient 
safety issues such as reducing 
patient falls or ensuring good practice 
in obtaining patient consent to 
treatment. 
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Health and Safety  
In May 2011 there was a routine 
inspection carried out by the Health 
and Safety Executive.  The resultant 
report included a number of 
recommendations to enhance health 
and safety but did not include any 
improvement notices.  An action plan 
was produced to follow up all the 
recommendations and 90% of these 
were addressed within the financial 
year. 
 
Security 
Greater awareness of the need to 
build a complete picture of life at the 
QEH encouraged staff to report all 
assaults, with the result that figures 
for the year show an increase from 
75 to 92 assaults, according to a 
report from NHS Protect. However, 
88 of the 92 ‘assaults’ were carried 
out by people deemed not to have 
‘capacity’ for understanding the 
consequence of their actions – for 
example, patients with dementia or 
similar conditions. 

Emergency preparedness 
Our services and systems are 
regularly tested throughout the year 
in a number of training exercises and 
during the year our Emergency 
Preparedness teams were mobilised 
with a number of real-life scenarios.   
 
In May a joint exercise, Exercise 
Aquarius, involved the Health 
Protection Agency, NHS England and 
17 individual NHS Trusts, testing our 
responses to a potential chemical 
incident.  Our decontamination 
procedures were fully tested as part 
of the exercise, thanks to the 
enthusiastic support of staff members 
who assumed the roles of patients 
being showered-down in the 
decontamination tent. 
 
Regional plans for dealing with mass 
casualties were tested in two 
separate events in July under the 
banner of Operation Honest Direction 
and on various occasions throughout 
the year,  

emergency communications systems 
were tested to ensure key staff are 
able to respond promptly to any 
emergency alerts. 
 
During the year three actual incidents 
resulted in our emergency plans 
being activated. In October a problem 
with valves governing the supply of 
water from on-site storage tanks 
meant that the hospital was left 
without a fresh water supply. Our 
emergency joint response with 
Anglian Water ensured that supplies 
were restored within a few hours. 
 
A local internal incident was declared 
on 24 November when the Trust’s 
Local Area Network computer system 
malfunctioned, leaving the Trust 
without computer access for more 
than seven hours. Our pre-tested 
Business Continuity plans were put 
into action, allowing the hospital to 
continue functioning until the 
problems were resolved. 

Case study 
 
Safe and secure 
 
As part of the Trust’s commitment to improve safety and security on site for patients, visitors and staff, a team from 
security specialists Securitas commenced 24-hour cover of our site in February. 
 
Security guards are now employed to patrol the hospital around the clock – the first time that dedicated security 
personnel have been employed on site. Until they took over, security issues had been handled as an additional duty 
by our team of porters, who now have more time to concentrate on their principal duties. Our security team has 
already proved its worth by dealing with minor crime and public order issues that otherwise might have meant police 
attendance on site. 
 
In addition to the security team the Trust has also extended CCTV coverage of the site, including public areas inside 
the hospital, as a further security measure. 
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Counter Fraud 

Counter Fraud Provision has been provided by CEAC, the NHS consortium that also provides Internal Audit services 
to the Trust. The lead Local Counter Fraud Specialist (LCFS) is Julian Church and he brings over nine years’ 
experience to the role. He provides a route, independent of the Trust’s line management, for staff to raise any areas 
of concern that they might have about either their own activities, the activities of their colleagues or those of patients 
or contractors.  

The current challenges being faced within the economy mean that it is even more important that staff take 
responsibility for safe guarding the ‘public purse’, this includes ensuring any concerns in relation to possible 
‘fraudulent’ activities are reported promptly. The LCFS undertakes promotional work across the Trust and is regularly 
on site where his visible presence assists in deterring and identifying fraudulent activity. During the year no financially 
significant fraudulent activity has been identified and the Trust management team remains committed to ensuring 
concerns raised are investigated in a professional and timely manner. The LCFS is a regular attendee at Audit 
Committees and has direct report to the Trust Board through the executive sponsor, David Stonehouse, the Director 
of Resources. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Calendar of 
achievements 
 
April 2011 
A five-bed Enhanced Care 
Respiratory Bay, established on 
Marham ward to give high quality 
care to seriously-ill respiratory 
patients following an ‘almost 
unprecedented’ wave of admissions, 
was voted a success by patients and 
carers. 
 
A pioneering follow-up ‘helpline’ 
programme for female patients 
discharged following hysterectomy, 
was initiated on Elm ward with 
funding from the Foundation of 
Nursing Studies. The project was 
developed by nursing staff and 
former patients and launched during 
the summer, later receiving praise 
from the Royal College of Nursing 
and being featured in the Nursing 
Standard. 
 
The annual Care Quality 
Commission in-patient survey 
named the QEH as providing some 
of the best catering of any NHS 
hospital. The Trust was said to have 
met all patient expectations of sound 
medical and nursing care. 
 
May 2011 
For the third year in succession, the 
QEH was named by healthcare data 
benchmarking group CHKS as one 
of the country’s Top 40 top 
performing hospitals. 
 
Nursing staff were praised for their 
skill and dedication by the Mayor of 
King’s Lynn and West Norfolk, 
Councillor Mrs Zipha Christopher, 
during an official visit. 
 
QEH Haematology staff were 
praised for the Trust’s ‘impressive’  

record on screening patients for the 
risk of hospital-associated Venous  
 
Thrombo Embolism (VTE), during a 
fact-finding visit by Dr Roopen Arya, 
director of the King’s Thrombosis 
Centre. 
 
A round-the-clock thrombolysis 
service – administering clot-busting 
drugs to stroke patients – is praised 
by patients. Stroke survivor Tony 
Barber (81) recovered his speech 
and the use of his limbs and was 
back home in Dersingham in five 
days. Wife Beryl said the QEH 
service was “absolutely marvellous.” 

 
June 2011 
A support group for patients 
suffering from the speech problems 
of aphasia and dysarthria, mainly as 
the result of a stroke, was launched 
at the QEH. Just 24 hours later, two 
members of the ‘Speak Out’ group, 
17-year old Tom Scott and 62-year 
old John Trower, received national 
awards from the Stroke Association. 
Tom received the ‘courage’ award 
for under-18s and John the Susie 
Hulks Memorial award for his artistic 
achievements as a painter. 
 
Breastfeeding mums were 
welcomed anywhere within the 
hospital which was declared ‘baby 
friendly’ following the award of the 
UNICEF Certificate of Commitment. 
 
The Trust’s Learning Disability 
Steering Group launched pictorial 
menus, paid-for by a grant from the 
hospital’s League of Friends. The 
menus are used by patients with 
learning difficulties to indicate their 
meal preferences. 
 
 

A ‘front-of-house’ GP service, 
headed by Dr Tina Ariffin and 
launched earlier in the year, reported 
success in helping around 80 
patients a month avoid a hospital in-
patient stay. 

 
July 2011 
Work started on a new £3 million 
MRI scanner suite, on a courtyard 
site between the radiology and 
pharmacy departments. The new 
suite is planned to come on-stream 
during the 2012-13 financial year. 
 
QEH catering staff were given a 5-
star rating by the Food Standards 
Agency for food hygiene. During an 
inspection they were given top 
marks for cleanliness, food storage, 
food handling and overall condition 
of the kitchen area. 
 
A £323,000 upgrade of the Arthur 
Levin Day Surgery Centre was 
completed. It included provision of a 
new treatment room and changing 
area. The new facility is designed to 
deal with minor urology, plastics and 
pain relief procedures. In some 
cases, patients can be seen, treated 
and discharged within 30 minutes. 
 
August 2011 
QEH staff were named as one of the 
Top Five ‘most focused’ teams of 
NHS staff in the country, with the 
strongest ‘engagement’ profile 
amongst all NHS staff in the East of 
England. Research was carried out 
by HR consultancy Valuentis on 
behalf of the Care Quality 
Commission, who said that QEH 
staff are amongst the most 
motivated NHS staff in the country. 
 
Outreach clinics for respiratory 
patients were launched at GP 
surgeries in Downham Market and 
Hunstanton, in association with NHS 
Norfolk, to help patients avoid 
hospital admission and obtain 
treatment closer to home. 
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September 2011 
‘Meal Mates’ made their first 
appearance on QEH wards. The 
volunteers are drawn from hospital 
administration staff and assist at 
mealtimes on wards, helping to 
deliver meals and freeing nursing 
staff to help patients with more 
severe needs. 
 
Details published by the National Hip 
Fracture Database revealed that the 
QEH is one of the best Trusts in the 
East of England for Orthopaedic 
care, and also the best NHS Trust in 
East Anglia for low rates of pressure 
ulcers – sometimes known as bed 
sores – amongst patients. 
 
The Patient First programme was 
launched at the QEH. This puts 
quality of patient care at the heart of 
all work carried out within the Trust to 
improve efficiency. The initiative will 
help to increase the amount of time 
staff spend with their patients. 
 
Energy-saving street lighting installed 
in the hospital grounds will save the 
Trust around £6,000 a year in lighting 
costs. 

 
October 2011 
A study conducted by QEH Tissue 
Viability specialist nurses Jenny Kelly 
and Michelle Isted, detailing the level 
of tissue viability training given to 
QEH staff, was published in the 
Royal College of Nursing weekly 
magazine, Nursing Standard, and 
hailed as a work of major importance. 
 
The Trust launched the ‘Healthy 
Hearts’ fundraising campaign, to 
raise £200,000 towards new 
equipment for cardiology, stroke and 
diabetes patients. 
 
November 2011 
Secretary of State for Health, the Rt 
Hon Andrew Lansley MP, visited the 
QEH. During the visit he toured the 
Arthur Levin Day Surgery Centre and 
later met staff for an informal 
question-and-answer session on the 
future of the NHS. 
 
The QEH was named as joint top 
organisation in the whole of the 
country for carbon reduction. The 
Trust topped the Environment 
Agency’s Carbon Reduction 
Commitment league table (along with 
22 other companies and 
organisations), having met 100% 
compliance with Carbon Trust 
Standards. 
 

Services provided for children and 
young people at the QEH were given 
top rating by the NHS East of 
England Strategic Network for Child 
Health and Wellbeing, and the NHS 
Institute for Innovation and 
Improvement, following an official 
visit. Work developed at the QEH is 
to be used as examples of ‘best 
practice’ for other NHS Trusts to 
follow. 
 
December 2011 
The influential Dr Foster Hospital 
Guide named the QEH as the best 
NHS Trust outside the south-west of 
England for knee replacement 
surgery. The Trust was second only 
to a group of specialist orthopaedic 
treatment centres in the south-west. 
 
A Dignity Code was launched by the 
Trust, promising to uphold the rights 
and dignity of all patients at all times. 
 
QEH success in eye surgery, 
marking a year in which 160 patients 
had their eyesight restored, was 
covered by BBC ‘Look East’ in a 
special TV news feature on our 
ophthalmology services. 
 
The QEH was named by the 
Countryside Alliance Foundation as 
one of the country’s top hospitals for 
sourcing food supplies locally. 
Around 90% of our food budget is 
spent on UK homegrown produce. 
 
January 2012 
Terrington ward became the new 34-
bed ‘short-stay’ unit, catering for 
patients who can be treated and 
discharged within 72 hours. 
Five ‘step-down’ beds were funded at 
a nearby nursing home for patients 
well enough to be discharged from 
hospital but not sufficiently recovered 
to be able to look after themselves. 

 
A ‘one-stop’ service was launched by 
the Ophthalmology department for 
glaucoma patients, allowing them to 
be tested and diagnosed on the 
same day – and allowing an 
additional 500 patients a year with 
suspected glaucoma to be treated. 
 
Oxborough ward was re-designated 
as the Discharge Planning Unit to 
allow more efficient follow-on care to 
be arranged for patients awaiting 
discharge to residential 
accommodation. 
 

February 2012 
Two separate surveys revealed that 
patients are largely satisfied with their 
care and treatment at the QEH. The 
Care Quality Commission survey of 
outpatients put the Trust’s medical 
team in the Top 20% of NHS Hospital 
Trusts in the country for inspiring 
confidence and trust in doctors and 
other health professionals. An 
internal survey of inpatients gave 
QEH staff on some wards full marks 
for attitude, clean environment, food 
standards and maintaining privacy 
and dignity. 
 
Work started on a three-month 
programme to upgrade the obstetric 
theatre in the Central Delivery Suite 
to provide one of the most advanced 
labour facilities in the East of 
England. 
 
Security guards made their first 
appearance at the QEH, 
strengthening efforts to improve 
patient, staff and visitor safety. 
 
March 2012 
Two QEH chefs were awarded the 
Gold Medal in a national cookery 
contest for NHS staff, held in London. 
Vitor Silvano and Andrew Russell 
had already been nominated as one 
of the country’s Top Ten NHS 
catering teams in order to qualify. 
 
Outreach services at St George’s 
Medical Centre in Littleport, 
Cambridgeshire, were boosted by the 
addition of a urology service, staffed 
by visiting QEH consultants, theatre 
and administration staff. 
 
The Trust’s multi-disciplinary team 
caring for lung cancer patients was 
promoted as an example of efficient 
working. A review of the QEH service 
was carried in a new publication from 
the Royal College of Physicians. 
 
The Trust’s Speech and Language 
Therapy team for stroke services was 
given an ‘Excellence in Stroke Care’ 
award by the East of England Stroke 
Forum for its outstanding work. 
 
QEH staff celebrated their first 
‘Shining Stars’ awards for excellence 
at work. 
 
The Care Quality Commission 
reported that all standards of nursing 
care, patient safety and staffing at the 
QEH are being met. 
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Service Improvements 
 
During 2011-12 a number of service improvements were made, as follows: 
 

 

Surgery and Anaesthetics  
 
The Arthur Levin Day Surgery Centre 
is rated as one of the ‘top ten’ 
performing units of its type in 
England. During the year a number of 
significant improvements were made 
to the unit. These included: 
 

 Minor operations: A purpose-built 
minor operations theatre/treatment 
room was created, as part of a 
£323,000 upgrade. This is used for 
procedures carried out under local 
anaesthetic and relieves pressure 
on the day surgery unit’s four 
general theatres, which can now 
concentrate on more complex 
operations. Workload is increasing 
constantly as advances in surgery 
are allowing more cases to be 
carried out as ‘day’ procedures, 
rather than requiring an in-patient 
admission. The minor operations 
room is used for many of the 
diagnostic procedures referred to 
above. The room was officially 
opened by the Secretary of State, 
the Rt Hon Andrew Lansley, MP, 
during his official visit to the Trust 
in November 

 

 Decontamination: Installation of a 
purpose-built auto disinfector for 
endoscopes. Improved disinfection 
processing of equipment allows the 
day surgery unit to increase the 
number of procedures that can be 
carried out on a normal surgery list. 
Endoscopes are used mainly for 
diagnostic procedures. Speeding-
up the turnaround of equipment 
enables earlier diagnosis and 
subsequent treatment to be offered 
to patients 

 

 Sterile Services: The Sterile 
Services department was 
successful in its bid to provide a 
decontamination and sterilization 
service to the adjoining 
Sandringham BMI hospital. Under 
the terms of the contract QEH 
Sterile Services will also assess 
BMI equipment and instruments, 
maintain an instrument database 
and update the tracking system as 
needed 

Women and Children 
 

 Development of nurse-led clinics 
for gynaecology and paediatric 
clinics 
 

 Development of fertility services, 
which are now offered to self-
funding patients at Levels 2 and 3 
 

 Launch of a Neonatal Transitional 
Care service 
 

 A major refurbishment of 
Castleacre ward and the Central 
Delivery Suite obstetric theatre 

 
 
 

Medicine and Emergency Care 
Division 
 
Development of a dementia team. 
Introduced in conjunction with a 
number of environmental changes on 
relevant wards ‘red jugs’ and colour-
coded signage have made a 
significant advance in the way we are 
able to cater for the needs of this 
special group of patients.  

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

Case study 
 
Telephone follow-up service 
 
A nurse-led telephone follow-up service, offering help and advice to 
women who have undergone hysterectomy, has reduced the number of 
hospital readmissions. The service was developed by senior surgical 
ward staff following a workshop with former patients aimed at finding 
ways of improving aftercare.  
 
The project was funded by the Foundation of Nursing Studies and 
launched in May 2011. It has proved so successful that the number of 
hysterectomy readmissions has been dramatically reduced. The project 
has been commended by the Royal College of Nursing. It was featured 
in the RCN’s official journal, Nursing Standard, as an example of best 
practice and in a promotional brochure Best Kept Secrets. 
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Environment and  
sustainability 
 
The Trust is an active member of the 
Midlands and East Sustainability 
Development Programme Board and 
has been identified as an 
organisation to speak-to for top tips 
on how to improve your carbon 
footprint.  The Board has in place a 
Sustainable Development Plan which 
it monitors annually.  We continue to 
play a key role in NHS carbon-
reduction strategy and we have 
retained our Carbon Trust status. The 
Carbon Trust logo is carried on 
letterheads as a visible recognition of 
our achievements. 
 
Our effort to maintain a ‘green’ 
approach to our business activities 
was recognised in November when 
we topped the Environment Agency’s 
Carbon Reduction Commitment 
league table as joint winners. Work 
has continued throughout the Trust to 
ensure we become more energy-
efficient, with a number of behind-
the-scenes projects and some rather 
more visible – such as the complete 
replacement of our ‘street’ lighting on 
site roads with new LED lights.  
 
The new lighting system will save the 
Trust an estimated £6,000 a year in 
lighting costs while giving a 20% 
improvement in lighting levels. 
In the coming financial year we will 
be focusing on energy management 
and investing in a new combined 
heat and power plant. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Case study 
 
Car park solution sought 
 
Long-term plans for a solution to the continuing on-site parking shortage were put out to public consultation at two 
events to give local people an opportunity to have their say and help to shape the final scheme. 
 
Altogether, five options were 
suggested for the car park. 
With the benefit of public 
opinion a car parking strategy  
was drafted for the Board of  
Directors to consider, covering  
ways of financing and managing  
the project. If detailed plans are  
approved,the initial enabling works  
forthe new-look car park could  
begin in late 2012, with  
construction work continuing  
throughout 2013. 
 
A number of additional  
parking spaces have already 
been created by re-aligning  
existing spaces and bringing 
additional areas into use. 

 

Case study 
 
Stroke, recovery – home again in five days 
 
Advances in thrombolysis – prompt administering of clot-busting drugs to 
stroke patients – have produced some remarkable patient ‘outcome’ 
stories, with swift recovery from stroke. 
 
Patient Tony Barber (81) suffered a stroke at his home in Dersingham  
while watching breakfast TV. He collapsed and completely lost his  
ability to speak coherently. Yet after undergoing thrombolysis on arrival at  
the A&E department he began recovering so rapidly that he was able to be 
discharged just five days later, having made a full recovery. 
 
Fortunately for Mr Barber, his wife, Beryl, had remembered the national  
stroke ‘FAST’ campaign (Face, Arm, Speech – Time to call an ambulance). 
 Once she had spotted the tell-tale signs she called an ambulance, later 
praising the QEH stroke team as “absolutely marvellous” for the care they 
gave. 
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Corporate Governance  
Being a Foundation Trust 
 
The Queen Elizabeth Hospital, King’s Lynn became a Foundation Trust on 1 February 
2011 and at the date of this annual report, has recently marked the first anniversary of its 
authorisation.   

How does a Foundation Trust work? 

 Accountability: Foundation Trusts are more accountable to the communities they 

serve through the Governors’ Council and Foundation Trust Members 
 

 Elected Representation: Members of the Foundation Trust elect both public and staff 
representatives from the membership to serve on a Governors’ Council 
 

 Consultation: The Governors’ Council is consulted by the Board of Directors (which is 

responsible for the day-to-day running of the hospital) to decide on the way in which 
hospital services are developed 
 

 Law: NHS Foundation Trusts have been established by law under the Health and 

Social Care (Community Health and Standards) Act 2003 as legally independent 
organisations known as Public Benefit Corporations.  Foundation Trust authorisation is 
not a move towards privatisation 
 

 Assets: Foundation Trusts are required to use their assets, such as land and 
buildings, in support of their main purpose, which is to provide NHS services to NHS 
patients 
 

 Regulation: A Foundation Trust is regulated by an organisation called Monitor, which 
is the independent regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts 

So although we remain a part of the NHS, as a Foundation Trust we have more freedom 

to develop the type of health services needed for our particular patients and community. 
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How does being a Foundation Trust help The QEH? 

As a Foundation Trust, we have the financial freedom to raise money from 
both the public and private sectors to invest in our capital programme.  We 
are also able to keep any financial ‘surpluses’ we make for reinvestment in the 
delivery of NHS services. 

Although we continue to work closely with NHS ‘partner’ organisations in our 
area, we are also able to develop new business links with other healthcare 
providers where they can help us to develop new and better services. 

Regulation of Foundation Trusts 

A Foundation Trust is required to operate under ‘Terms of Authorisation’.  
These include such things as: 

 a description of the services we’re authorised to provide,  

 a list of our assets 

 a clear indication of the limit on the amount of money we’re allowed to 
borrow 

 a limit on the amount of private work we can carry out,  

 a requirement for us to work to national NHS healthcare standards 
overseen by the Care Quality Commission  

 our Constitution, which sets out the framework for how we will operate as a 
Foundation Trust.  The Queen Elizabeth Hospital, King’s Lynn NHS 
Foundation Trust operates in accordance with the provisions of its 
Constitution 

The QEH’s Terms of Authorisation can be found on the website of Monitor 
(the independent regulator of Foundation Trusts) and our Constitution can 
also be found on the QEH website in the Corporate Governance section. 

The Compliance Framework sets out how the Trust will report its plans and 
performance to Monitor. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
The Trust breached the terms of its 
authorisation in January 2012, 
resulting in escalation with the 
regulator, Monitor, due to issues 
relating to the Trust’s financial plans.  
Monitor has not invoked its power to 
intervene.  

The Trust is currently working hard 
on its business sustainability 
programme and is meeting regularly 
with Monitor to demonstrate progress 
in delivering its plans.  It is expected 
that the Trust will be found to be fully 
compliant with the terms of its 
authorisation during 2012/13. 

Compliance with 
Monitor’s Code of 
Governance  

Monitor has published a Code of 
Governance for Foundation Trusts.  
Foundation Trusts are required to 
report whether they comply with each 
of the provisions of the Code of 
Governance or where appropriate, to 
explain why the Trust has departed 
from the code.   

At 31 March, the Board of Directors 
declares compliance with the 
provisions of the Code of 
Governance. 
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The role of the Governors’ Council 

The Governors’ Council: 

 represents the interests of the members and partner organisations 

 influences decisions about spending and developing services 

 appoints the Chair and Non-Executive Directors to the Board of  
Directors 

 sets the remuneration of the Chair and Non-Executive Directors 

 appoints the auditor 

It’s the responsibility of the Governors’ Council to share information about 
key developments with other NHS Foundation Trust members.  

The Governors’ Council is not responsible for the day-to-day running of 
the organisation. 

There are 32 governors on the Governors’ Council of The Queen Elizabeth 
Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust. The Governors’ Council is made 
up like this: 

17 Elected Public Governors 

 9 from West Norfolk  

 2 from North Norfolk  

 1 from Breckland  

 1 from South East Lincolnshire and the Rest of England 

 4 from North East Cambridgeshire  

6 Elected Staff Governors 

 3 Clinical 

 3 Non-Clinical 

9 Appointed Governors 

 Local Councils 

 Local PCTs  

 West Norfolk Clinical Commissioning Group 

 The University of East Anglia  

 The College of West Anglia  

 West Norfolk Voluntary & Community Action 

In October 2010, in the run up to Foundation Trust authorisation, the Trust 
held elections where public and staff Foundation Trust Members were invited 
to elect the governors of their choice to represent them on the Governors’ 
Council.  All Governors’ Council seats were contested and the election 
achieved a 44% turnout in the public constituency and 32.5% in the staff 
constituency; 38.2% overall. 

The Trust has not held further elections in 2011/12 and publicly elected 
governor vacancies which have arisen during the year have been filled in 
accordance with the Trust’s constitution and the agreement of the Governors’ 
Council; through offering the vacant seats to those candidates who received 
the next highest number of votes in the original elections.  The initial terms of 
office of half of the elected governors (public and staff) will come to an end in 
February 2013 and the Trust will hold elections for those seats on the 
Governors’ Council in January 2013. 

 
 

Foundation Trust 
Governance  

A Foundation Trust has both a Board 
of Directors and a body to represent 
the interests of the Foundation Trust 
membership and the community  
served by the Trust.  At the Queen 
Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS 
Foundation Trust this body is called 
the Governors’ Council, which has a 
range of statutory, strategic and 
locally determined functions.  

Meetings of the Governors’ 
Council 
 
The Governors’ Council has met four 
times during the 2011/12 year (plus 
the AGM/ Annual Members’ 
Meeting).   The meetings took place 
in public and Foundation Trust 
Members have had an opportunity to 
talk to their governors after the 
meetings.  The Governors’ Council 
has met in venues across the area 
served by the Trust to enable as 
many people as possible to attend a 
meeting without having to travel too 
far. 
 
The dates and venues for the 
Governors’ Council meetings in 2012 
can be found on the QEH website in 
the Governors’ Council section.  
Alternatively, members can contact 
the Foundation Trust Office on 01553 
613142 for details. 
 
The governors have nominated their 
Lead Governor, who has a particular 
role in communicating with Monitor 
on behalf of the Governors’ Council 
and who also works closely with the 
Chair in the drafting the forward plan 
and agendas for the Governors’ 
Council. 
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The Governors’ Council has set up 
three committees and also Task and 
Finish groups to assist in the delivery 
of some of its statutory functions. All 
of these committees and groups have 
met regularly throughout the year and 
have developed challenging work 
programmes:   
 
The Nominations and 
Remuneration Committee (NED 
appointments)  
– to make recommendations to the 
Governors’ Council regarding the 
appointment and remuneration of 
Non-Executive Directors.  The Terms 
of Reference for this committee have 
been drawn up in alignment with the 
Code of Governance and Monitor’s 
‘Your Statutory Duties – A Reference 
Guide for NHS FT Governors’, in that 
the Committee making 
recommendations to the Governors’ 
Council in respect of NED 
appointments is chaired by the Trust 
Chair (except when considering the 
appointment or remuneration of the 
Chair) and is comprised of governors.   
 
The Trust’s Working Together 
Strategy also sets out the detailed 
procedure for the appointment of the 
Chair and Non-Executive Directors. 
 
In 2011 / 12, the Nominations and 
Remuneration Committee (NED 
Appointments) made the following 
recommendations to the Governors’ 
Council (all of which were approved): 

 

 The appointment of two new Non-
Executive Directors  

 The reappointment of the Chair 
(following independently facilitated 
360

o
 appraisal) 

 The re-appointment of two Non-
Executive Directors (following 360

o
 

appraisals) 

 The terms and conditions of the 
Chair 

 The terms and conditions of the 
Non-Executive Directors 

 The remuneration of the Chair and 
the Non-Executive Directors 

 
The appointment of two new Non-
Executive Directors was undertaken 
through open advertising and the 
securing of independent advice.  The 
committee was advised by the Trust’s 
Human Resources team and the 
Trust’s lawyers.   

 
The Nominations and Remuneration 
Committee recommended the 
appointment of the preferred NED 
candidates, terms and conditions and 
remuneration to the Governors’ 
Council for approval. 

The Membership and 
Communications Committee 
 – to work on the delivery of the 
Membership Strategy through 
Foundation Trust Membership 
recruitment and communicating with 
the members. 

 
The Membership and 
Communications Committee has in 
2011 / 12: 

 

 Developed a Membership 
Communications Strategy 

 Attended the King’s Lynn Careers 
Convention 

 Engaged with Momentum (a 
voluntary organisation providing 
services for young people) 

 Nominated members to participate 
on the editorial panel of the Trust’s 
newsletter for FT members 

 
The Patient Experience Committee 
– to undertake work and make 
recommendations through the 
Governors’ Council to help ensure 
that the patient perspective is 
understood and considered when the 
Trust’s services are being planned 
and reviewed. 
 

The Patient Experience Group has 
undertaken a wide range of activities 
throughout 2011/12, including: 
 

 Involvement in PEAT inspections 

 Involvement in CQC Compliance 
Audits 

 Review of Patient Stories 

 Involvement in developing the 
Trust’s Car Park proposals 

 
Task and Finish & Working Groups: 

 

 External Auditor Appointment 

 Business Group (working closely 
with the Board on the Trust’s 
Finance and Business Planning) 

 
The Governors’ Council has in 2011/ 
12, also fulfilled its statutory 
responsibility to approve the 
appointment of the Trust’s new Chief 
Executive. 
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The Governors’ Council 
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West Norfolk (9) 

Catharine Blacklock 2 3/5      

Jill Brock 3 5/5      

Robin Broke 2 3/5      

Esmé Corner (Lead Governor) 3 5/5   Chair 

Jonathan Dossetor 3 5/5     

Penny Hipkin 3 4/5      

Barrie Taylor 3 5/5      

David Trevanion 2 5/5      

Annette White (resigned October 2011) 
2 

2/3      

Richard Parsons (from November 2011) 2/2    

Cambridgeshire (4) 

William Jarvis (from April 2011) 2 4/5    

Michael Hall-Smith (moved from area) 
3 

1/1      

Kevin Kanolty (from July 2011) 1/4    

Betty Lewis 3 5/5      

Stevie Shepherd (deceased June 2011) 
2 

1/1       

Chris Russ (from July 2011) 1/4    

Breckland (1) Helen Shaw 3 3/5     

SE Lincs & Rest of 
Eng. (1) 

Helen Childerhouse 3 2/5    

North Norfolk (2) 

David Callaby (resigned March 2012) 
3 2/5 

 Chair   

Vacant    

Oliver Folkard 2 5/5      

Staff - Clinical (3) 

Rupert Calleja 2 3/5      

Claire Kent 3 4/5      

Hugh Warren 2 2/5      

Staff Non-Clinical (3) 

Dave Coe 3 5/5      

Simon Harrowing 2 5/5      

Tim Nicholls 2 2/5    

Appointed Governors (9) 

BCKL&WN Cllr Tony Lovett 3 4/5       

Breckland Council 
Cllr Ian Monson (resigned May 2011) 

3 
1/1      

Cllr Ian Sherwood (from June 2011) 3/4    

College of West 
Anglia 

Mark Reavell 3 4/5 
     

Norfolk County 
Council 

Cllr Harry Humphrey 3 5/5 
     

West Norfolk Clinical 
Commissioning 
Group 

Dr Malcolm Skinner (deceased November 
2011) 3 

1/3 
     

Vacant     

Lincs PCT Andrew Rix 3 0/5       

NHS Norfolk & 
Waveney 

Hilary De Lyon   3 4/5 
   

WNVCA / WN Carers' 
Association 

Jane Evans 3 4/5    

UEA Prof David Crossman (from May 2011) 3 1/5      

 
All governors have made declarations of interest and have signed copies of the Trust’s Code of Conduct for 
Governors.  The Register of Governors’ Interests can be accessed by contacting the Company Secretary on 01553 
613614. 
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The Foundation Trust Membership 
and The Membership Strategy 
 
Almost all of us make use of hospital 
services at some point in our lives. 
The local hospital is very much ‘our’ 
hospital. 
 
Membership of the Foundation Trust 
is free, and FT members have a real 
chance to influence the development 
of the hospital and its services. 
 
What does being a Foundation 
Trust Member entail? 

Foundation Trust Members can 
become as involved as they want to 
be. Foundation Trust Members:  

 receive a regular newsletter to 
keep them up to date with the 
latest hospital developments and 
information 

 are invited to special FT Member 
healthcare events 

 are able to attend Governors’ 
Council meetings, which are also 
open to the general public 

 are invited to vote in Governor 
elections 

 are able to stand for election as a 
Governor 

 are able take part in forums and 
focus groups 

 are able to apply to become a Non-
Executive Director (public 
members only) 

 are eligible to receive discounts on 
a range of goods and services 
through NHS Discounts 

 
Foundation Trust members do not 
receive any special healthcare 
treatment or privileges. 

Who can become a Member? 

Membership of the Foundation Trust 
is absolutely free and is open to 
patients, the public and NHS staff.  
Becoming a Foundation Trust 
member shows that you are 
interested in the hospital and its 
future.  At the point of Foundation 
Trust authorisation in February 2011, 
we had more than 3,600 members.  
 
Membership is open to most people 
over the age of 16 living or working 
within the Trust’s catchment area, 
which is principally: 

 West Norfolk, 

 part of North Norfolk 

 part of Breckland  

 part of North Cambridgeshire, and 

 part of South-East Lincolnshire  

Membership is also open to people 
who live outside the area but are, or 
have been, patients or carers at The 
QEH. 

 
How do I apply to become a 
member? 

There are a number of ways to apply 
for FT membership. 

The easiest way is to apply on-line 
by visiting the Trust’s website, where 
you will find an on-line application 
form in the Foundation Trust section. 

E-mail: 
FT.membership@qehkl.nhs.uk and 
we’ll send out an application form in 
the post 

Write to: 

The Foundation Trust Office 
The Queen Elizabeth Hospital  
King’s Lynn 
Gayton Road 
King’s Lynn 
Norfolk PE30 4ET 

You can also call the FT Office on 
01553 613142 for information about 
Foundation Trust Membership. 

Members of Staff 

Because we appreciate and value 
our staff, they are automatically 
members of the Foundation Trust 
and do not need to apply. Members 
of staff who do not wish to be a 
member of the Foundation Trust can 
choose to opt out.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

http://www.qehkl.nhs.uk/governors-meetings.asp
http://www.qehkl.nhs.uk/governors-meetings.asp
https://secure.membra.co.uk/queenelizabethApplicationForm/
mailto:FT.membership@qehkl.nhs.uk
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Current Foundation Trust Public Membership 
 

The QEH 
Public Constituency 

 

Members 

31/3/2012 

 

Gender   

Male 2,282 

Female 2,890 

Total 5,172 

Constituency  

Breckland 421 

Cambridgeshire/ Fenland 554 

North Norfolk 312 

SE Lincs & ROE 788 

West Norfolk 3097 

Age  

16-21 107 

22-29 250 

30-39 332 

40-49 489 

50-59 662 

60-74 1,623 

75+ 1,034 

Not stated 675 

Ethnicity  

White 4,759 

Mixed 22 

Asian or Asian British 26 

Black or Black British 11 

Other 17 

Not stated 337 
 

The Membership Strategy 

We achieved our public membership 
target of 5,000 by the end of 2011/12.  
Our public membership target for the 
end of 2012/13 is 7,000 members.  
We also aim to continue to 
demonstrate that: 

 our membership represents the 
local population, and 
 

 we have enough members from 
which to elect a Governors’ 
Council 

The Trust will be working particularly 
hard in 2012 to engage younger 
people, who remain 
underrepresented in the FT 
Membership. 

The Trust has engaged with its FT 
membership through the Governors’ 
Council in a variety of ways in 
2011/12: 

 Focus Groups (Inpatient Pathway, 
Outpatient Pathway, Car Park 
development plans) 
 

 FT Member Events – including 
Winter Planning, Specialty Nurses 
 

 Engagement with Norfolk LINk  

Development of relationships and 
formal liaison with West Norfolk 
Patient Partnership and affiliated GP 
Patient Participation Groups 

 
The Board of Directors 

The Board of Directors has during 
2011/12 met in public on six 
occasions.  The Board also meets in 
private to undertake development 
activities. 
 
The Board of Directors has a clear 
process in place in accordance with 
Monitor’s Code of Governance to 
ensure that the Board reviews its 
skills, experience and attributes 
against the strategic requirements of 
the business and the legal and 
regulatory framework.  The Board 
judges that at 31 March 2012, the 
Board is complete and that Directors’ 
skills are balanced and appropriate in  

 
respect of the requirements of the 
Foundation Trust, in accordance with 
Monitor’s Code of Governance.  
 
There will be a Non-Executive 
Director vacancy from October 2012.  
In preparation for the appointment of 
a new Non-Executive Director, the 
Board will undertake a further gap 
analysis and will communicate the 
findings to the Nominations and 
Remuneration Committee (Non-
Executive Directors) of the 
Governors’ Council. 
 
 

 
The role of the Board of Directors    
 
The Board of Directors has a dual 
role; leadership and control.  It has 
collective responsibility for setting the 
strategic direction of the organisation 
and for overseeing and ensuring the 
delivery of its strategy and the 
performance of the organisation. 
 
The Board ensures that strategic 
planning, decision-making and policy 
implementation take place through 
transparent, efficient and effective 
processes. 
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Responsibilities of the Board of 
Directors 
 
a. To provide leadership for the 

organisation in respect of agreed 
organisational values and 
standards of conduct, in 
accordance with accepted 
standards of behaviour in public 
life, which include the principles of 
selflessness, integrity, objectivity, 
openness, honesty and leadership 
(Nolan); 
 

b. To ensure the quality and safety of 
healthcare services and to plan for 
continuous improvement; 
 

c. To make the achievement of 
financial viability a priority; 
 

d. To establish decision making 
systems and frameworks, ensuring 
effective integrated governance  
 

e. To establish and secure assurance 
of effective governance, risk 
management and internal controls 
systems; 
 

f. To establish a robust performance 
management framework and 
support the management team in 
meeting the organisation’s 
performance targets; 
 

g. To ensure that decisions are based 
on timely, accurate and 
comprehensive information; 
 

h. To ensure the application of 
accepted national principles and 
standards of clinical governance; 
 

i. To ensure that the organisation 
meets its statutory, legal and 
regulatory obligations; 
 

j. To ensure that the organisation’s 
policy framework is developed in 
accordance with the rights, pledges 
and responsibilities contained in 
the NHS Constitution; 
 

k. To involve patients and the public 
in decision making; 
 

l. To work in partnership with 
stakeholders. 

 
Delegation  

 
The Board of Directors’ Terms of 
Reference set out those matters 
reserved for the Board.  The Board 
delegates powers to formally 
constituted corporate governance 
committees, in accordance with its  

scheme of reservation and 
delegation.   
In addition, the Trust Executive Board 
is the executive mechanism through 
which the strategic direction of the 
Board is communicated to all 
functional areas of the organisation 
and through which the Board’s 
strategic direction is translated into 
tactical and operational planning and 
service delivery. 
 
The Chair, Vice Chair and Senior 
Independent Officer 
 
In a Foundation Trust, the Chair 
chairs both the Board of Directors 
and the Governors’ Council.  The 
Queen Elizabeth Board has 
appointed a Senior Independent 
Director, who is also the Vice-Chair 
and who has particular duties 
regarding working with the 
Governors’ Council and Board of 
Directors to resolve any problems 
where it is inappropriate for the Chair 
to do so. 
 
As at 31 March 2012, the Board of 
Directors was made up of the Chair, 
five Non-Executive Directors and five 
Executive Directors.  The five 
Executive Directors serving on the 
Board of Directors on 31 March were:  
the Chief Executive; the Director of 
Finance; the Medical Director; the 
Director of Nursing and the Director 
of Operations, who is also the Deputy 
Chief Executive.  The meetings of the 
Board of Directors have also been 
attended by the Director of 
Performance and Informatics, the 
Director of Human Resources, 
Organisational Development & 
Communications and the Interim 
Director of Strategy and 
Transformation. 
 
The Chair has no other significant 
commitments having an impact on 
her role as Chair of the Foundation 
Trust.  
 
Independence of the Non-
Executive Directors  
 
The independence of the Non-
Executive Directors has been 
assessed against the criteria  set out 
in Monitor’s Code of Governance and 
all Non-Executive Directors have 
been determined to be independent 
in character and judgement.  No 
relationships or circumstances have 
been identified, which are likely to 
affect, or could appear to affect, the 
Directors’ judgement. 

All Directors are required to complete 
and keep up to date, their 
declarations of Interest, which are 
recorded in the Register of Directors’ 
Interest.  A copy of the Register is 
available by contacting the Company 
Secretary on 01553 613614. 
 
The Committees of the Board of 
Directors  
 
The Trust operates an integrated 
governance model, which means that 
quality (patient safety, patient 
outcomes and patient experience), 
finance and capacity are considered 
together in the Trust’s decision 
making processes.  Committees 
reporting and accountable to the 
Board of Directors are: 

 The Audit Committee 

 The Quality and Risk Committee 

 The Finance and Investment 
Committee 

 The Performance and Standards 
Committee 

 The Nominations and 
Remuneration Committee 
(Executive Appointments) 

The Audit Committee and External 
Audit  
 
The Audit Committee met five times 
during 2011 / 12.  The purpose of the 
Audit Committee is to provide 
independent assurance of the 
adequacy of the control environment 
of the Trust, including those controls 
related to financial reporting 
procedures and quality.  The Audit 
Committee approves strategies and 
plans for countering fraud and 
receives reports from the Local 
Counter Fraud Specialist at each 
meeting.   
 
The Audit Committee approves the 
work programme of the Internal Audit 
function and receives and considers 
reports and opinion from both Internal 
and External Auditors.  CEAC 
provided the Trust’s Internal Audit 
function in 2011/12. 
 
The work of the Audit Committee 
supports the completion of the 
Annual Governance Statement by the 
Accounting Officer. 
 
The Trust’s external auditors for the 
period covered by this Annual Report 
were KPMG.  KPMG were appointed 
as the Trust’s external auditors by the 
Governors’ Council; following a 
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transparent process; overseen by a 
task and finish group of governors, 
appointed by the full Council.  
Candidates were  selected for 
invitation to tender against clear 
criteria from an NHS procurement 
framework.   
 
KPMG’s Health Practice Team is 
currently working with the Trust on its 
Business Sustainability Programme.  
Following receipt of a formal letter 
from KPMG in April 2012, the Audit 
Committee is satisfied that the 
independence and objectivity of the 
work of the Trust’s external auditor is 
safeguarded. 

Evaluating the Board’s Performance  
 
The Board of Directors utilises a number of methods to evaluate the 
performance of the Board and its committees: 

 Self-assessment  

 Independent evaluation  

 ED and NED appraisals, including 360
o
 assessments 

 Annual Reports from committees – assessing the committees’ compliance 
with their Terms of Reference 

 Performance evaluation of the Audit Committee – utilising the model criteria 
of NHS Audit Committee Handbook which is reported to the Board. 

The governors have been led by the Senior Independent Director in the 
appraisal of the Chair’s performance in 2011, prior to her reappointment.  The 
evaluation included an assessment of the Chair’s performance in the role, 
commitment to the role and time commitment. 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

The Board of Directors 
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Kate Gordon (Chair) – NED 
 

Jan 2015    4/4 9/9 

Jules Hiller (Vice-Chair and SID) - 
NED 

Oct 2012  3/5 Chair 3/4 6/9 

Neil Harrison - NED Feb 2015 Chair 5/5  4/4 9/9 

Shawn Haney - NED Feb 2015  5/5  4/4 7/9 

Sean Green - NED May 2013  3/5  4/4 9/9 

Victoria Holliday - NED July 2014    2/3 6/7 

Philip Davis – NED 
until March 2012 

  0/3  2/3 5/6 

Jill Robinson – NED until May 
2011 

    0/0 1/2 

Nerissa Vaughan – Chief Executive  
until September 2011 

  1/3  2/2 1/4 

Patricia Wright - Chief Executive  
from November 2011 

  1/1  1/1 4/4 

Mark Henry – Director of 
Operations & Deputy CEO 

  4/5  1/1 
In an 

‘acting 
CEO’ 

capacity 

9/9 

Chris Preston – Director of Finance 
until June 2011 

     2/2 

David Stonehouse – Director of 
Finance - from July 2011 

     7/7 

Geoff Hunnam – Medical Director      8/9 

Gwyneth Wilson – Director of 
Nursing 

     8/9 

 
 
Barbara Cummings – Director of 
Performance & Informatics 

      

9/9 

Jacqui Bate – Director of Human 
Resources, Organisational 
Development and Communications  
until March 2012 

     8/8 

Louise Proctor - Interim Director of 
Community Strategy Development 
and Service Integration 
from November 2011 

     5/5 

KEY   = member  SID = Senior Independent Director  
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Meet the Board of Directors 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Kate Gordon, CB   Non-Executive Director 

 
CHAIR  

Kate joined the Board of the Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn in January 2006                     
from West Norfolk Primary Care Trust.  She was appointed Chair of the Trust Board in 
October 2007. 

 
Before joining the NHS in a Non-Executive Director role, Kate had a distinguished 
career in the civil service, working in the Cabinet Office, Foreign and Commonwealth 
Office, DEFRA and the Health and Safety Executive. She was awarded the CB in 
1999. Kate chairs the Board of Directors and is a member of the Nomination & 
Remuneration (ED), Finance and Investment, Performance & Standards and Quality & 
Risk Committees.  Since Foundation Trust authorisation Kate also chairs the 
Governors’ Council. 

 
Declared Interests:  

 Board and Audit Committee member, Flagship Housing Group 

 Member, Hyde Housing Association SE Customer Board 

 Member, West Norfolk Strategic Partnership Group 

 

Jules Hillier  Non-Executive Director 

 
VICE-CHAIR AND SENIOR INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR 
 

Jules was appointed to the Trust Board in November 2008.  She is Deputy Chief 
Executive of Brook, the sexual health charity for young people, for whom she is also 
Head of Communications and Fundraising, with additional responsibility for workforce 
development.  
 
Her previous experience in the voluntary sector includes working for The Prince’s 
Trust, Blue Cross, the Family Planning Association where she was Director of 
Communications, and Construction Skills where she was Head of Corporate 
Communications. She is a member of the Audit, Performance & Standards, Quality & 
Risk and Finance & Investment committees’ along with the Board of Directors.  Jules 
Chairs the Nomination and Remuneration (ED) Committee. 
 
Declared interests: 

 Director of Communications and Deputy Chief Executive Officer of Brook, a 
charity providing sexual health support and advice to young people 

Neil Harrison Non-Executive Director 

 
CHAIR OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE 
 

Neil is a qualified accountant and a member of the Association of Corporate 
Treasurers. He was Group Finance Director at Bernard Matthews and also carries out 
voluntary work for The Prince’s Trust as a mentor. As Chair of the Trust’s Foundation 
Trust Steering Group he was instrumental in overseeing operational preparations for 
our approval as a Foundation Trust. He chairs the Audit Committee and is a member 
of the Board of Directors, Performance & Standards, the Nomination and 
Remuneration (ED), Quality & Risk and Finance & Investment committees’.  Neil 
secured reappointment as a NED in 2012. 
 
Declared interests: 

 Bernard Matthews Ltd – Trustee of two pension schemes 

 Member of the Audit Committee at the UEA 

 The Florida Group Ltd. – Non Executive Director 

 Brother in law is a GP in Wisbech 
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Shawn Haney Non-Executive Director 

 
CHAIR OF THE FINANCE AND INVESTMENT COMMITTEE 
 

Shawn has a background in business strategy and marketing consultancy gained both 
in Canada and the UK for companies including KPMG, Oracle and Canadian Tire. He 
is active in local community affairs and serves as a parish councillor. Shawn was 
reappointed as a NED in 2012 and sits as a member of the Board of Directors, Audit, 
Nomination and Remuneration (ED), Performance & Standards and Quality & Risk 
committees’.  Shawn has been Chair of the Finance & Investment Committee since 
2009. 
 
Declared interests: 

 Wife is a GP, currently working in GP filter at QEH 

 

Sean Green  Non-Executive Director 

 
CHAIR OF THE PERFORMANCE & INVESTMENT COMMITTEE 
 

Sean has wide experience of the NHS gained with a London primary care trust, and in 
the commercial world, working in a number of senior marketing, strategy and 
management roles for Aviva, Pearson Government Solutions and change 
management consultancy Greenfield Consulting. Outside work he is active in local 
education and is a non-executive director of a housing association. He is a member of 
the Board of Directors, Audit, Finance & Investment, Quality & Risk and Nomination 
and Remuneration (ED) committees’ and chairs the Performance & Standards 
Committee. 
 
Declared interests: 

 Greenfield Consulting Ltd 

 Consultant to South Norfolk Council 

 Independent Director – Wherry Housing (Circle Anglia Group) 

 Vice Chair and Governor Cringleford CE VA School  

 

Dr Victoria Holliday Non-Executive Director    

 
CHAIR OF THE QUALITY & RISK COMMITTEE 
 

Victoria was appointed to the position of NED in July 2011 and is currently working as 
a GP in Holt, supporting her wide range of experience in healthcare development and 
delivery, most recently as a member of the clinical executive of NHS Norfolk. Victoria 
has also had commercial experience in medical publishing in the USA.  The Trust 
uses these skills as Chair of the Quality & Risk committee, whilst being a member of 
the Board of Directors, Finance & Investment, Nomination and Remuneration (ED) 
committees’ and chairs the Performance & Standards Committee.   
 
Declared interests: 

 GP, Holt Medical Practice (non principal ) 

 GP, Anglian Medical Services (out of hours GP) 

 Medical Director, North Norfolk Referral Management Centre 

 Member NHS Norfolk Clinical Cabinet 

 Trustee, Glaven Caring Committee 
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Non-Executive Directors who have left the Trust 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Executive Directors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Philip Davis  Non-Executive Director 
(July 2011 – March 2012)  

 
Philip Davis joined the Trust as a NED in July 2011.   
 
Philip was chair and managing director of Uniglaze2 (East Anglia) Ltd. He is a 
chartered accountant with a track record at senior board level in a range of companies 
and with experience in business and financial improvement 
 
Declared interests: 

 Chair and Chief Executive Uniglaze2 (East Anglia) Ltd 

 Chair and CEO Uniglaze2 (Glass and Glazing) Ltd 

 Managing Director Hevingham House Ltd 
 
 

Patricia Wright    
 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 

When Patricia joined the Trust she brought with her an extensive NHS career history, 
initially starting as a pharmacist, progressing through senior management roles within 
the NHS and rising to become Chief Executive of NHS Kensington and Chelsea in 
2009. More recently Patricia worked as a specialist healthcare consultant. 
 
During her career Patricia has held a number of senior positions in NHS Trusts. From 
2001-2003 she was Chief Operating Officer at West Middlesex Hospital NHS Trust 
before taking up a post as Director of Operations at Epsom and St Helier Hospitals 
NHS Trust in Surrey. From 2007-2009 she was Strategic Commissioning Director of 
NHS North West London. 
 
Declared interests:  

 Member of the General Pharmaceutical Council 

 Member of the Royal Pharmaceutical Society 

 Trustee and Member of the Operations Committee – Friends of the Elderly 

 Member of Prime Timers – Social Enterprise providing consultancy and 
support to the Voluntary Sector 

 Currently providing paid consultancy support to a voluntary organisation in 
Leeds under the Health & Social Care Volunteering Scheme (Max. of three 
days from Oct 11 – Sept 12) 

 Editor of the Cytotoxic Handbook (low level royalties received) 

 

 

 

Dr Jill Robinson  Non-Executive Director 

(December 2009 – May 2011)  
 

Upon joining the QEH, Dr Robinson was Acting Head of the School of Nursing and 
Midwifery at the University of East Anglia in Norwich and was also Co-Director of the 
Education in Health Research Institute. She joined the Board in December 2009, 
leaving in May 2011. 
Dr Robinson’s background was in social psychology and educational research and 
she had a clinical background in mental health nursing. Dr Robinson worked in the 
NHS until 1987 when she became a Nurse Teacher. Since then she worked in 
educational research relating to health professionals.  
 
Declared interests: 

 Co-director, Education in Health Research Institute, Faculty of Health, 
University of East Anglia (UEA) 

 Partner Governor, Norfolk and Waveney Mental Health NHS Foundation 
Trust (NWMHFT) 

 Unpaid honorary contract with NWMHFT 

 Husband employed by UEA as a professor in the School of Education 

 UEA commissioned by NHS East of England to provide pre and post 
registration training to serve the workforce needs of The Queen Elizabeth 
Hospital King’s Lynn 
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Mark Henry 
 
DIRECTOR OF OPERATIONS AND DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE  
 

Mark has held a number of senior roles in the NHS, in acute hospitals, a Strategic 
Health Authority and The Department of Health level. Prior to joining The Queen 
Elizabeth Hospital he held positions at Leicestershire, Northamptonshire and Rutland 
Strategic Health Authority, Kettering General Hospital, the Modernisation Agency, 
Burton Hospitals NHS Trust and United Lincolnshire Hospitals NHS Trust. He is a 
member of the Board of Directors, Audit, Finance & Investment, Quality & Risk and the 
Performance & Standards committees.  Mark chairs the Trust Executive Board. 
 

Declared interests: None 

Gwyneth Wilson  
 
DIRECTOR OF NURSING 
 

Gwyneth originally trained as a nurse, then midwife before progressing through 
management to become Assistant Chief Nurse at Cambridge University Hospital NHS 
Trust. She eventually joined The Queen Elizabeth Hospital as Chief Nurse and was 
appointed Deputy Chief Executive. She left to take up a joint appointment as Director 
of Nursing/Clinical Academic Fellow at Mid Essex Hospital and Anglia Ruskin 
University, and returned to The Queen Elizabeth Hospital as Interim Chief Nurse in 
April 2010, being appointed substantively from January 2011. She is a member of the 
Board of Directors, Finance & Investment, Quality & Risk and the Performance & 
Standards committees. 
 
Declared interests: 

 Director of Nursing, Mid-Essex Hospital Services NHS Trust 

 Clinical Academic Fellow, Anglia Ruskin University 

Dr Geoff Hunnam 
 
MEDICAL DIRECTOR 

 
Dr Hunnam is a consultant radiologist at the Trust with specific interest in breast, 
thoracic and gynaecological imaging. Previously he has acted as Quality Assurance 
Radiologist and interim Quality Assurance Director for the Quality Assurance Breast 
Screening Programme in the East of England. Dr Hunnam has held several clinical 
managerial roles in the Trust.  
 
He is a member of the Board of Directors, Quality & Risk and the Performance & 
Standards committees.  
 
Declared interests:  

 Director, King's Lynn Consultant Radiologists (private company providing 
private radiological services to the BMI Sandringham Hospital) 
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Executive Directors attending Board meetings 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

David Stonehouse  
 
DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 
 

David Stonehouse joined the Trust in July 2011 to take up the post of Director of 
Finance, eventually becoming Director of Resource, reporting as a member of the 
Board of Directors, Audit, Finance & Investment, and the Performance & Standards 
committees.     
 
Having worked in West Norfolk for many years, David brought a wealth of experience 
and local knowledge, joining us from NHS Norfolk where he worked as the Deputy 
Chief Executive and Director of Finance.  
 
David started out as a finance trainee at the West Norfolk and Wisbech Health 
Authority in 1988, becoming Finance Director of West Norfolk PCT before taking up 
his role with NHS Norfolk. Living locally, David knows the hospital and area well and is 
ready to hit the ground running in his new post. 

 
Declared interests:  

 none 

 

Barbara Cummings 
 
DIRECTOR OF PERFORMANCE AND INFORMATICS 
 

Barbara gained wide experience within the NHS in the north of England before joining 
the Trust. She was formerly Deputy Director of Performance and Information for Hull 
and East Yorkshire NHS Trust and Performance Manager at North Yorkshire and 
North East Lincolnshire Strategic Health Authority. Barbara sits on the Board of 
Directors, Audit, Finance & Investment and the Performance & Standards 
committees.  
 
Declared interests: None 

 

Louise Proctor  
 
INTERIM DIRECTOR OF COMMUNITY STRATEGY DEVELOPMENT AND SERVICE INTEGRATION 
 

Louise joined us from Northamptonshire Healthcare Foundation Trust where she was 
Managing Director for Community Services. She held the same role previously with 
Northamptonshire Community Services before transferring across to the Foundation 
Trust. 
 
Louise is a member of the Board of Directors and the Performance & Standards 
committee.  
 
Declared interests:  
Louise is on secondment to the post of Interim Director of Community Strategy 
Development and Service Integration and is substantively employed as a Managing 
Director, Community Services for Northamptonshire Healthcare FT. 
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Executive Directors who have left the Trust 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Nerissa Vaughan  
 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE  
(March 2008 – September 2011) 
 

Nerissa Vaughan was appointed Chief Executive in March 2008, having previously 
been Interim Chief Executive at Kettering General Hospital. Her previous NHS 
experience was gained as Deputy Chief Executive/Director of Operations at Kettering, 
Director of Planning at Hull and East Yorkshire Hospital, Project Director at Royal 
Wolverhampton Hospitals and in management at Dudley Road Hospital. Nerissa left 
the Trust in September 2011 to take a CEO post at the Great Western Hospital.  
 
Declared interests: None 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Chris Preston  
 
DIRECTOR OF FINANCE  
(November 2009 – June 2011) 

 
Prior to joining The Queen Elizabeth Hospital, Chris was Director of Finance for the 
East of England Ambulance Service. His extensive past business experience includes 
appointments as Commercial Director for British Energy Group plc, Divisional 
Financial Controller for the same organisation and various roles with Powergen plc.  
 
Declared interests: None 

 

 

Jacqui Bate  
 
DIRECTOR OF HUMAN RESOURCES, ORGANISATIONAL DEVELOPMENT AND COMMUNICATIONS 
(September 2008 – March 2012) 
 

Jacqui joined the Trust in September 2008 after completing a successful project for 
the Department of Health and McKinsey Consulting, leading a workforce involved in 
the expansion of renal dialysis units in the north of England. Prior to this, Jacqui 
worked as an HR consultant in government departments and within the NHS, where 
she worked for a number of NHS Trusts. 
 
Declared interests: 

 ZMC – Zenith Management Consultancy Ltd – Director and previous 
employee.  Dormant and being closed down 

 Sole Trader Zenith Management Training – Husband’s business 

 Trustee of West Norfolk Riding for the Disabled. 
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The Board of Directors and the 
Governors’ Council  
… ‘Working Together’ 
 
In the Trust’s first year as a 
Foundation Trust, the Board of 
Directors and the Governors’ Council 
have developed ways to ensure that 
the Board develops an understanding 
of the views of the governors, in 
accordance with the Code of 
Governance. 
 
To date, this includes: 
 

 Senior Independent Director, Non-
Executive Director and Executive 
Director attendance at meetings of 
the Governors’ Council 

 Non-Executive Director support for 
and attendance at Governors’ 

 Council Committee meetings 

 The Chair’s regular report to the 
Board of Directors in respect of the 
activities of the Governors’ Council 

 The Trust’s ‘Working Together 
Strategy’ and supplement which 
sets out how the Board will consult 
the Governors’ Council as part of 
its strategic planning 

 Joint Board / Governors’ Council 
working groups e.g. Business 
Development Group 

 Development of working 
relationship between the Chair and 
the Lead Governor 

 Development of ways for the 
Board and Governors’ Council to 
communicate and share important 
information between formal 
meetings 

 Governor involvement in the 
development of the Trust’s 
Strategy 

 Governors’ self-assessment of 
year one of being a Foundation 
Trust (covering governor views on 
communication between the Board 
and Governors, information, 
support, training and development 
opportunities, fulfilment of 
personal objectives etc.) 

 
The Trust will be supporting the 
Board of Directors and the 
Governors’ Council in 2012 / 13 to 
develop a comprehensive 
understanding of the provisions of the 
new Health and Social Care Act 
2012. 
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 Annual plan 
2010/11 

Q1 2010/11 Q2 2010/11 Q3 2010/11 Q4 2010/11 

Financial risk 
rating 

- 
 

- - - 4 

Governance risk 
rating 

- 
 

- - - Green 

 

  Annual  
2011/12 

Q1 2011/12 Q2 2011/12 Q3 2011/12 Q4 2011/12 

Financial risk 
rating plan 

Plan 4 2 2 3 4 

Actual 3 2 2 3 3 

Governance risk 
rating actual 

Plan Green Green Green Green Green 

Actual  Amber/Red Amber/Red Red Red 

 
 

Regulatory Ratings 
Report 
 
The Trust was authorised as a Foundation trust on 1 February 2011. For 
2011/12, the Trust delivered a financial risk rating of four and a green 
governance risk rating. Both the financial and the governance risk ratings 
were in line with the plans submitted by the Board of Directors to Monitor in 
support of the application for Foundation Trust status. 

For the 2011/12 financial year, the Board of Directors submitted plans, which 
if successfully implemented, would deliver an annual financial risk rating of 
four and achieve full compliance on the governance risk rating. The Trust 
anticipated that financial performance would strengthen during the course of 
the year and this was reflected in the planned quarterly financial risk ratings 
(see table below). 

In terms of performance against governance indicators for 2011/12, the Board 
of Directors declared a governance rating of Amber/Red at the end of quarter 
one.  This was as a result of the number of reported cases for Clostridium 
Difficile being above the target trajectory for the quarter and that the position 
for 31 day subsequent cancer treatment in surgery was 93.5% against a 
target of 94%. 

The Board of Directors declared a governance rating of Amber/Red at the end 
of quarter two.  This was due to the number of reported cases for Clostridium 
Difficile being above the target trajectory for the quarter. 

The Board of Directors declared a governance rating of Red at the end of 
Quarter 3.  Following the outcome of a Care Quality Commission (CQC) 
inspection the Trust was found to have two compliance actions.  The Trust 
also remained above trajectory for Clostridium Difficile infections, breaching 
the cumulative trajectory in three consecutive quarters. 

In January 2012 the CQC revisited the Trust to conduct a further 
unannounced inspection to review the outcome of the initial report and further 
review services within the Trust.  Whilst this inspection identified that the initial 
two compliance actions had been addressed it was identified that the Trust 
had a compliance action in relation to “Outcome 21: People's personal 
records, including medical records, should be accurate and kept safe and 
confidential.”  At the end of quarter four the Trust was also above the 
trajectory for Clostridium Difficile infections for the year.  Therefore the 
Governance rating remained Red. 

The Trust achieved its planned financial risk rating for each of quarters one, 
two and three. However, EBITDA and surplus margins were weaker than 
planned, with unplanned growth in emergency admissions restricting capacity 
for elective surgery and shortfalls in cost savings achieved compared to the 
planned values. 

 

 

 
 

On the 18 January 2012 Monitor 
found the Trust to be in significant 
breach of two terms of its 
authorisation, namely: 

 Condition 2: the general duty to 
exercise its functions effectively, 
efficiently and economically;  as a 
result of delivering an FRR 2  
rating for two consecutive quarters 
with financial performance below 
the submitted plan level in terms of 
achieved EBITDA and surplus 
after taking recovery actions 

 Condition 5 : its governance duty 
as a result of CQC compliance 
actions after a planned review at 
the Trust undertaken by the CQC 
on 18 of August 2011 and the 
number of C-Difficle targets being 
at higher level than the planned 
trajectory 

As a result the Trust is RED rated for 
governance and required to report 
regularly and monitor on progress in: 

 Developing plans which put the 
Trust on a financially sound and 
sustainable financial position 

 Strengthen financial governance in 
terms of board scrutiny and 
challenge, financial challenge and 
operational delivery  

The Trust has progressed actions in 
response to these concerns, detailed 
in the Operation Financial Review 
and the Quality Account sections of 
the Annual Report. 
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Quality Accounts 

Part 1: Statement on Quality 
 
The core purpose of The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation 
Trust (the QEH) is to provide high quality, clinically effective healthcare services 
that meet the needs of the local population. 
 
The Board of Directors of The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation 
Trust is delighted to present this year’s Quality Account, which gives the Trust the 
opportunity to demonstrate to our patients and staff how we have worked continually 
over the past year to improve the care we give to our patients. In producing the Quality 
Account the Trust:- 
 

 Will be able to review the services it provides, identifying what we do well and 
areas where we can improve further 

 Can identify improvements we aim to make to the services we provide 

 Provide information on the services we provide 

 Demonstrate how we respond to feedback from patients, the public and other 
stakeholders 
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On page 67 of this report the Board of Directors has 
published a statement in relation to its responsibilities in 
respect of the Trust’s Quality Report. 
 
In last year’s Quality Account, we described how the 
Trust had published its Quality Strategy, an ambitious 
three year programme that underpins the Trust’s 
commitment to improvements in the quality of care we 
provide. This strategy focuses on patient safety, the 
effectiveness of the care and treatment we provide and 
the experience of patients and families who attend the 
Trust for treatment. To achieve these improvements, the 
Trust has published a Quality Strategy Implementation 
Programme which addressed the key priorities in 
delivering our plan, a governance structure to monitor 
progress against the plan and clearly defined metrics to 
ensure that measured improvements are realised.  This 
programme is monitored by the Healthcare Governance 
Committee (subsequently the Quality and Risk 
Committee), a subcommittee of the Board of Directors. 
Any deviation from our plan is challenged and steps 
agreed to return to our agreed trajectory.  We also involve 
our Governors in this process and at the Governors 
Council meetings during the year sought their views and 
advice on improving the quality of care and improving 
patient experience. 
 
In defining our priorities for 2010 to 2013, the Trust 
identified those developments which would have the 
maximum benefit for our patients, where performance 
could be potentially improved when compared to our 
peers and where improvements in care could be 
measured. Our priorities are based on the three domains 
of quality – patient safety, clinical effectiveness and 
patient experience and are: 
 

 Reducing mortality through redesigning emergency 
pathways and reducing the number of medical outliers 

 Reducing and eliminating healthcare associated 
infections 

 Improving the experience of our patients 
 

To meet these goals the Trust invited the Emergency 
Care Intensive Support Team (ECIST) to visit the QEH 
and provide us with advice as to how we might redesign 
emergency pathways and improve the flow of emergency 
patients. ECIST were able to provide support and advice 
across a whole range of clinical services, including the 
services of our external partners. In particular, following 
their advice, the Trust opened a larger short stay ward, 
helping us to identify more patients with a shorter length 
of stay and improving the flow of patients through the 
Medical Assessment Unit. Any changes were 
underpinned by robust internal standards and quality 
metrics and many of these changes were initiated by the 
clinical teams themselves.  
 

The Trust continued to invest in its infrastructure to 
deliver its priorities and key developments this year 
include: 
 

 strengthening the support of patients admitted to 
hospital with dementia with the appointment of 
dementia support workers and the establishment, with 
the support of Norfolk and Suffolk NHS Foundation 
Trust, of a dementia intensive support team 

 the implementation of e-discharge to improve our 
communication with our GP colleagues 

 the development of a community intravenous therapy 
service reducing the need for inpatient care 

 improved support for vulnerable adults with the 
appointment of a learning disability liaison nurse  

 opening a fifth theatre in day surgery for outpatient 
procedures 

 refurbishment of the operating theatre in the Central 
Delivery Suite 

 purchase of digital mammography equipment to 
ensure that breast screening for women aged less than 
50 commenced on time 

 the pre-installation work to enable the Trust to invest in 
two new MRI scanners from June 2012 

 
As a consequence, we are pleased to report sustained 
improvement in each of these three priority areas: 
 

 A continued reduction in mortality across the Trust with 
a reduction in the standardised mortality rate such that 
at the end of January 2012, the rolling 12 month figure 
was 92.3, representing an 8% improvement on the 
preceding 12 months 

 

 There was one case of hospital acquired MRSA 
bacteria in 2011/12, a 50% reduction compared to 
2010/11.  However the Trust did experience a 17% 
increase in hospital acquired Clostridium Difficile 
infection in 2011/12 with 41 cases recorded against an 
agreed trajectory of 37 cases. Whilst the Trust’s overall 
position in relation to national benchmarking remains 
as expected, with an overall figure of 2.2 hospital 
acquired infections per 100,000 bed days, the Trust 
remains determined to reduce this figure for 2012/13 

 

 The establishment of active monitoring of patient 
experience through local and national surveys, 
patients’ stories, complaints and enquiries through the 
PALS office (Patient Advice and Liaison Services) and 
with the use of its own monitoring tool (called net 
promoter), the Trust now has an improved 
understanding of what matters to patients and their 
families. The Trust has also commenced on the 
implementation of iCARE, a programme of improving 
patient experience developed at Yeovil Hospital.  In 
2012/13, it is proposed to build on this knowledge with 
the appointment of a patient experience lead to 
oversee these developments 

 

 
 
 



The Queen Elizabeth Hospital  Annual Report and Accounts 2011/12    39 

 

 

These three overarching priorities have been 
underpinned by a range of individual improvement 
measures including those described in the Quality 
Strategy Implementation Programme, plus specific quality 
goals agreed with our commissioners. These CQUINS 
(Commissioning for Quality and Innovation) goals have 
led to improvements across a number of key areas: 
 

 A reduction in avoidable death, disability and chronic ill 
health from veno-thromboembolism by achieving over 
97% compliance with veno-thromboembolism risk 
assessment for all inpatients against a national range 
of 95% 

 An improvement in the system for identifying patients 
experiencing a deterioration in their clinical condition 
through increased compliance with completion of the 
Early Warning Score to 97% 

 Reducing mortality for patients presenting with Acute 
Coronary Syndrome by achieving a standardised 
hospital mortality rate of less than 100 for this cohort of 
patients 

 Reducing mortality of patients presenting with acute 
sepsis by the introduction of a sepsis resuscitation care 
bundle with over 70% of all new admissions receiving 
100% of all five sepsis measures 

 Improving the care of patients at the end of life by 
completing a training programme for 80% of all ward 
based doctors and nurses and ensuring that 90% of all 
patients expected to die in hospital are cared for via the 
Liverpool Care Plan 

 Improving communication with GPs at the time of 
discharge through the implementation of e-discharge, 
initially trialled through the new short stay ward. 

 Reducing the number of falls in the Trust and 
specifically those falls causing harm through the 
introduction of the use of the Seven Simple Steps 
methodology across the Trust 

 Improving the pathway for children presenting to A&E 
including patient/carer experience by reducing the 
number of children waiting for triage longer than 20 
minutes by 50% and conducting patient satisfaction 
surveys to identify further areas for potential 
improvement 

 Improving the number of patients admitted to hospital 
having a nutritional assessment using the Malnutrition 
Universal Screening Tool (MUST) within 24 hours with 
90% achievement at year end 

 
Quality remains at the heart of everything we do.  As the 
drive for efficiency accelerates in 2012/13, any plans for 
potential cost improvement are assessed as to the risk 
this may have on quality and reported accordingly to the 
Quality and Risk Committee.  The Trust reviewed its 
governance structure in 2011/12 and introduced changes 
to ensure that a clear governance framework is in place 
throughout the organisation and any risks to quality are 
escalated through the Trust via this governance structure 
and the appropriate Board sub-committees. 
 
 

The Trust undertook a self-assessment of its compliance 
with the Care Quality Commission’s (CQC) Outcome 
Framework in April 2011 and it identified no areas of non-
compliance although recognised there were some areas 
for improvement.  However, the Trust was subject to an 
unannounced inspection in August in 2011 by the CQC 
when some minor and moderate concerns were raised for 
the following outcomes: 
 

 Outcome 1 – Respecting and Involving People 

 Outcome 4 – Care and Welfare 

 Outcome 5 – Meeting Nutritional Needs 

 Outcome 7 – Safeguarding People 

 Outcome 9 – Management of Medicines 
 

The Trust responded by addressing all of the concerns as 
a matter of urgency, agreeing and implementing action 
plans on all the areas of concern. On 26 January 2012, 
the CQC performed a further unannounced visit and in its 
subsequent report, it was impressed by the improvements 
made by the Trust and confirmed that the Trust was now 
compliant on all five of these outcomes.  However, the 
CQC did raise concerns about records management and 
identified the Trust as having a moderate concern for 
Outcome 21 – Records Management, an issue that the 
Trust was aware of and taking steps to address. The 
Trust is in the process of redesigning patient 
documentation to reduce duplication and improve the 
documentation of care plans. This new documentation is 
to be implemented in May 2012 with a training 
programme for all staff involved. 
 
In addition, the CQC visited the Trust under the auspices 
of outcome 21 – records management and in relation to 
record keeping required for the Abortion Act.  The Trust 
was found to be fully compliant in this area. 
 
The Trust is in the process of agreeing the CQUIN 
schemes with the PCT for 2012/13 which this year 
attracts a payment equivalent to 2.5% of the Trust’s 
income and will be based on improving the quality of care 
we provide to our patients.   
 
Finally, improving the quality of services we provide and 
the care we offer to the local health economy is the role of 
every member of our staff. We will continue to prioritise 
our efforts and focus on continued improvement and the 
Board of Directors remains committed to ensuring that 
this is at the heart of everything we do.  I hereby state 
that to the best of my knowledge the information 
contained within this Quality Account is accurate. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PATRICIA WRIGHT 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
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Part 2: Priorities for improvement 
 
The Trust identifies in its Quality Strategy, published in the summer of 2010, the key principles it has adopted 
to ensure the quality and experience we deliver to our patients is first class. 
 
These principles are: 
 
1. The importance of an integrated approach to the delivery of care. 
2. High quality care cannot be delivered in isolation; we must work in partnership. 
3. We will continuously deliver service improvement by embracing changes in practice and technology.  
4. We will measure and monitor the effectiveness of the care we deliver. 
5. We will manage and mitigate risk to practice throughout corporate governance arrangements. 
6. We promise to provide an open learning culture that ensures we listen to feedback from our patients, staff 

and carers. 
7. We welcome the value of external accreditations and regulations which will provide third party assurance of 

the standards of care we provide to others. 
8. We value and support our staff, treat them with respect and provide them with opportunities for development 

and career progression. 
 
Within these key principles we agreed three priority areas for improvement in 2011-12. These were: 
  
1. To continue to focus on reducing patient mortality 
2. Reduce and eliminate, where possible, health care associated infections 
3. Monitor and improve the experience of patients at the Trust 
 

In order to measure improvement against these three 
priorities the following indicators were identified: 
 
1 Patient Safety: Reduce the Hospital standardised 
mortality ratio across the Trust. 
 
2 Patient Safety: To reduce the number of health care 
acquired infections across the Trust. 
 
3 Patient Safety: Reduce avoidable death, disability and 
chronic ill  health by implementing the national venous   
thromboembolism risk assessment tool. 
 
4 Patient Safety/ Effectiveness: Reduce mortality 
through ensuring that patients with sepsis (infection) are 
managed in accordance with the standardised care 
bundle. 
 
5 Patient Safety/Effectiveness: Improve the 
management of the deteriorating patient by full 
completion of the Early Warning Score (EWS) and prompt 
intervention when the warning point is reached. 
 
6 Patient Safety/Effectiveness: Reduce mortality and 
improve outcomes in patients presenting with acute 
coronary syndrome. 
 
7 Patient Experience: Improve end of life care through 
increased use of the Liverpool Care pathway. 
 
8 Patient Safety/Effectiveness and 
   Experience: Reduce the total number of falls 
experienced by patients and the number resulting in harm 
by the introduction of the Seven Simple Steps. 
 
9 Patient Safety/Effectiveness: Nutritionally screen 90% 
of patient within 24 hours of admission using the 
Malnutrition Universal Screening Tool.  
 
10 Patient Experience/Effectiveness: Review 
and revise the pathway for children through the 
Emergency Department and improve the patient/carer 
experience. 

Progress against these indicators is discussed further in 
section 3 of this quality account. 
 
How our priorities were decided and why they are our 
priorities: 
 
The Trust agreed a three year Quality Strategy in 2010 
that was revisited in 2012 and which is underpinned by 
three key priority areas for improvement.  They were 
adopted as the Trust’s priorities as they were areas of 
care and experience which had been raised as important 
by our staff, governors and partners.    
 
This strategy was shared with our Governors Council for 
consultation and comment.  The outcome of this work has 
seen the establishment of a number of Governor led 
focus groups to improve the pathway and/or experience 
of patients in key areas of Trust work.  For example areas 
focussed on in 2011/12 were the Outpatient appointment 
pathway and the Choose and Book pathway.  Both pieces 
of work have resulted in changes to the way the Trust 
manages these areas to improve patient experience. 
 
Following discussion with our commissioners and with the 
clinical teams within the hospital, we identified ten 
indicators in 2011-12 to measure success in delivering 
our Quality Strategy and in ensuring improvements in our 
priority areas. 
 
How we measured, monitored and reported our 
achievements in delivering our priorities: 
 
Clear performance measures were identified to monitor 
delivery of our priorities and these were reported on a 
monthly basis to the Board of Directors. The Trusts’ 
management and governance structure provided a 
mechanism for implementing change, monitoring 
progress and identifying any risks on delivery. Assurance 
on delivery and achievement was supported by the 
governance reporting systems and through Board review 
of the Board Assurance Framework. 
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Statements of Assurance from the Trust 
 

Review of Services 
 
During 2011/12 the Trust provided and/or sub-contracted 46 NHS services.  The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s 
Lynn NHS Foundation Trust has reviewed all the data available to them on the quality of care in 100% of these NHS 
services. 
 
The income generated by the NHS services reviewed in 2010/11 represents 91% of the total income generated from 
the provision of NHS services by the Trust for 2010/11. 

Participation in Clinical Audit 

During the year April 2011 to March 2012, HQIP identified 51 national clinical audits and three national confidential 
enquiries covering NHS services in England. Of those audits listed, 14 were not applicable to this Trust. The Queen 
Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust participated in 30 national clinical audits and three national 
confidential enquiries of the national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries which respectively represented 
81% and 100% of those it was eligible to participate in.  
 

 HQIP 
listed. 

Excluded / 
NA 

Total for 
inclusion. 

Percentage  
2011 / 2012  

Percentage   
2010 / 2011 

National Audits  51 14 37 30(81%) 68% 

Confidential Enquiries 3   3(100%)  100% 

 

National Audits 
 
National Clinical Audits (NCA) are 
largely funded by the Department of 
Health and commissioned by the 
Healthcare Quality Improvement 
Partnership (HQIP) which manages 
the National Clinical Audit and 
Patients Outcome Programme 
(NCAPOP).  

 
 
Most other national audits are funded 
from subscriptions paid by NHS 
provider organisations. Priorities for 
the NCAPOP are set by the 
Department of Health with advice 
from the National Clinical Audit 
Advisory Group (NCAAG).  

 
 
The following table provides details of 
all national clinical audits initiated in 
2011/12, which audits the hospital 
participated in, the reason for non - 
participation where this applies and 
the sample included: 

 

National Clinical Audits the Trust was eligible for in 2011/12. 
Taking 

part 

Rationale for 

'no' 

Sample 

required 

Sample 

included 

1 Acute Myocardial Infarction & other ACS (MINAP) Yes Continual database entry 

2 Acute stroke (SINAP) Yes Stroke database entry( not SINAP) 

3 Adult asthma (British Thoracic Society) 
Yes Registered  12 months In progress 

4 
Adult community acquired pneumonia (British Thoracic 
Society) 

No Local audit only. 

5 Adult critical care (ICNARC CMPD) Yes Continual database entry 

6 

Bedside transfusion (National Comparative Audit of Blood 
Transfusion) Medical use of blood (National Comparative 
Audit of Blood Transfusion) 

Yes  
3 months 

data 
3 months data 

7 Bowel cancer (National Bowel Cancer Audit Programme) Yes  Somerset register 

8 Bronchiectasis (British Thoracic Society) No Not a priority for this year 

9 CABG and valvular surgery (Adult cardiac surgery audit) No Not applicable to Trust 

10 Cardiac arrest (National Cardiac Arrest Audit) 
Yes  

All eligible patients within time 
frame. 

11 Cardiac arrhythmia (Cardiac Rhythm Management Audit) No Not applicable to Trust 

12 Care of dying in hospital (NCDAH) 
Yes  

All eligible patients within time 
frame. 

13 Carotid interventions (Carotid Intervention Audit) 
No Not applicable to Trust 

14 

Childhood epilepsy (RCPH National Childhood Epilepsy Audit) 

(Epilepsy 12) 

Yes  
4 eligible 

patients 

4 included   
2(50%) 

responded 

15 Chronic pain (National Pain Audit) 
Yes  3 months data 

3 months 
data 

16 
Coronary angioplasty (NICOR Adult cardiac interventions 
audit) 

No Not applicable to Trust 

17 Diabetes (National Adult Diabetes Audit) 

Yes  
Inpatients with 

diabetes 
86 

18 Diabetes (RCPH National Paediatric Diabetes Audit) No Supporting IT system. 
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19 Elective surgery (National PROMs Programme) Yes  In progress 

20 Emergency use of oxygen (British Thoracic Society) No Not a priority for this year 

21 Head & neck cancer (DAHNO) No Not applicable to Trust 

22 Heart failure (Heart Failure Audit) Yes Continual database entry 

23 Heavy menstrual bleeding (RCOG National Audit of HMB) 
Yes  24 per month 3(13%) 

24 Hip fracture (National Hip Fracture Database) Yes Continual database entry 

25 Hip, knee and ankle replacements (National Joint Registry) Yes Continual database entry 

26 Intra-thoracic transplantation (NHSBT UK Transplant Registry) No Not applicable to Trust 

27 Liver transplantation (NHSBT UK Transplant Registry) No Not applicable to Trust 

28 Lung cancer (National Lung Cancer Audit) Yes LUCADA data Continual database entry 

29 
Medical Use of blood (National Comparative Audit of blood 
transfusion 

Yes    

30 Neonatal intensive and special care (NNAP) No Not applicable to Trust 

31 Non invasive ventilation - adults (British Thoracic Society) No Not a priority for this year 

32 Oesophago-gastric cancer (National O-G Cancer Audit) 
Yes  

All eligible patients within time 
frame. 

33 Paediatric asthma (British Thoracic Society) 
No To take part in 2012, 2

nd
 round data 

34 

Paediatric cardiac surgery (NICOR Congenital Heart Disease 

Audit) 
No Not applicable to Trust 

35 Paediatric intensive care (PICANet) No Not applicable to Trust 

36 Paediatric pneumonia (British Thoracic Society) 
No To take part in 2012, 2

nd
 round data 

37 Pain management (College of Emergency Medicine) Yes  50 50 (100%) 

38 Parkinson’s disease (National Parkinson’s Audit) No Local audit 

39 Perinatal mortality (MBRRACE-UK) Yes Reporting as necessary 

40 
Peripheral vascular surgery (VSGBI Vascular Surgery 
Database) 

Yes Continual database entry 

41 Pleural procedures (British Thoracic Society) No Local clinical audit only 

42 Potential donor audit (NHS Blood & Transplant) 
Yes  

All eligible patients within time 

frame. 

43 Prescribing in mental health services (POMH) No Not applicable to Trust 

44 Renal replacement therapy (Renal Registry) No Not applicable to Trust 

45 Renal transplantation (NHSBT UK Transplant Registry) No Not applicable to Trust 

46 Risk factors (National Health Promotion in Hospitals Audit) 
Yes  

100 patient 
records 

100(%) 

47 Schizophrenia (National Schizophrenia Audit) No Not applicable to Trust 

48 Seizure management (National Audit of Seizure Management) 
Yes  30 patients 30(100%) 

49 
Severe sepsis & septic shock (College of Emergency 
Medicine) 

Yes  30 patients 30(100%) 

50 Severe trauma (Trauma Audit & Research Network) Yes Continual database entry 

51 Ulcerative Colitis & Crohn’s disease (UK IBD Audit) 
Yes  

40 patient 

records 
40(100%) 

 
 

Other national audits carried out in the Trust in 2011 / 12 not initiated in the HQIP list include: 
 

 National Audit on Avascular Necrosis of the Jaws including Bisphosphonates-related Osteonecrosis (BRONJ): 
Oral surgery.  

 National Paediatric Epilepsy Audit. 

 National, One Week Prevalence Audit of MRSA Screening. 

 Controlling hypoglycaemia (TITAN). 

 Surgical Site infection (SSI) in hip surgery, knee surgery, large bowel procedures and repair of neck of femur. 

 TARN audit encompasses abdominal injury, head injury, orthopaedic injuries and thoracic injuries. 

 National Audit of Continence (pilot study). 

 National audit of back pain management by NHS Occupational Health Services in England: round two.  
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Confidential Enquiries 
 
The national confidential enquiries the Trust participated in, 
and for which data collection was completed during the 
year April 2011 to March 2012, are listed below.  
 
Alongside the title of the NCEPOD (National Confidential 
Enquires into Patient Outcome and Death), are the number 
of cases submitted to each audit or enquiry as a 
percentage of the number required by the terms of that 
audit or enquiry.  
 
CEMACE: no specific audits were identified for participation 
in 2011.  

 
 
The National Confidential Inquiry (NCI) into Suicide and 
Homicide by People with Mental Illness (NCI/NCISH) 
was not applicable to this Trust. 
 
Confidential enquiry reports are a standard agenda item 
at the Clinical Audit & National Standards (CANS) 
Committee and a selected member of the Committee 
attends the NCEPOD reporting launch workshop in 
London. All NCEPOD findings and recommendations 
were presented at the CANS Committee and local 
follow up actions agreed.  
 

 

Confidential Enquiry  Cases included Cases returned by Trust  

Surgery in Children: Are we there yet? N/A 2 sites  

Peri – operative care: Knowing the risk. N/A 87 

Cardiac Arrest Procedures. 5 4(80%) 

 
 

Local clinical audit 
 
Local clinical audits are conducted by individual 
healthcare professionals or teams evaluating aspects of 
care that they themselves have selected as being 
important to their service.  
 
309 local clinical audits were carried out by this Trust in 
the year 2011 / 2012. The reports are currently being 
written for 19 of the audits and 52 audits are still in 
progress and therefore not at the reporting stage. The 
remaining 238 completed audits have been presented for 
peer review and outcomes shared through the Divisional 
Quality, Risk and Standards (QRS) meetings, Divisional 
Audit meetings or at the Annual Clinical Audit Symposium, 
which took place in September 2011. All four Trust 
Divisions have used clinical audit as a quality 
improvement method in 2011/ 2012 and outcomes and 
recommendations have been shared extensively across 
the Trust.   
 
Data Quality  
 
The Clinical Audit department carry out regular monitoring 
audits throughout the year in order to measure the quality 
of local audits produced. For each national audit, a re-
audit of 10% of the total number of records used was 
undertaken to ensure data validation. 
 
Audit actions 
 
The reports of national clinical audits were reviewed by 
the Clinical Audit & National Standards (CANS) 
Committee, as well as being discussed in the relevant 
Divisional QRS committees and the Clinical Governance 
Committee.  
 
The reports of 29 national audits, three confidential 
enquiries and 238 local audits were reviewed by the 
provider in 2011/12 and the Trust intends to take the 
following actions to improve the quality of Healthcare 
provided: 
 

National Audit Actions – Some examples of actions 
taken following the results of national audits are 
described below:  
 
a) Surgical Site Infection: The Trust currently 
participates in four categories of SSI as per Health 
Protection Agency (HPA) guidance. The defined areas 
included are Hip Replacement, Knee Replacement, 
Repair of Neck of Femur and Large Bowel Surgery. 
Clinical Audit continuously enters approx 250 episodes 
of procedures each quarter for the four areas detailed 
and the Trust reports a low rate of Surgical Site 
Infection.  
 
To ensure that this status is maintained and validated 
the following actions have been taken by the Surgical 
Site Infection steering group:  

 

 A meeting was held with the Medical Director, 
Divisional Chief Nurse, Consultant Nurse 
Practitioner, Surgical Ward Matron, Ward Manager & 
Lead Clinical Auditor (Surgical Site Infection steering 
group) to review current data collection methods 
 

 A snapshot Quality Assurance monitoring audit was 
carried out by the Consultant Nurse Practitioner, with 
the outcome that all relevant clinical notes contained 
correct surveillance information and that the clinical 
surveillance is in accordance with best practice 
 

 The Medical Director directed wards to carry out 
daily rounds to check wounds for any signs of 
infection 

 
Despite short lengths of stay for colorectal and 
orthopaedic patients, the group is confident of the 
accuracy of our significantly low infection rate and is 
satisfied that routine ward visits are taking place, along 
with daily review of microbiology reports. The low rate of 
SSI continues. 
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b) Renal Colic (College of Emergency Medicine):  
The audit was reported in 2011 and as a result a further 
local audit was undertaken within the Emergency (A&E) 
Department and this led to implementation of the 
following actions:  
 

 Implementation of local departmental guidelines to 
support compliance with best practice 
 

 Care pathway updated to include new guidance 
 

 Improvements to documentation to improve clarity and 
completion of a clinical coding sticker on the patient 
records to ensure correct coding of the episode; to be 
re-audited as part of  the hospital-wide audit of medical 
records in 2012 

.  
 
Confidential Enquiries Actions: 
 
a) NCEPOD: An age old problem: 
As a result of this enquiry which was carried out and 
reported in 2010 a comprehensive, wide ranging Trust 
action plan was implemented during 2011-12:  
 

 Sub-group set up to review frequency and times of 
ward rounds by Medicine for the Care of Older People 
consultant and plan agreed to improve coordination of 
junior staff attending round 
 

 MUST tool implemented and subject to monthly audit 
 

 Guidelines written for clinical staff to follow if procedure 
cancelled. Orthopaedic patients reviewed on a case by 
case basis at Trauma meetings and general surgical 
patients by the on call surgeon 
 

 Post-operative acute kidney injury included within 
current ALERT training 
 

 Frailty assessment tool and mental state assessment 
included in admission documentation 
 

 A separate audit of consent to procedure has been 
carried out and further procedure-specific consent 
forms are to be introduced within the next six months 
 

 Temperature monitoring and management of 
hypothermia as per national anaesthetic guidelines, 
initial audit of compliance gave a positive result and is 
now being audited on a regular basis 
 

 Two high dependency beds in Critical Care Unit are 
allocated for elective surgical patients 

 
b)  NCEPOD: Surgery in Children: Are We There 
Yet? This enquiry reported in 2011 and the Consultant 
Surgeon attended the launch event in London. The 
following actions have been undertaken: 

 

 Policies for surgery / anaesthetics have been amended 
to state what conditions can be operated on and at 
what age 
 

 A review of competence has been carried out as part of 
the NCEPOD actions  
 

 Training for nursing staff has been supported through 
the RCN e-learning module and is linked to appraisals  
 

 Compliance with resuscitation standards is achieved 
by Paediatricians undertaking six monthly training 
updates 
 

 Pre-operational information originally given to parents 
was only available in English.   Work is now in 
progress to provide information in a further range of 
languages 
 

 A pharmacist has been invited to attend the Children 
Surgical Services meetings although the committee is 
awaiting a patient representative 
 

 A patient representative / patient has been invited to 
attend the Paediatric Governance meetings  
 

 Further updates to be given to the Clinical Governance 
Committee in October 2012 

 
Local Audit Actions: 
 

a) Audit of Psychiatric attendances within the 
Emergency Department:  
This audit looked at all patients who attended the 
Emergency Department with a problem related to their 
mental health during a six month period from 
December 2010 –May 2011. The audit was shared with 
Norfolk and Suffolk Foundation Trust and other 
partnership organisations.  

 
Following review of this audit the Norfolk and Suffolk 
NHS Foundation Trust has funded and put in place a 
Psychiatric Emergency Liaison Team based in the 
Emergency Department seven days per week to 
support patient assessment and care. 

 
a) Optimising pain relief in the Recovery Room:  
The Royal College of Anaesthetists recommends that 
no patient should return to the ward with uncontrolled 
pain. This audit looked at the effectiveness of pain 
relief in Recovery within the hospital and as a result 
introduced the following measure to support further 
improvements: 

 

 A pain control algorithm for opioid resistant pain was 
developed for use in the Recovery Room. This will be 
subject to re-audit to provide continued assurance on 
its effectiveness in practice 

 
b) Management of Acute Coronary Syndrome 
(ACS):  
This audit was carried out as a local quality 
improvement measure.  All patients with a diagnosis of 
acute coronary syndrome / unstable angina should 
follow a specific ACS pathway consisting of 15 specific 
care elements. The Trust has audited compliance at 
periodic intervals throughout 2011-12 and achieved 
85% compliance with the patient pathway by the end of 
the year. The following change has been introduced to 
ensure further improvement: 

 

 ACS management plan is now included as part of 
the patient admission documentation 
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c)  Renal Surgery: 
A retrospective audit of nephrectomies carried out 
between January 2008 and December 2010 was reported 
in 2011. This audit was undertaken to look at the 
outcomes for patients who had undergone renal (kidney) 
surgery within a specific three year time span. The audit 
also looked at the patient pathway, measuring Trust 
performance against NICE guidance to determine if 
adjustments or changes to practice were required to the 
current service. Although a very small sample of patients 
was studied the findings suggested that it would be 
beneficial to introduce the following changes to practice: 
 

 All kidney surgery to be undertaken by a team of two 
surgeons 
 

 All elective kidney surgery to be scheduled when a 
vascular consultant is available on site 

 
d)  Comparison of outcomes for UVB treatment of   
Psoriasis at this hospital against published data of 
outcomes reported elsewhere:  
Various protocols are available for delivering narrow-band 
UVB phototherapy for psoriasis. In the Trust we use the 
protocol developed in Gwent which is in common use in 
the UK, which delivers UVB three times a week with 20% 
increased increments of UVB on each subsequent 
dosage.  
 
The aim of the audit was to assess our outcomes 
compared to published data over a period of 12 months. 
The following changes to practice have been made as a 
result of this study: 
 

 Cumulative doses, treatment numbers, modality form 
revised 
 

 The percentage of treatment each patient receives has 
been amended and this has reduced the number of 
treatments that patients now receive 
 

 The quality measures, Psoriasis Area and Severity 
Index (PASI) and Dermatology Life Quality Index 
(DLQI) are performed on the day of discharge from 
clinic as well as being done at 10 treatments and 20 
treatments 
 

 Phototherapy meetings are now held every two months 
to monitor the service and since Oct 2011 there are 
also phototherapy nurse meetings 
 

 Management of patients who fail to attend all their 
treatments has been revised - if a patient fails to attend 
twice the patient is contacted via phone with an 
arranged appointment.  If the patient fails to attend a 
third time, the patient is discharged 

 
 

e) Learning Disability Audit:  
The audit was carried out as a base line audit to assess 
the number of patients with a learning disability 
accessing hospital services and whether patients 
attended with their ‘My Health Book’ to facilitate 
personal care and treatment. As a result of the audit 
the Trust introduced the following improvements: 

 

 Development of a Hospital Passport to ensure that 
information on key issues for the patient were 
communicated to staff on admission. This has now 
been rolled out across the organisation and will be 
used for other patient groups who may be unable to 
communicate their concerns or wishes to staff 
 

 The Hospital Passport has been shared with other 
hospitals within Norfolk 
 

 Training for staff on meeting the needs of people 
with a learning disability 
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During the year April 2011 to March 2012, HQIP identified 51 national clinical audits and three national confidential 
enquiries covering NHS services in England. Of those audits listed, 14 were not applicable to this Trust. The Queen 
Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust participated in 30 national clinical audits and three national 
confidential enquiries of the national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries which respectively represented 
81% and 100% of those it was eligible to participate in.  

 

 HQIP 
listed. 

Excluded / 
NA 

Total for 
inclusion. 

Percentage  
2011 / 2012  

Percentage   
2010 / 2011 

National Audits  51 14 37 30(81%) 68% 

Confidential Enquiries 3   3(100%)  100% 

 

Participation in clinical research 
The number of patients in 2011/12 receiving NHS 
services provided or sub-contracted by The Queen 
Elizabeth Hospital King's Lynn NHS Foundation Trust that 
were recruited during this period to participate in research 
approved by a research ethics committee was 887. This 
included 809 patients recruited to NIHR portfolio studies 
and 78 patients recruited to non-portfolio studies. 
 
The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King's Lynn NHS 
Foundation Trust’s commitment to improving the quality 
of care we offer and to making our contribution to wider 
health improvement is demonstrated by our level of 
participation in clinical research.  Our clinical staff aim to 
stay abreast of the latest treatment possibilities and active 
participation in research has led to successful outcomes 
for patients. In 2011/12 the Trust was involved in 
conducting 41 NIHR portfolio and eight non-portfolio 
clinical research studies across 15 medical specialties.  
 
A total of 43 clinical staff actively engaged in research 
that had been approved by a research ethics committee 
across the 15 participating medical specialties. In 2011/12 
four peer reviewed publications resulted from Trust 
sponsored research.  This demonstrates our commitment 
to transparency and the desire to improve patient 
outcomes and experience across the NHS. 
 
The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS 
Foundation Trust is also committed to testing and offering 
the latest medical treatments and techniques. Consultant 
Anaesthetists are actively involved in a number of award 
winning innovation projects which included international 
acclaim for a Video-laryngoscope which won two awards 
in 2011: 
 

 Red Dot “Best of the Best” Design Award, Germany 
2011 

 Medical Design Excellence Awards, NYC 2011 
 

Goals agreed with commissioners 
 
A proportion of the Queen Elizabeth Hospital, Kings Lynn 
NHS Foundation Trust’s income in 2011/12 was 
conditional on achieving quality improvement and 
innovation goals agreed between the Queen Elizabeth 
Hospital, Kings Lynn NHS Foundation Trust and any 
person or body they entered into a contract, agreement or 
arrangement with for the provision of NHS services, 
through the Commissioning for Quality and Innovation 
(CQUIN) payment framework. 
 
Further details of the agreed goals for 2011/12 and for the 
following 12 month period are available later on in this 
report. 
 

What others say about us (CQC) 
The Queen Elizabeth Hospital, Kings Lynn NHS 
Foundation Trust is required to register with the Care 
Quality Commission and its current registration status is 
‘registered without any conditions’.  
 
The Trust was subject to an unannounced inspection in 
August in 2011 by CQC when some minor and moderate 
concerns were raised for the following outcomes: 
 

 Outcome 1 – Respecting and Involving People 

 Outcome 4 – Care and Welfare 

 Outcome 5 – Meeting Nutritional Needs 

 Outcome 7 – Safeguarding People 

 Outcome 9 – Management of Medicines 
 

As a consequence the CQC identified improvement 
actions for the Trust to take in relation to  
 

 Outcome 4 – Care and Welfare 

 Outcome 5 – Meeting Nutritional Needs 

 Outcome 9 – Management of Medicines 
 
Where moderate concerns had been raised during the 
visit in relation to outcome 1 and 7 the minor 
improvements identified were immediately actioned. 
 
 
On 26 January 2012, the CQC performed a further 
unannounced visit and in its subsequent report, it was 
impressed by the improvements made by the Trust and 
confirmed that the Trust was now compliant on all five of 
these outcomes.  However, the CQC did raise concerns 
about records management.  In the subsequent published 
report the CQC identified the Trust has a moderate 
concern for Outcome 21 and requested improvement 
actions to be taken.  The Trust has a Board of Directors 
agreed action plan to address the issues raised following 
the CQC spot check visit in January and is in the process 
of redesigning patient documentation to reduce 
duplication and improve the documentation of care plans. 
This new documentation was implemented in April 2012 
with a training programme for all staff involved.   
 
The Queen Elizabeth Hospital, Kings Lynn NHS 
Foundation Trust has not participated in any special 
reviews or investigations by the CQC during the reporting 
period, but has been the subject of two CQC inspections: 
 
1) A CQC visit to assess compliance against their 

outcomes framework, the outcome of which is 
described above. 

2) A CQC visit to review improvements made against 
the first set of recommendations. 

3) A CQC visit to asses compliance against outcome 
21 records management in relation to the Abortion 
Act 
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What others say about us 
(Monitor) 
During 2011/12 the Trust was found 
to be in significant breach of its terms 
of authorisation with Monitor.  The 
breach of authorisation was in 
relation to its general duty to exercise 
its functions effectively and 
economically (condition 2) and of 
governance (condition 6).  The Trust 
has agreed actions with Monitor and 
reviews progress in meeting these 
actions monthly with Monitor.  Further 
details can be found on Monitors 
website. 
 
Data Quality 
The Trust continues to recognise the 
importance of reliable information as 
a fundamental requirement for the 
prompt and effective treatment of 
patients. The Trust's aim remains to 
be significantly above average in all 
Data Quality indicators and 
performance is monitored regularly. 
Data quality is crucial and the 
availability of complete, accurate and 
timely information and data is 
important in supporting patient care, 
clinical governance, management 
and service agreements for 
healthcare planning, accountability 
and Payment by Results (PbR).  
 
The Trust Board has overall 
responsibility for data quality and has 
a nominated Executive Director to 
fulfil the role of Senior Information 
Risk Owner (SIRO). The 
establishment of the SIRO role was 
one of several measures introduced 
across the NHS to strengthen 
controls around information security, 
data quality and data protection.   
 
The Trust regularly monitors its data 
quality through national data quality 
reports, undertakes regular internal 
audits and regularly participates in 
the national audit programmes 
focused on data quality. 
 
Some of the measures the Trust 
focuses on are; the Secondary Uses 
Service, Clinical Coding and the 
Connecting for Health Information 
Governance Toolkit. A Data Quality 
sub-group has been established to 
monitor key issues which reports 
directly to the Information 
Governance Committee. 

The Trust has undertaken a number 
of external assessments of its data 
quality and regularly uses both CHKS 
and Dr Foster data comparison sites 
to benchmark Trust attainment.  For 
the fourth year in a row the Trust was 
included in CHKS Top 40 Hospitals 
award scheme. 
 
In records submitted to the 
Secondary Care Uses System (SUS) 
for inclusion in Hospital Episode 
Statistics (HES), the percentage of 
records including the valid patient's 
NHS number was 99.8%. In records 
submitted to the Secondary Uses 
System (SUS) for inclusion in 
Hospital Episode Statistics (HES), 
the percentage of records including 
the valid patients GP registration 
code was 100%.   
 
The Trust's error rate for clinical 
coding (for diagnosis and treatment 
coding), as reported by the Audit 
Commission in the latest Payment by 
Results (PbR) clinical coding audit is 
3%.   
 
A series of actions to improve the 
Trust's awareness and compliance 
with the requirements of the 
Information Governance Toolkit has 
seen the Trust achieve an overall 
score of 74% at year end. These 
actions include a dedicated training 
programme to educate staff in the 
principles of Information Governance 
and good practice, and small working 
groups to implement key actions 
across the Trust 
 

Secondary User Services (SUS) 
The Trust submitted records during 
April 2011 to January 2012 to the 
Secondary User Services for 
inclusion in the Hospital Episodes 
Statistics which are included in the 
latest published data. 
 
The percentage of records in the 
published data is reported on the 
right: SUS data which included the 
patient's valid NHS number was: 
 

 99.8% Admitted Patient Care 

 99.9% Outpatient Care 

 99% Accident and Emergency 
Care 

 
SUS data which included the 
patient's valid General Medical 
Practice Code was: 
 

 100% Admitted Patient Care 

 100% Outpatient Care 

 100% Accident and Emergency 
Care 

 
Information Governance Toolkit 
Attainment Levels 
 
The Queen Elizabeth Hospital, Kings 
Lynn NHS Foundation Trust’s 
Information Governance 
Assessment Report score overall 
score for 2011/12 was 74% and was 
graded green. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Clinical Coding Error Rate 
 

The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust was 
subject to the Payment by Results clinical coding inpatient quality 
audit during the reporting period by the Audit Commission and the error 
rates reported in the latest published audit for that period for diagnoses and 
treatment coding (clinical coding) were: 

 

 2.7% Primary Diagnosis Incorrect 
 

 0.7% Secondary Diagnosis 
 

 2.6% Primary Procedure 
 

 3.5% Secondary Procedure 
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Part 3: Review of Quality Performance 
 
Quality Objectives and Performance 
 
The Trust has focused on embedding improvements in all three of its priorities for quality within the core of its services.  
Quality is seen as everyone’s responsibility and integral to all that we do as an organisation.  The priorities for quality 
improvement in 2011/12 included a range of individual measures that supported the overall objectives of: 

 

 Reducing mortality by redesigning emergency pathways and reducing the number of medical outliers 

 Reducing and eliminating healthcare associated infections 

 Improving the experience of our patients 
 

Reducing avoidable mortality has been a prime focus 
since the Trust took part in the Leading Improvement in 
Patient Safety programme in its second wave in April 
2008.  At that time the Trust set itself the ambitious rate 
(HSMR) of reducing mortality by 5% per year for the next 
five years.  The underpinning strategy remains our first 
objective and as at the end of January the rolling 12 
month HSMR was 92.3, representing a further 8% 
reduction in mortality compared to 2010/11. 
 
The Trust recognised there would be key primary drivers 
required to achieve this target and during 2011/12 the 
Trust has again concentrated on improving the 
management of the deteriorating patient, standardising 
medical care where feasible and implementing harm 
reduction strategies.  These include those measures 
reported in detail within this account such as improving 
the flow of emergency admissions and reducing medical 
outliers; reviewing and improving the clinical pathways for 
children seen in A&E; reducing healthcare associated 
infections; implementing the use of the early warning 
score to identify the deteriorating patient; standardising 
the treatment of patients admitted with acute coronary 
syndrome and patients admitted with sepsis; 
implementing harm reduction measures such as veno- 
thromboembolism risk assessment; reducing the number 
of falls in patients admitted to hospital, and in particular in 
falls resulting in harm; and introducing the nutritional 
assessment (MUST) tool throughout the Trust.  
 
To achieve these improvements, the Trust has published 
a Quality Strategy Implementation Programme which 
addressed the key priorities in delivering our plan, an 
implementation plan to monitor progress and clearly 
defined metrics to ensure that measured improvements 
were realised.  This programme is monitored by the 
Healthcare Governance Committee (subsequently the 
Quality and Risk Committee), a subcommittee of the 
Board of Directors. Any deviation from our plan is 
challenged and steps agreed to return to our agreed 
trajectory. 
 
Alongside these major work streams, the Trust has 
implemented quality improvement plans that focus on 
patients who are known to be disadvantaged when 
accessing care and treatment.  This has included the 
successful development and implementation of an 
integrated pathway for patients with dementia and the 
development of a liaison service to support patients with a 
learning disability and their families.  Both these initiatives 
have been underpinned by extensive programmes of 
training for ward-based staff.  The Trust has worked in 
partnership with the PCT in establishing the dementia 
intensive support team, with the aim of identifying patients 
with dementia early in their admission and facilitating 
early discharge 

The Trust continues to support initiatives that improve 
care for patients at end of life through the provision of 
training on the use of the Liverpool Care Pathway to all 
ward-based doctors and registered nurses, ensuring that 
more patients are managed via the Liverpool Care 
Pathway. In addition, the Trust is working in partnership 
with the PCT to improve community based palliative care 
facilities with plans to appoint a community Palliative Care 
consultant, additional palliative care nurses and 
community based palliative care beds.  
 
The Trust reviewed its governance structure in 2011 with 
the aim of assessing that it has a robust governance 
structure which ensures scrutiny and challenge and acts 
as a driver for improving standards of quality.  The 
Healthcare Governance Committee (subsequently the 
Quality and Risk Committee), through its underpinning 
reporting committees, seeks to monitor compliance and 
national standards and so provides the Board of Directors 
with assurance and if appropriate, evidence of areas of 
concern requiring further action.  Detailed reports on a 
range of patient safety, clinical outcomes and patient 
experience indicators are reported to the Board of 
Directors on a monthly basis. 
 
The Clinical Audit and National Standards Committee 
ensures that the Trust responds to and assesses the 
relevance to the Trust of national guidance and statutory 
directives from NICE, Confidential Enquiries and the 
Royal Colleges, and to the findings of local and national 
clinical audits.  Similarly, the Patient Safety Committee 
reviews all national alert systems to ensure that the Trust 
is compliant with guidance on safe practice. 
 
The Clinical Governance Specialty Review process 
provides the framework through which the Trust is able to 
provide assurance that all clinical practice within the Trust 
is underpinned by sound principles of clinical governance.  
The review process takes place each year and involves 
all the clinical specialties within the Trust.  Internal Audit 
reviewed this process in 2011 and, whilst it was 
impressed by the format and scrutiny inherent in the 
process, it did give further recommendations as to how 
the process could be improved. The Clinical Governance 
Committee, responsible for overseeing these reviews, 
has discussed and adopted these recommendations.  In 
particular greater vigour is adopted in agreeing and 
reviewing the objectives with the individual specialties 
and a summary sheet, outlining the key issues is now 
reviewed by the Quality and Risk Committee.  The 
process enables the Trust to receive assurance about the 
quality of practice and governance across all clinical 
specialties. 
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The Trust reports incidents externally via the National 
Patient Safety Agency’s National Reporting and Learning 
System and benefits from the receipt of a quarterly report 
allowing the Trust to benchmark itself nationally against 
Trusts of a similar size and configuration.  The number of 
incidents reported by the Trust places it towards the 
upper quartile (regarded as good practice nationally), 
reflecting the open culture adopted by the Trust and its 
willingness to learn from any adverse events. This report 
is reviewed by the Patient Safety Committee, which also 
reviews the Trust’s compliance with nationally generated 
alerts. 
 
The Trust is supported by a Patient Experience Group, 
formed by the Governors of the Trust, whose members 
participate in the annual PEAT (Patient Environment 
Action Team) and provide the Trust with advice on 
matters relating to patient experience. The Trust has 
embarked on active monitoring of patients’ experience 
through local and national surveys, patients’ stories, 
complaints and enquiries through the PALS office (Patient 
Advice and Liaison Services) and with the use of its own 
monitoring tool (called net promoter) so that the Trust 
now has an improved understanding of what matters to 
patients and their families. The Trust has also 
commenced on the implementation of iCARE, a 
programme of improving patient experience developed at 
Yeovil Hospital.  In 2012/13, it is proposed to build on this 
knowledge, with the appointment of a specialist nurse to 
oversee these developments. 
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Our Priorities 
 
Priority 1: Improving the Trust’s Hospital Standardised Mortality Rate 
 
 
What is HSMR? 

The Hospital Standardised Mortality Ratio (HSMR) is an indicator of 
healthcare quality that measures whether the death rate at a hospital is 
higher or lower than you would expect. 

HSMR compares the expected rate of death in a hospital with the actual 
rate of death.  Dr Foster looks at those patients with diagnoses that most 
commonly result in death, for example heart attacks, strokes or broken 
hips. 

For each group of patients we can work out how often, on average, 
across the whole country, they survive their stay in hospital, and how 
often they die. 

Whilst, in itself, the HSMR is not a single marker of the quality of care, it 
is a useful barometer by which the Trust can compare itself with other 
Trusts and can be useful in confirming that the schemes identified by the 
Trust to improve patient safety are having the desired effect. 

 

Aim / Goal? 

To reduce the Trust’s HSMR by 5% year 
on year. 

Outcome 

A continued reduction in mortality across 
the Trust in 2011/12 with a reduction in 
the standardised mortality rate such that 
at the end of January 2012, the rolling 12 
month figure was 92.3, representing an 
8% improvement on the preceding 12 
months. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Source:  Dr Foster Intelligence 
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Source:  Dr Foster Intelligence 

 

The above chart (QEH in green with the national figures in orange) 
demonstrates the trend in the un-rebased and rebased HSMR since 
2008/9 with a reduction in un-rebased HSMR from 98 in 2008/09 to 74 in 
2011/12 (to January 2012), confirming a 24% reduction in mortality over 
this period, a reduction similar to that witnessed elsewhere within 
England and the East of England. Taken with the high HSMR in 2007/08 
(109.5), the Trust has achieved approximately 35% reduction in mortality 
since 2007/08.  

From this, it can be seen that the Trust has surpassed its planned 
reduction in hospital standardised mortality rate (target of 5% per year), 
with a provisional rate of 92.3 over the last 12 months.   

How We Achieved Our Target? 

The reduction in HSMR was achieved by identifying those schemes 
which would enhance patient safety by improving the management of the 
deteriorating patient and by implementing harm reduction strategies such 
as the elimination of medical outliers by improving the flow of emergency 
admissions through the hospital; reduction of hospital acquired 
infections; and by standardised medical care where feasible e.g patients 
admitted with sepsis or acute coronary syndrome. Progress on these 
objectives has been reported to the Board on a monthly basis.  

Emphasis has been on improving the processes so that the 
improvements are local, measurable and owned by the clinical teams 
providing the care.  

 

To achieve these improvements, the Trust 
published a Quality Strategy 
Implementation Programme which 
addresses the key priorities in delivering 
our plan to reduce mortality, an 
implementation plan to monitor progress 
and clearly defined metrics to ensure that 
measured improvements are realised.   

This programme is monitored by the 
Healthcare Governance Committee 
(subsequently the Quality and Risk 
Committee), a subcommittee of the Board 
of Directors. Any deviation from our plan is 
challenged and steps agreed to return to 
our agreed trajectory. 

As part of the new Divisional structure 
within the Trust, each Division is required 
to produce a Quality Report every three 
months so that there is a culture of safety 
and quality throughout the organisation. 
Clinical teams are encouraged to 
champion patient safety so that patient 
safety is embedded into daily clinical 
practice, and that the reduction in HSMR 
is seen as a consequence of good 
practice and not just as a target. 

The most recent development has been 
the establishment of the Clinical 
Outcomes Group (sub-committee of the 
Clinical Governance Committee) which 
reviews trends and alerts throughout the 
hospital and oversees the mortality case 
note reviews that are an integral part of 
the Trust’s patient safety strategy. 
Lessons learnt from note reviews are 
disseminated via the Divisional Quality 
and Risk Committees.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Board Sponsor 

Dr Geoff Hunnam 

Medical Director 
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Priority 2: Continue to reduce the number of unnecessary healthcare 

associated infections. 

 

What are healthcare associated infections? 
 
Healthcare associated infections (HAI) are 
infections that are acquired in hospitals or as a 
result of healthcare interventions. There are a 
number of factors that can increase the risk of 
acquiring an infection, but high standards of 
infection control practice minimise the risk of 
occurrence. 

1. Clostridum difficile  
 

Clostridium difficile infection is the most 
important cause of hospital-acquired diarrhoea. 
Clostridium difficile is an anaerobic bacterium 
that is present in the gut of up to 3% of healthy 
adults and 66% of infants. When certain 
antibiotics disturb the balance of bacteria in the 
gut, Clostridium difficile can multiply rapidly and 
produce toxins which cause illness. 
 
Clostridium difficile infection ranges from mild to 
severe diarrhoea to, more unusually, severe 
inflammation of the bowel (known as 
pseudomembranous colitis). People who have 
been treated with broad spectrum antibiotics 
(those that affect a wide range of bacteria), 
people with serious underlying illnesses and the 
elderly are at greatest risk – over 80% of 
Clostridium difficile infections reported are in 
people aged over 65 years. 

Clostridium difficile infection is usually spread 
on the hands of healthcare staff and other 
people who come into contact with infected 
patients or with environmental surfaces (e.g. 
floors, bedpans, toilets) contaminated with the 
bacteria or its spores. Spores are produced 
when Clostridium difficile bacteria encounter 
unfavourable conditions, such as being outside 
the body. They are very hardy and can survive 
on clothes and environmental surfaces for long 
periods. 

2. Methicillin Resistant Staphylococcus 
Aureus (MRSA) 

Staphylococcus aureus is a common germ that 
lives harmlessly on skin or in the nose of 20 to 
40% of the population. These germs can 
occasionally cause skin infections such as boils.  

MRSA are organisms that have become 
resistant to the antibiotic, methicillin. MRSA is 
not a risk to normal healthy individuals but may 
cause severe infection for those hospital 
patients who are severely unwell or who have 
had recent surgery, especially if the organism 
makes its way into the bloodstream (MRSA 
bacteraemia).  

3. Surgical Site Infections (SSI) 

The Surgical Site Infections Service was established in 1997 by the 
Health Protection Agency. The scheme encourages hospitals to 
use surveillance to improve the quality of patient care by enabling 
them to collect and analyse data on Surgical Site Infections (SSI) 
using standardised methods. 

It provides national data that can be used as a benchmark allowing 
individual hospitals to compare their rates of SSI with collective 
data from all hospitals participating in the service. This Trust 
provides data for major orthopaedic and colo-rectal surgery. 

Clostridium Difficile infections had reduced from 393 cases in 
2005/06 to 66 in 20010/11.  In addition, the number of hospital 
acquired infections (some infections are acquired in the community 
and present at the time of admission) had reduced to 34 cases in 
2010/11 but in 2011/12, for the first time in seven years, there has 
been a slight increase to 41 cases (see chart below), although the 
rate of infection at 2.2 cases per 100,000 bed days is similar to 
other acute Trusts. No deaths were attributed to C.Diff, infection in 
2011/12.  

Actions, described on page 53, address how the Trust proposes to 
reverse this trend of increasing hospital acquired C.Diff. infections. 

Hospital Acquired C.Diff. infections

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12

Year

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

c
a
s
e
s

 

Source: QEH Information Team 

The rate for SSI is also consistently below the national average and 

the Trust is felt not to be an outlier. This is kept under close review. 
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How We Achieved Our Target? 

There are five principle ways in which the Trust has 
achieved a reduction in HAI and these are: 

 Appropriate prescribing of antibiotics 

 Hand hygiene 

 Enhanced environmental cleaning 

 Isolation of infected patients 

 Personal protective equipment 

In March 2008, the HAI care bundle was launched. 
Cleaning regimes were enhanced with the use of chlorine 
releasing agents; ‘bare below the elbows’ was introduced 
with hand hygiene vigorously monitored; the antibiotic 
guidelines modified to withdraw the HAI selecting 
antibiotics; the use of antibiotics audited by ward; and a 
cohort ward was established to isolate those patients with 
Clostridium Difficile infection. 

Since then, the Trust has been reviewing the infection 
prevention and control programme with investment in 
additional nursing staff and the appointment of a second 
Microbiologist with an interest in infectious diseases and 
a Consultant Nurse in Infection Control in May 2011. 

The Trust has undertaken a review of its decontamination 
policy with a new mattress policy to ensure that 
mattresses are continuously inspected, replaced and 
maintained.   A Decontamination Committee oversees 
local practice and dictates and implements best practice. 

The Trust embarked on a new programme of training for 
medical and nursing staff in 2011/12 to ensure that 
lessons so far learnt are reinforced so that the Trust can 
further reduce the number of unnecessary HAIs.  The 
PCT has set difficult targets for 2012/13 as follows: 

 Clostridium Difficile – hospital acquired – 30 cases 

 MRSA – hospital acquired – 1 case 

This will prove challenging for the Trust unless we can 
continue to improve upon the best practice we have 
achieved so far. In particular, through audit, the Trust has 
identified the increased use of antibiotics and through 
appropriate antibiotic stewardship and the vigilance of the 
antibiotic pharmacist, the Trust proposes to audit the use 
of antibiotics in real time and challenge poor practice.  
Other actions such as the reinforcement of the SMART 
guidelines are incorporated into an action plan, monitored 
by the Quality & Risk Committee 

 In 2011/12 the Trust experienced no sustained outbreaks 
of infectious diarrhoea due to Norovirus. 
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Dr Geoff Hunnam 

Medical Director 
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Priority 3:  Priority: Implement the National Veno-thromboembolism (VTE) Risk 

Assessment Tool 

What is Veno-thromboembolism (VTE) 

The House of Commons Health Committee (2005) 
reported that each year there are approximately 25,000 
deaths from hospital acquired venous thromboembolism 
(VTE) in the UK.  This is when blood clots form in 
peripheral veins and then disperse to the heart and lungs, 
where they cause severe compromise to the heart and 
lung function, and subsequently death.  VTE is largely 
preventable through risk-based screening and appropriate 
preventative mechanical and/or chemical interventions. 

In response to this, the independent working expert group 
on the prevention of venous thromboembolism in 
hospitalised patients (2007) reported its findings to the 
Department of Health, which published comprehensive 
guidance aimed at reducing greatly this risk to patients. 
These guidelines stress that each patient should have a 
VTE assessment undertaken on admission and 
periodically throughout the duration of hospitalisation 
because their risk might change; ideally reassessment 
every 48 to 72 hours. 

The Epidemiologic International Day for the Evaluation of 
Patients at Risk of VTE in the Acute Hospital Setting 
(ENDORSE) study of a total of 70,000 patients from 358 
hospitals across 32 counties revealed that only 40% of 
medical patients and 60% of surgical patients received 
appropriate thromboprophylaxis (Cohen et al 2008). 

Aim / Goal? 

To implement the national risk assessment tool for VTE 
and in particular to ensure that 95% of medical and 
surgical patients were assessed appropriately by quarter 
four of 2011/12. 

Outcome 

VTE Assessment by month 2011/12
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Source: QEH Information Team 

The Trust successfully achieved its target with 95.94% of 
all medical and surgical patients assessed appropriately in 
2011/12 and 96.89% appropriately assessed in Q4.   

How We Achieved Our Target? 

The Trust established a Thrombosis Committee in July 
2007 under the Chairmanship of one of our Clinical 
Haematologists, with the overall purpose of promoting 
and monitoring best practice. The new Trust policy for 
‘The Prevention of Venous Thromboembolism’ was 
modified in January 2010, defining those patients 
excluded from assessment and thromboprophyaxis, and 
disseminated throughout the Trust, supported by the 
national ‘Stop the Clot’ publicity launch and a local media 
campaign. 

Other initiatives included: 

 Thromboprophylaxis guidelines and anticoagulation 
management included in the junior doctors and nurses 
induction programme 

 Root cause analysis for all patients with VTE 
associated with their hospital re-admission and in 
whom no thromboprophylaxis  was prescribed 

 VTE assessment tool incorporated into the 
orthopaedic, surgical and medical clerking 
documentation. 

 Audit of practice (as outlined) 

 Easy reference VTE assessment tool leaflet distributed 
to all medical staff 

 New VTE assessment tool designed for obstetrics and 
for day surgery 

 Ward pharmacists monitored prescriptions and drug 
chart, with separate section for thromboprophylaxis, in 
accordance with guidelines 
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Priority 4: Reducing mortality from patients admitted with acute sepsis 

(infection) with the use of a standardised care bundle. 

What is sepsis? 

Sepsis is the term given to the body’s response to infection and it may be 
caused by a bacterial, viral, or fungal invasion (Steen 2009). Sepsis remains 
one of the most important challenges to modern day intensive care 
treatments (Griffiths 2007) 

Sepsis can, and often does, form a continuum and patients may continue to 
deteriorate leading to severe sepsis and septic shock. In these conditions one 
or more of the body’s major organs can become compromised.  

The mortality rate for patients with severe sepsis is still very poor ranging 
from 38% to 59%. However, early detection and intervention with specific 
therapies in the management of severe sepsis can help to reduce the 
mortality associated with the condition (Dellinger et al 2008). This was first 
identified by research completed by Rivers et al (2001) who described 
significant outcome improvements for patients with severe sepsis following 
implementation of a package of specific care compared to standard care. 

At the Trust we have implemented a series of interventions to ensure timely 
recognition, and then intervention, with an agreed package of care. In 
addition we are participating in a national research programme called 
Promise which aims to further our understanding of severe sepsis and its 
treatment and management.  

Aim / Goal? 

To ensure that patients with severe sepsis are recognised promptly and 
receive all the interventions within the agreed sepsis resuscitation care 
bundle, unless not deemed clinically appropriate. 

Outcome 

 

Source: QEH Information Team 

There has been a widespread communication and education programme 
across the Trust to ensure there is an increase in knowledge of severe 
sepsis, its recognition and treatment. Additionally there has been the 
introduction of several supportive strategies to enable timely care 
management and delivery. 

The Trust is the second best nationally for recruitment into the Promise 
research study demonstrating timely recognition of severe sepsis. In addition 
retrospective review of severe sepsis patients admitted has demonstrated 
that they are receiving the recognised package of care and management in 
100% of cases from quarter four 2011\12. 
 

How We Achieved Our Target? 

In order to recognise and manage 
patients with severe sepsis, the 
following strategies were adopted: 

 Education 

 Equipment 

 Engagement 
 

Education 

An extensive training programme to 
include all grades of the medical and 
nursing staff within the emergency 
access areas was established. This 
has been extended to include other 
acute areas within the Trust. The 
education is delivered in a number of 
different ways including formal 
teaching sessions, posters, informal 
question and answer sessions, 
written communication and bedside 
teaching. In addition, training was 
incorporated into formal external and 
internal courses delivered within the 
Trust such as the Ill Medical Patient 
Acute Care and Treatment (IMPACT) 
course.  

Engagement 

Support of key staff within the Trust 
was vital and forthcoming, with 
support from across the Trust.  
Clinical champions within key areas 
were identified to ensure a point of 
contact and maintain motivation. In 
addition we utilised the skills of the 
Research Sister based within critical 
care who provided support and 
expertise with education, care 
delivery and research project work. 

All key personnel also had training in 
effective communication, particularly 
related to participating in research 
and obtaining consent from patients.  

All progress was discussed and 
regular research meetings resulted in 
prompt review of any issues and 
actions required to deliver this 
objective. 

Any death from severe sepsis was 
reviewed at the weekly critical care 
mortality meetings and feedback 
given to the staff and teams involved 
to support learning and development. 
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Equipment 

As a Trust we introduced three designated ‘sepsis 
trolleys’ to the emergency access areas. These trolleys 
are equipped with all of the vital equipment, including 
antibiotics and information, required to identify and then 
treat sepsis, thereby reducing delay in treatment.  

Lactate is one of the first tests required in the initial 
identification of severe sepsis and so to ensure this was 
completed in a timely manner, the Trust introduced ‘point 
of care’ lactate monitors (at the bedside). These monitors 
have been on trial to the Trust since June 2011, and this 
Trust is only the second nationally to use this type of 
testing but the feedback is positive, both from the results 
and the practitioners using the monitors. The introduction 
of the lactate monitors has also reinforced the previous 
training programme. 
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Priority 5: Improve the management of the deteriorating patient by full 

completion of the Early Warning Score 

What is the Early Warning Score and will it improve patient care? 

The early warning score (EWS) is a simple guide used by the medical and 
nursing teams to quickly determine the risk of death of a patient. It is based 
on data derived from four physiological readings (systolic blood pressure, 
heart rate, respiratory rate, body temperature) plus other observations, 
such as urine output. 

The resulting observations are compared to a normal range to generate a 
single score which determines how seriously ill a patient is and whether the 
patient requires more intensive care. 

By introducing this score across the hospital, it is possible to detect 
deteriorating patients early and start treatment immediately. In addition, by 
also producing a standardised communication tool (SBAR), it is possible for 
staff to communicate assertively and effectively, reducing the risk of 
misinterpretation and the need for repetition. 

SBAR consists of a standardised prompt question with four sections, 
(Situation, Background, Assessment and Recommendation), to ensure staff 
are sharing concise and focused information and the urgency of the clinical 
situation is communicated rapidly and concisely.  

Aim / Goal? 

To improve the full completion of the EWS by 2%, based on last year’s 
outturn and to increase by 4% the number of patients who received 
appropriate and timely intervention when a trigger point was reached.   

Outcome 
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Source:  QEH Information Team 

The above graph shows the exceptionally high rates of EWS completed 
through the year. 

 

 

Board Sponsor 

Dr Geoff Hunnam 

Medical Director 

How We Achieved Our Target? 

The Trust completed the 
following tasks to achieve its 
goal of improving the 
management of the 
deteriorating patient: 

 Establishment of an ITU outreach 
team, available 9am to 9pm, seven 
days per week, led by a Consultant 
Nurse and supported by an ITU 
Consultant 

 Development of new procedures and 
policies with, in particular, the design 
of new observation charts with easy 
reference to EWS and the 
development of a SBAR tool 

 Inclusion of new fluid balance charts 
and VIP scores (for cannula induced 
thrombophlebitis) into the 
observation charts 

 Recording of observations 
incorporated in the work programme 
of the Productive Ward initiative and 
the reporting of the completion of 
patient observations as part of the 
monthly nursing indices, presented 
to Trust Board 

 ALERT training sessions for junior 
ward-based doctors and nurses 

 Number of cardiac arrests monitored 
per month (with plans to reduce the 
number of calls to the cardiac arrest 
team by improving the care of the 
deteriorating patient) 

 Number of calls to the ITU outreach 
team monitored per month 

 Mortality reviews of patients admitted 
to ITU, to establish any learning  
points 

 Review of the resuscitation 
procedures within the Trust with the 
purchase of new resuscitation 
equipment and review of the Trust’s 
Do Not Resuscitate Policy. 

Appointment of an additional 
Resuscitation Officer in 2011 to support 
the training of staff in the recognition 
and resuscitation of the deteriorating 
patient. 

 
 
 

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Blood_pressure
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Heart_rate
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Respiratory_rate
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Body_temperature
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Priority 6: Improving the outcomes in patients presenting with the acute 

coronary syndrome 

What is the Acute Coronary Syndrome? 

The acute coronary syndrome (ACS) encompass a 
spectrum of unstable coronary artery disease from 
unstable angina to transmural myocardial infarction. All 
have the same aetiology in the formation of thrombus on 
inflamed and complicated atheromatous plaque.  The 
principles behind the presentation, investigation and 
management of these syndromes are similar with 
important distinctions depending on the category of acute 
coronary syndrome. 

Patients with ACS continue to have a poor prognosis 
despite advances in modern therapies. In those admitted 
with presumed ACS, 36% will ultimately be diagnosed 
with myocardial infarction. The 30-day and 6-month 
mortality for patients admitted with ACS is particularly 
high in those with elevated levels of troponin (a cardiac 
marker).  

Appropriate triage, risk assessment and timely use of 
drugs or intervention are essential for the prevention of 
future adverse events. The development and 
implementation of a standardised care bundle, based on 
the appropriate application of NICE guidance (CG94 and 
95), is essential in improving the outcome for these 
patients. By characterising the disease entity (from 
uncomplicated ACS to myocardial infarction), appropriate 
management plans can be formulated for each patient, 
based on the underlying risk assessment and the results 
of the investigations.   

Aim / Goal? 

1. Agree a standardised care bundle for all patients 
presenting with ACS 

2. Audit compliance to the care bundle  

3. Reduce the HSMR (mortality rate) of patients 
presenting with ACS to 100 or less – an analysis of 
the mortality in patients presenting with ACS 
demonstrated that the Trust had a HSMR of 207.3 in 
2010.  

Outcome 

The graph opposite (blue line) below shows the marked 
decline in mortality rates for patients with Acute Coronary 
Syndrome.  A rolling 12 month period of HSMR is used 

 

 

 

Board Sponsor 

Dr Geoff Hunnam 

Medical Director 

How We Achieved Our Target? 

The following actions were implemented: 

 Development of a care bundle based on NICE 
guidance (CG94 and 95) by senior cardiologist, in 
consultation with the Cardiac Network and 
Papworth Hospital 

 Communication of the new care bundle to relevant 
clinicians by: 

1. Uploading the guidance on ACS and non-ST 
elevation and ST elevation myocardial infarction 
onto the intranet 

2. Training programme for all appropriate senior 
and junior doctors and specialist nurses  

3. Development of a proforma, based on the 
guidance and care bundle, which could be added to 
the medical notes 

4. Subsequently this proforma was incorporated 
into the medical clerking notes, when the clerking 
notes were reprinted 

5. All consultants were informed of the new care 
bundle via e-mail 

 Audit – compliance to this care bundle was 
monitored with regular audits of the notes and the 
enclosed proformas. Where the notes or proforma 
were incomplete, the proforma was highlighted to 
the responsible medical consultant for revision 

 Audit – formal presentation of the audit results to 
the Divisional Quality and Risk committee every 
three months  

 HMSR – monthly monitoring of the HSMR for ACS, 
escalating any alerts to the Clinical Outcomes 
Group. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

CQUIN 3 ACS MONTHLY HSMR 2011

0
50

100
150
200
250

May

10

to

Apr

11

Jun

10

to

May

11

Jul

10

to

Jun

11

Aug

10

to

Jul

11

Sep

10

to

Aug

11

Oct

10

to

Sep

11

Nov

10

to

oct

11

Dec

10

to

Nov

11

Jan

11

to

Dec

11

ACS
HSM
R 



The Queen Elizabeth Hospital  Annual Report and Accounts 2011/12    59 

 

Priority 7: Improving Access to Palliative Care Services 

Why the need to improve access to palliative care 
services? 

Over the last few years, a major drive has been underway 
to ensure that all dying patients, and their relatives and 
carers, receive a high standard of care in the last days 
and hours of their life.   

The Liverpool Care Pathway for the Dying Patient (LCP) 
is recognised as a model of best practice in the NHS 
Beacon Programme (2001) and it was recommended in 
the NICE guidance on supportive and palliative care for 
patients with cancer (2004) as a mechanism for 
identifying and addressing the needs of the dying patient.  
It was recommended in the Our Health, Our Care, Our 
Say white paper 2006, as a tool that should be rolled out 
across the country. 

LCP is an integrated care pathway that is used at the 
bedside to drive up sustained quality of the dying in the 
last hours and days of life and represents the best quality 
of care for the dying.  

 

 
By implementing the use of the LCP within the Trust 
locally, it was proposed that the care of dying patients 
would be improved.  However, the LCP is only as good as 
the clinical teams using it, and must be underpinned by 
robust education and training programmes.  As with other 
clinical guidelines and pathways, the LCP aims to support 
but does not replace clinical judgement. 

Aim / Goal? 

To improve the care of palliative care patients through the 
increased use of the LCP by the implementation of a 
training programme throughout the Trust for all ward 
based doctors and nurses, such that 80% of all 
appropriate doctors and nurses would be trained in the 
LCP usage. 

In addition, it was proposed that 90% of all patients who 
are expected to die within the Trust were cared for via the 
LCP.    

 
Outcome 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Source:  QEH Information Team 

How We Achieved Our Target? 

To achieve its objective, the Trust supported the following initiatives: 

 Review and redesign of the Trust’s pathway and 
proforma, to mirror the proposals inherent in the LCP 

 Appointment of a palliative care facilitator to assist 
with the training of the ward based staff and to 
ensure more patients are managed via the LCP 

  

 Establishment of targeted training sessions for the 
ward-based doctors and nurses 

 Promotion of the use of the LCP throughout the Trust 

 

Board Sponsor 

Dr Geoff Hunnam 

Medical Director 

 
 

LCP TRAINING 2011-2012

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Apr-1
1

M
ay

-1
1

Ju
n-1

1

Ju
l-1

1

Aug-
11

Se
p-1

1

Oct
-1

1

Nov-
11

Dec-
11

Ja
n-1

2

Fe
b-1

2

M
ar

-1
2

% trained



The Queen Elizabeth Hospital  Annual Report and Accounts 2011/12    60 

 

Priority 8: Reduce the number of falls and those falls causing injury through 

the implementation of Seven Simple Steps 

 
Why the need to implement the Seven Simple Steps? 

Between 30-50% of inpatient falls result in some injury, 
with 1%-3% resulting in fractures. For patients already ill 
enough to require hospitalisation, the likelihood of an 
injury resulting in death, disability, dependence or 
admission to institutional care is considerable. 

Although the toll on patients is most concerning, falls also 
extract an increasingly large cost on healthcare providers 
– financial consequences include direct treatment costs, 
increased length of stay, litigation and complaints. Even 
supposedly `no harm` falls can cause distress and 
anxiety to patients, their family members and healthcare 
staff, and may mark the beginning of a negative cycle 
where fear of falling leads  an older person to restrict his 
or her activity, with consequent further losses of strength 
and independence (Healey 2011) 

The size of the problem led in January 2011 to the 
National Patient Safety Agency issuing a rapid response 
alert `Essential care after an inpatient fall` which also 
made recommendations for clinical practice. 

The Seven Simple Steps is a programme  designed to 
ensure that seven simple measures are implemented at 

ward level that focus on reducing the risk of falling in high 
risk, vulnerable patients. 

Aim / Goal? 

Improvement in patient safety through reduction in the 
number of falls and the severity of harm experienced by 
patients in the Trust. To embed the concept of the `Seven 
Simple Steps` within daily practice, particularly focusing 
on high risk and vulnerable patients to achieve this goal. 

Outcome 

1. Seven Simple Steps has been introduced as part of the 
nursing documentation and supported through a 
training schedule across the organisation. 

2. Total number of inpatient falls: 

Although the total number of inpatients falling has 
remained at 1% year on year,  in 2011 there was an 
increase in activity of 13,243 bed days. This signifies a 
reduction in the number of falls per bed days within the 
Trust. 

 
3. During Quarter four after the actions had been 

introduced throughout,  the picture looked like this: 

  

Number of falls 
resulting in harm 
10/11 

Number of falls 
resulting in harm 
11/12 

Variance on 10/11 
same month 

Cumulative 
variance  

Quarterly % 
Change on 10/11 

Jan 46 36 -10 -10  

Feb 35 32 -3 -13  

Mar 52 33 -19 -32 -24% 

 

How We Achieved Our Target? 

Activity to reduce the number of falls is on-going and has so far included: 

 Taking a co-ordinated approach to falls prevention 
through the Falls Prevention group  

 Introduction of a Falls Prevention protocol based on the 
Seven Simple Steps to standardise and inform clinical 
practice 

 Using vehicles such as the `Patient Safety Express` 
programme and introduction of two hourly care rounds 
to promote fall prevention and Harm Free Care 

 

 Trend analysis and focused practice changes based on 
Root Cause Analysis of all falls with harm 

 Falls prevention training reviewed in line with Seven 
Steps and included in mandatory training from 2012  

Falls with harm included in reported monthly nursing 
indicators 
 
 
 
 

Board Sponsor 

Dr Geoff Hunnam 

Medical Director 
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Priority 9: Meeting the Nutritional Needs of Our Patients 

Aim / Goal? 

Improving the number of patients admitted to hospital having a 

nutritional assessment using the Malnutrition Universal Screening 

Tool (MUST) within 24 hours with 90% achievement at year end. 

Outcome 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Source: QEH Clinical audit team 

As can be seen from the above table, the Trust’s MUST recording 

has improved greatly since it has been part of the Productive 

Ward audit process.  The criteria used by the Trust is possibly 

stricter than that used in some other areas who use 24 hours of 

admission as opposed to 12 hours. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Source: QEH Clinical audit team 

 

How We Achieved Our Target? 

All patients admitted to The Queen Elizabeth 
Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust, are 
required to have a nutritional assessment 
undertaken within 12 hours of admission. 

This assessment is undertaken by completion of 
the Trust’s MUST tool which is used for the initial 
assessment and all subsequent assessments of 
a patient’s nutritional status.  A patient’s 
nutritional status is re-assessed weekly whilst in 
hospital, or more frequently if a patient’s 
condition determines this.  Following 
assessment, a score is calculated and this 
determines the actions required e.g. monitoring 
of dietary intake, referral to dietician, support and 
administration of specialised diets.  All registered 
nurses who use the tool in clinical practice have 
received training in its use and training is also 
available for new registered nurses on 
commencement with the Trust.  The Practice 
Development team, in conjunction with the 
dietetics department, has developed a teaching 
package that has been used for all registered 
nurses who undertake these assessments.  To 
further support the understanding of the tool, 
staff are also able to access on-line training 
tools. 

The use of the MUST tool is assessed on a 
monthly basis by nursing indicators undertaken 
by each ward area and actions are in place to 
ensure that the standard is maintained. The Trust 
is introducing new combined documentation of 
medical, nursing and AHP staff in April 2012 and 
this includes the MUST tool as part of the 
assessments within the documentation pack. 

Responsibility for the assessment and recording 
of the MUST score is that of the registered nurse 
in charge of the patient, but the onus for 
checking that these are completed is the 
responsibility of the ward sister / charge nurse. 

The MUST score is checked as part of the 
Productive Ward audits.  Ten sets of patient 
notes are audited on each ward every month to 
determine whether various observations are 
being correctly recorded and at this time the 
auditor checks whether the MUST score has 
been carried out within 12 hours of the patient 
being admitted to the Trust and weekly 
thereafter.   

The Trust Quality Strategy 2010-11 CQUIN 2 
was 'To improve responsiveness to the personal 
needs of patients' it is also a key factor in 
reducing length of stay. 

Board Sponsor 

Gwyneth Wilson 

Nursing Director 

The following graph depicts the overall scores by Ward over the 12 month period. 
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Priority 10: Access to Services for Children in A&E 

 
Why the need to improve access to Children’s 
services in A&E? 

Up to half of infants aged <12months and 25% of older 
children will attend an emergency department at least 
once in an average year. 

Over recent years a variety of national documents have 
identified that children should be cared for in 
environments that are specifically designed for their 
needs. The staff are required to have specific paediatric 
clinical competencies and play facilities and play 
specialists are seen as an important part of the child’s 
treatment and recovery. This pertains to all areas 
including A&E. 

Outcome 

The patient journey for a child will vary, dependent on the 
mode of referral, with all GP referred patients attending 
the PAU (Paediatric Assessment Unit). 

Patient satisfaction 

 The PAU works to EOE standards for Paediatric 
Assessment Units with a patient satisfaction of 
96%.Overall the Children’s pathway had a patient/parent 
satisfaction of 86% in 2011-12.  

Children are accommodated /treated in the Children’s 
area in A&E  which has a child friendly environment, and 
the PAU is part of the Rudham ward area, with access to 
play facilities for patients/siblings. 

Specialist staff 

All PAU staff are Paediatric trained and have appropriate 
competencies for the area. 

Within the A&E department there are six wte Paediatric 
nurses to ensure that there is a Paediatric nurse on all 
shifts. 

Dept 2010-11 

Attendances 

2011-12 

Attendances 

A&E 11,175 10,530 

PAU 1,297 1,702 

 

Activity 

Although the A&E attendances have decreased from last 
year, the attendances for the PAU have increased. 

60% of the children are discharged home with patient 
information, treatment and possibly a follow up 
appointment. 

How We Achieved Our Target? 

 Reviewed opening /closing times of the Paediatric 
Assessment Unit after analysing attendance times 

 Timely review of patients by medical and nursing staff 

 Audit of length of time for investigation results e.g. 
bloods to ensure that delays are kept to a minimum 

 Ensuring that staff are appropriately qualified and have 
the correct skills 

 Competency tools developed for staff in different areas 

 Patient satisfaction audits – action plans to target 
weaknesses 

 Patient information to prevent readmission 

 Follow up phone calls for children attending PAU 

 Health visitor follow up for priority patients 

 Safeguarding review of attendances 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Board Sponsor 

Gwyneth Wilson 

Director of Nursing 
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How We Faired Against National Targets 
 
This section of our Quality Accounts provides information on our compliance with national standards and targets, 
locally derived quality targets (not covered elsewhere) and CQUIN schemes.  At the time of writing the national 
thresholds for some of the targets were unavailable and therefore local targets have been used. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CARE QUALITY COMMISSION – NATIONAL PRIORITIES AND EXISTING COMMITMENTS 

National Priorities Current YTD National 

Targets Target Actual YTD RAG 

C.diff (In-Hospital) 37 41 March Failed  

MRSA (Total) 1 1 March Achieved  

Cancer 2WW GP Referral to 
first screen 

93% 96.10% February  Achieved  

Cancer 31-Day (Diagnosis to 
treatment, all new cancers) 

96% 98.30% February Achieved  

Cancer 31-Day (All 
subsequent cancer 
treatments) 

94% 99.60% February Achieved  

Cancer 62-Day National 
Screening Programme 

90% 97.80% February Achieved  

Cancer 62-Day (Urgent GP 
referral to treatment, all 
cancers) 

85% 86.60% February Achieved  

18 Week (Admitted %) 90% 90.30% March Achieved  

18 Week (Non-Admitted %) 95% 98.20% March Achieved  

Quality of Stroke Care (% 
stay on Stroke Ward) 

90% 75.50% February (Single 
Month) 

Failed  

   
 
 
 

  

National Priorities Current YTD National 

Targets Target Actual YTD RAG 

A&E 4-hour 95% 95.20% March Achieved   

Rapid Access Chest Pain 
(RACP) 

98% 100% March Achieved  

Cancelled Operations 0.80% 1.10% March Under 
Achieved 

 

Delayed Transfers of Care 7.50% 1.70% March Achieved  

Access to genito-urinary 
medicine (GUM) clinics 

98% 100% March Achieved  
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Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) 
 
This year saw the continuation of CQUIN schemes.  These are agreed between the Trust and the PCT and carry a 
financial value of 1.5% of the contract.  The aim is to achieve a substantial level of improvement in the agreed aspects 
of quality. 
 
We agreed 10 CQUIN schemes with NHS Norfolk for 2011/12. Our performance against these is outlined in the table 
below. 
 
The quarterly position below shows the status of the indicator tasks which were measured on a quarterly basis.  Pass 
is where we have met a numerical indicator target and achieved is where a process target (such as setting up a 
service) was met. 
 
 

Indicator 
No 

Indicator Name 
Q1 
position 

Q2 
position 

Q3 position 
Q4 Expected 
Position 

1 VTE Risk Assessment Pass Pass Pass Pass 

2 
Composite indicator on 

responsiveness to personal needs 
from the Adult Inpatient Survey 

N\A – 
expected 

Q4 

N\A – 
expected 

Q4 

N\A – expected 
Q4 

Failed 

3 Acute Coronary Syndrome N/A N/A Pass Pass 

4 Sepsis Bundle  Achieved Achieved Pass Pass 

5 End of Life care Pass Pass Pass Pass 

6 Children’s Services Achieved Achieved 

Currently part 
achieved 

(querying with 
commissioner) 

Pass 

7 EWS - Response to trigger Pass Pass Pass Pass 

8 Staying safe, preventing falls  Achieved Achieved Achieved Pass 

9 Electronic discharge Achieved Achieved Achieved Achieved 

10 
Keeping nourished, getting better 

(MUST tool) 
Achieved Pass Pass Pass 

 
 
 

2012/13 Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) 
 
The developing of CQUINs for 2012/13 is a joint task between the Trust and Commissioners.  An initial list of ideas 
was compiled between the Trust and Commissioners and then through consultation with Trust Governors, medical 
staff and the West Norfolk Clinical Commissioning Group. The list has been refined to the below.  Final agreement will 
now be sought from both the Trust and Commissioners. 
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The priorities being considered in 2012/13 with NHS Norfolk are:- 
 

Goal 
No 

Indicator Name & 
summary of targets 

20% process, 80% 
outcomes 

Description of Goal 

 

Quality 
Domain(s) 1 

National or 
Regional 

Indicator 2 

1 VTE Risk Assessment  To reduce avoidable death, disability and 
chronic ill health from Venous-
thromboembolism (VTE) 

Safety Nationally 
mandated 

2 Composite indicator on 
responsiveness to 
personal needs from the 
Adult Inpatient Survey 

To improve responsiveness to personal needs 
of patients 

Patient 
Experience 

Nationally 
mandated 

3 NHS Safety 
Thermometer 

 

The collection of data on patient harm using 
the NHS Safety Thermometer harm 
measurement instrument 

Patient safety Nationally 
mandated 

4a Dementia 
Dementia screening 

 
Patient safety 

Patient 
experience 

Nationally 
mandated 

4b Dementia 
Dementia risk assessment 

 
Patient safety 

Patient 
experience 

Nationally 
mandated 

4c Dementia Referral for specialist diagnosis 

 

Patient safety 

Patient 
experience 

Nationally 
mandated 

5 Diagnosed 
Dementia/Learning 
Disabilities 

To be worked through  Effectiveness 
Patient 
experience 

Local 

6 Net promoter Patient satisfaction 

“How likely is it that you would recommend 
this service to friends and family? 

Patient 
experience 

Regionally 
mandated 

7 Sharing data re violent 
crime 

To share data with the local Crime and 
Disorder Reduction Partnerships (CDRPs) in 
accordance with DH Home Office Guidance in 
an effort to work collaboratively on the 
reduction of alcohol related crime and knife 
crime. 

Effectiveness Local 

8 Domestic Violence To recruit an A&E Hospital Independent 
Domestic Violence Advocate (IDVA) 

Patient Safety 
Local 

9 Chronic Obstructive 
Pulmonary Disease 
(COPD) care bundle 

Reduce HSMR level across the year 
alongside developing and rolling out improved 
care packages for patients with COPD. 

Effectiveness 
Local 

10 Frequently admitted 
Patients 

Develop a CQUIN to analyse and develop 
action plans to address the issues with 
frequent attendees to A & E or frequent 
admitters 

Effectiveness 
Local 

 

                                                
1 Safety / Effectiveness / Experience / Innovation 
2 Nationally mandated / Regionally mandated/ Regionally suggested/ No 
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There will also be a health system wide CQUIN that is aimed at reducing emergency admissions into hospital while 
promoting better community care. 
 
Stakeholder Feedback 
 
The Trust requested feedback from a number of stakeholder organisations. Due to the lateness of the request from the 
Trust for comments, some stakeholders were unable to respond within the timescales required for publication in the 
document. 
 

Primary Care Trust Statement 
 
NHS Norfolk and Waveney statement for  
the Queen Elizabeth Hospital Kings Lynn NHS 
Foundation Trust (QEHKLFT) Quality Account 
2011/12  
 
NHS Norfolk and Waveney, as lead commissioner for the 
Trust, is pleased to support the Queen Elizabeth Hospital 
Kings Lynn NHS FT in its publication of a Quality Account 
for 2011/12.  
 
As required in statute we have reviewed the mandatory 
data within this account and can confirm that it is 
consistent with that known to NHS Norfolk and Waveney.  
 
The quality account provides a balanced summary of the 
outcomes achieved and highlights successes as well as 
noting areas where further improvements are required to 
meet targets. We look forward to the inclusion of an 
update on achievements in these areas in next year’s 
Quality Account.  
 
NHS Norfolk and Waveney is pleased to acknowledge the 
structures put in place to both implement the Quality 
Strategy and monitor its progress. We are particularly 
pleased to confirm the successes in the continued 
reduction of the mortality rate (HSMR) through a variety 
of activities including the introduction of the Sepsis and 
the Acute Coronary Syndrome care bundles.  
 
We support the Trust in its target of continued 
improvement in these areas. The rate of completed risk 
assessments for venous thromboembolism (VTE) has 
also continued to improve and reflects the commitment of 
staff to improve the quality of care they deliver.  
 
The Trust has also continued to focus on improving end 
of life care by ensuring that more patients are cared for 
via the Liverpool Care Pathway and increasing 
compliance through completion of the Early Warning 
Score. NHS Norfolk and Waveney acknowledge the 
continued improvements in these areas.  
 
One of the priorities for the Trust in 2010/11 was to 
improve the management of emergency admissions by 
redesigning emergency care pathways. However this was 
not fully achieved during the year.  
 
NHS Norfolk and Waveney are therefore pleased to 
acknowledge the work undertaken in 2011/12 with the 
Emergency Care Intensive Support Team (ECIST) and 
the positive changes that have been implemented as a 
result. This includes opening a larger short stay ward and 
improving the flow of patients through the Medical 
Assessment Unit.  
 
 

 
 
 
The Trust’s programme of peer reviews and audits of 
wards and clinical areas has continued throughout the 
year and has been welcomed by patients, staff, governors 
and management alike. Improvements have been evident 
and the most recent CQC report is reflective of the hard 
work undertaken. It is worthy of note that the new 
integrated patient care record is due to be launched on 28 
May 2012.  
 
Collaborative engagement between NHS Norfolk and 
Waveney and the Trust in delivering the agreed quality 
improvement scheme (CQUIN) was successful and 
although is not possible to verify all outcomes at this 
stage, the scheme is anticipated to have produced 
measurable improvements.  
 
Through a variety of sources including the national 
inpatient survey and the net promoter tool, the Trust has 
gained valuable feedback from patients and their families 
and has now established active monitoring mechanisms.  
 
It is clear from the inpatient survey results that significant 
improvements are required and NHS Norfolk and 
Waveney are pleased to acknowledge the implementation 
of iCARE, a programme designed to improve patient 
experience. We look forward to the inclusion of an update 
on achievements in these areas in next year’s Quality 
Account.  
 
The Trust has clearly defined the priorities for 2012/13 
and we fully endorse the quality improvements that have 
been prioritised. However, we would also highlight the 
following priorities for 2012/13, from the Innovation Health 
and Wealth, Accelerating Adoption and Diffusion in the 
NHS document, published in December 2011, as 
compliance with the high impact innovations becomes a 
pre-qualification requirement for CQUIN from April 2013.  
 
These are:  
 

 Rapidly accelerate the use of assistive technologies  
 

 Utilise fluid management monitoring technology  
 

 Transform the delivery of wheelchair services  
 

 Reduce inappropriate face-to-face contacts  
 

 Services to support people with dementia are in line 
with NICE-SCIE guidance  
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As commissioners, we would also highlight the following 
priority areas for 2012/13:  
 

 Compliance with the National Stroke Strategy  
 

 Ambulance handover and turnaround times  
 

 Discharge processes to facilitate flow  
 
NHS Norfolk and Waveney has appreciated the continued 
support of the quality review meetings which are vital in 
assuring the local population that services contracted 
from the Trust are safe and of good quality. They enable 
discussions to take place concerning new initiatives and 
current thinking and practice. They also facilitate 
challenges regarding current performance.  
 
This has been a year in which the Trust has 
demonstrated improvements in many areas and the 
coming year should see further developments which will 
maintain closer working with social care and community 
services. We look forward to working alongside the Trust 
in supporting these initiatives in the coming year.  
 
Andrew Morgan  
Chief Executive Officer  
NHS Norfolk & Waveney 
 
 

Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee Statement 
 
The Norfolk Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s 
policy is not to comment on any of Norfolk NHS Trusts’ 
Quality Accounts. 

 
Governors’ Consideration of the Quality 
Account 
 
At its meeting on 1 May 2012 the Governors received the 
Trust’s Draft Quality Account.  At a meeting on 15 May 
2012 the Governor’s; 
 

 Revisited the Trust’s Quality priorities for 2011/12 and 
its performance in delivering related aims and goals.  
The Governors considered appropriate performance 
indicators and supporting evidence, assurances and 
initiatives. 
 

 Noted that the Trust had delivered against nine of the 
teb indicators – the exception being the nationally 
mandated CQUIN on improving its score on the In-
Patient Survey outcomes. 
 

 Considered and supported the draft CQUIN proposals 
for 2012/13. 

 
In accordance with a regulatory requirement for 
Foundation Trusts in respect of Data Quality, the 
Governors’ Council agreed that the Trust’s locally agreed 
indicators subject to external audit would be C Difficile 
and a CQUINs target in relation to Acute Coronary 
Syndrome (ACS). 
 
 

Trust Statement 
 
We welcome the comments from NHS Norfolk (PCT) 
on our Quality Account 2011/12. 
 
We are very encouraged by the fact that all of our key 
stakeholders believed the scope for our Quality Accounts 
was comprehensive and that there were no additional 
areas to include.  However, from the feedback we 
recognise that in subsequent years we must look at 
whether a different presentation might be helpful in some 
of the areas. 
 
We now look forward to continuing to work closely with 
our stakeholders to improve the quality of healthcare that 
we provide. 
 
2011/12 STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ 
RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE QUALITY 
REPORT 
 
The Directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and 
the National Health Services (Quality Accounts) 
Regulations 2010 to prepare Quality Accounts for each 
financial year.  Monitor has issued guidance to NHS 
foundation trust boards on the form and content of the 
Quality Reports (which incorporate the above legal 
requirements) and on the arrangements that foundation 
trust boards should put in place to support the data 
quality for the preparation of the Quality Report. 
 
In preparing the Quality Report, Directors are required to 
take steps to satisfy themselves that: 
 

 The content of the Quality Report meets the 
requirements set out in the NHS Foundation Trust 
Annual Reporting Manual; 

 

 The content of the Quality Report is consistent with 
internal and external sources of information including: 
 

- Board minutes and papers for the period April 2011 
to March 2012 
 

- Papers relating to Quality Report to the Board over 
the period April 2011 to March 2012 
 

- Feedback from Commissioners dated 28/05/2012 
 

- Feedback from Governors dated 14/05/2012 
 

- Feedback from LINks dated not received 
 

- The 2011 national patient survey 
 

- The 2011 national staff survey 
 

- 2011-2012 CQC quality and risk profiles. 
 

 The Quality Report presents a balanced picture of the 
NHS foundation trust’s performance over the period 
covered; 
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 The performance information reported in the Quality 
Report is reliable and accurate: 
 

 There are proper internal controls over the collection 
and reporting of the measures of performance included 
in the Quality Report, and these controls are subject to 
review to confirm that they are working effectively in 
practice; 
 

 The data underpinning the measures of performance 
reported in the Quality Report is robust and reliable; 
conforms to specified data quality standards and 
prescribed definitions; is subject to appropriate scrutiny 
and review; and the Quality Report has been prepared 
in accordance with Monitor’s annual reporting guidance 
(which incorporates the Quality Accounts regulations 
published at http://www.monitor-
nhsft.gov.uk/annualreportingmanual) as well as the 
stands to support data quality for the preparation of the 
Quality Report (available at http://www.monitor-
nhsft.gov.uk/annualreportingmanual ). 

 
The Directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and 
belief they have complied with the above requirements in 
preparing the Quality Report. 
 
By order of the Board 
 

 
   

 Chairman                                              Date 28 May 2012 
 
 
 
 

 
Chief Executive                                     Date 28 May 2012   

 

 

Independent Auditor’s Report to the 
Board of Governors of The Queen 
Elizabeth Hospital, King’s Lynn, NHS 
Foundation Trust on the Annual Quality 
Report  
 
We have been engaged by the Board of Governors of 
The Queen Elizabeth Hospital, King’s Lynn NHS 
Foundation Trust to perform an independent assurance 
engagement in respect of The Queen Elizabeth Hospital, 
King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust’s Quality Report for 
the year ended 31 March 2012 (the “Quality Report”) and 
certain performance indicators contained therein.  
  
Scope and subject matter  
The indicators for the year ended 31 March 2012 subject 
to limited assurance consist of the national priority 
indicators as mandated by Monitor:  
 

 C Difficile; and  

 Maximum waiting time of 62 days from urgent GP 

referral to first treatment for all cancers 

We refer to these national priority indicators collectively 
as the “indicators”. 

Respective responsibilities of the Directors and 
Auditors  
The Directors are responsible for the content and the 
preparation of the Quality Report in accordance with the 
criteria set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual issued by the Independent Regulator of 
NHS Foundation Trusts (“Monitor”).  
 
Our responsibility is to form a conclusion, based on limited 
assurance procedures, on whether anything has come to 
our attention that causes us to believe that:  
 

 the Quality Report is not prepared in all material 

respects in line with the criteria set out in the NHS 

Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 

 the Quality Report is not consistent in all material 

respects with the sources specified below; and  

 the indicators in the Quality Report identified as having 

been the subject of limited assurance in the Quality 

Report are not reasonably stated in all material 

respects in accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust 

Annual Reporting Manual and the six dimensions of 

data quality set out in the Detailed Guidance for 

External Assurance on Quality Reports 

 

http://www.monitor-nhsft.gov.uk/annualreportingmanual
http://www.monitor-nhsft.gov.uk/annualreportingmanual
http://www.monitor-nhsft.gov.uk/annualreportingmanual
http://www.monitor-nhsft.gov.uk/annualreportingmanual
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We read the Quality Report and considered whether it 
addresses the content requirements of the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual, and 
considered the implications for our report if we became 
aware of any material omissions.  
 
We read the other information contained in the Quality 
Report and consider whether it is materially inconsistent 
with the sources specified below.  The sources with which 
we shall be required to form a conclusion as to the 
consistency of the Quality Report are limited to:   
 

 Board minutes for the period April 2011 to June 2012  

 Papers relating to Quality reported to the Board over 
the period April 2011 to June 2012 

 The Trust’s complaints report published under 
regulation 18 of the Local Authority Social Services and 
NHS Complaints Regulations 2009, dated January 
2012 

 The 2011 national patient survey completed  July 2011 

 The 2011 national staff survey completed  April 2012 

 Care Quality Commission quality and risk profiles dated 
February 2012; and 

 The Head of Internal Audit’s annual opinion over the 
Trust’s control environment dated April 2012 

The following sources of information were not available to 
the auditors during the review of the Quality Report, and 
as such have not been considered: 
 

 Feedback from the Commissioners; and 

 Feedback from LINks. 

We consider the implications for our report if we become 
aware of any apparent misstatements or material 
inconsistencies with those documents (collectively the 
“documents”). Our responsibilities do not extend to any 
other information.  
 
We are in compliance with the applicable independence 
and competency requirements of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (ICAEW) 
Code of Ethics. Our team comprised assurance 
practitioners and relevant subject matter experts.  
 
This report, including the conclusion, has been prepared 
solely for the Board of Governors of The Queen Elizabeth 
Hospital, King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust as a body, to 
assist the Board of Governors in reporting The Queen 
Elizabeth Hospital, King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust’s 
quality agenda, performance and activities.  
 
We permit the disclosure of this report within the Annual 
Report for the year ended 31 March 2012, to enable the 
Board of Governors to demonstrate that is has 
discharged its governance responsibilities by 
commissioning an independent assurance report in 
connection with the indicators.  

To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or 
assume responsibility to anyone other than the Board of 
Governors as a body and The Queen Elizabeth Hospital, 
King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust for our work on this 
report save where terms are expressly agreed and with 
our prior consent in writing.  
 
Assurance work performed  
We conducted this limited assurance engagement in 
accordance with International Standard on Assurance 
Engagements 3000 (Revised) – ‘Assurance 
Engagements other than Audits or Reviews of Historical 
Financial Information’ issued by the International Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board (‘ISAE 3000’).  
 
Our limited assurance procedures included: 
  

 Evaluating the design and implementation of the key 
processes and controls for managing and reporting the 
indicators;  
 

 Making enquiries of management 
 

 Testing key management controls 
 

 Analytical procedures 
 

 Limited testing, on a selective basis, of the data used 
to calculate the indicator back to supporting 
documentation 
 

 Comparing the content requirements of the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual to the 
categories reported in the Quality Report; and  
 

 Reading the documents 

 
A limited assurance engagement is less in scope than a 
reasonable assurance engagement. The nature, timing 
and extent of procedures for gathering sufficient 
appropriate evidence are deliberately limited relative to a 
reasonable assurance engagement.  
 
Limitations  
Non-financial performance information is subject to more 
inherent limitations than financial information, given the 
characteristics of the subject matter and the methods 
used for determining such information.  
 
The absence of a significant body of established practice 
on which to draw allows for the selection of different but 
acceptable measurement techniques which can result in 
materially different measurements and can impact 
comparability. The precision of different measurement 
techniques may also vary. Furthermore, the nature and 
methods used to determine such information, as well as 
the measurement criteria and the precision thereof, may 
change over time. It is important to read the Quality 
Report in the context of the criteria set out in the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual.  
 
The nature, form and content required of Quality Reports 
are determined by Monitor. This may result in the 
omission of information relevant to other users, for 
example for the purpose of comparing the results of 
different NHS Foundation Trusts.  
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Conclusion  
Based on the results of our procedures, nothing has 
come to our attention that causes us to believe that, for 
the year ended 31 March 2012:  
 

 the Quality Report is not prepared in all material 
respects in line with the criteria set out in the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual except that 
feedback from LINks and Commissioners has not been 
received 

 the Quality Report is not consistent in all material 
respects with the sources specified as available; and  

 the indicators in the Quality Report identified as having 
been the subject of limited assurance in the Quality 
Report are not reasonably stated in all material 
respects in accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust 
Annual Reporting Manual and the six dimensions of 
data quality set out in the Detailed Guidance for 
External Assurance on Quality Reports. 

 
 
KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor 
Chartered Accountants  
6 Lower Brook Street 
Ipswich  
IP4 1AP 
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Operating and Financial  
Review 
 
Summary Financial Report 
 
This annual report has been prepared to reflect the activities and financial position 
of The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust for the period 

up until 31 March 2012. 
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On 1 February 2011, The Queen Elizabeth Hospital 
King’s Lynn NHS FT became a Foundation Trust and as 
a result, the prior year accounts relate to the last two 
months of the year only. 

The Trust recorded a financial risk rating of 2 (amber-red) 
for the first two quarters of 2011-12 and a financial risk 
rating of 3 for the final two quarters. The financial risk 
rating overall for the year was a 3. The Trust achieved a 
surplus for the year of just over £1m. This was £1m lower 
than original plan. 

Our underlying plan shortfall was a result of under 
delivery against the planned £7.6m efficiency savings 
programme for the year by £1.8m. Actions to improve 
elective inpatient capacity in the final quarter of the year 
ensured that we still delivered a surplus of just over a 
£1m against the original plan of £2m. 

In January 2012 as a result of under delivery against our 
financial plan in the first two quarters together with non-
financial performance issues highlighted elsewhere in this 
report, Monitor placed us in breach of two terms of our 
authorisation, namely; 

a) Condition 2: the general duty to exercise its functions 
effectively, efficiently   and economically; and 

b) Condition 5: its governance duty 

As a direct consequence external audit has also qualified 
its opinion on the Trust’s Use of Resources. 

In the context of variance to plan over the first half of the 
financial year the Board engaged external support from 
KPMG to; 

 Identify and develop ideas for 2012-13 cost 

improvement initiatives and beyond 

 Support the implementation of delivery plans for 

selected schemes 

 Develop key Trust staff in their ability to generate and 

deliver cost improvement projects and future business 

opportunities 

 Support and strengthen the Trust’s Programme 

Management Office (PMO) capability 

The Board has also reviewed its financial governance 
arrangements to ensure the Trust in a sound and 
sustainable financial position in what is a challenging 
financial climate for all NHS organisations as we continue 
to need to make significant efficiencies whilst delivering 
high quality services. 

Income and Expenditure 

The income that the Trust generated related primarily to 
the patient services provided at The Queen Elizabeth 
Hospital in King’s Lynn and came predominantly through 
service arrangements with our primary PCTs, NHS 
Norfolk, NHS Cambridgeshire and NHS Lincolnshire. The 
form of these service arrangements was based largely on 
the national Payment by Results tariff. 

The number of emergency patients continued to increase 
in 2011/12 (activity levels were 3.7% higher than in 
2010/11) and provided significant operational challenges 
for the Trust. The additional activity led to higher than 
planned front-line costs. The emergency activity cap 
continues in 2011/12, which means the Trust only 
receives 30% of the national tariff for emergency activity 
above 2008/09 levels. The impact of the cap reduced the 
Trust’s income (and surplus) by £5.3m and impacted on 
the Trust’s ability to deliver its elective activity plan in full. 

The number of outpatients seen by the Trust was 1.3% 
higher than in 2010/11.  

Whilst significant effort went into delivering efficiencies as 
highlighted earlier, the Trust under delivered against its 
savings plan for the year. As a consequence, increases in 
income driven by activity increases were more than offset 
by higher than planned levels of both pay and non-pay 
expenditure. 

Going Forward 

The Trust faces a very challenging year ahead, although 
the budgeted income for the Trust remains broadly static, 
the expected rise in activity and costs leaves the Trust 
with a savings target of £10.2m. A full programme of 
savings schemes has been developed to deliver our 
planned surplus. 

The key focus for the Trust during 2012/13 is to rapidly 
implement initiatives which put the organisation on a 
financially sustainable footing, enabling us to continue to 
invest in the hospital infrastructure,  continually achieve 
national quality standards and improve the quality of 
services provided. This includes refreshing our longer 
term business plan to ensure we adapt our services to 
continue to meet the health needs of the local population. 

We made no significant changes to accounting policies 
during the year 

Going Concern 

The Board of Directors assessed the business against a 
range of events and conditions that could either 
individually or collectively cast doubt on a going concern 
assumption. The Board confirmed that, taking the known 
risks and uncertainties into account, it was deemed 
appropriate for the Trust’s accounts to be prepared on a 
‘going concern’ basis. 
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Better Payment Practice Code 

The Better Payments Practice Code requires that all valid 
invoices should be paid by their due date or within 30 
days of receipt, whichever is later. Our performance for 
2011/12 is presented below, measured in terms of both 
the number and value of invoices received, against an 
NHS target to pay over 95 per cent of trade creditors in 
accordance with the Code.  

 

 

 Number £ 

NHS Suppliers   

Total invoices paid to target 1,511 16,173,509 

Total invoiced paid 1,596 17,045,572 

% paid within target 95% 95% 

Non NHS Suppliers   

Total invoices paid to target 36,949 41,684,053 

Total invoiced paid 39,026 45,837,157 

% paid within target 95% 91% 

 

The Trust can confirm that it has complied with the cost 
allocation and charging requirements set out in HM 
Treasury and Office of Public sector Information 
guidance. 
 
So far as the Directors are aware, there is no relevant 
audit information of which the auditors are unaware. Each 
Director has taken all of the steps that they ought to have 
taken as a Director in order to make themselves aware of 
any relevant audit information and to establish that the 
auditors are aware of that information.  
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FOREWORD TO THE ACCOUNTS 
THE QUEEN ELIZABETH HOSPITAL KING’S LYNN NHS FOUNDATION TRUST 

 
These accounts for the year ended 31 March 2012, have been prepared by the Board of Directors of The Queen 

Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust in accordance with paragraphs 24 and 25 of schedule 7 to the 
National Health Service Act 2006, and in accordance with directions made by Monitor, the Independent Regulator of 

NHS Foundation Trusts 

 
 
Patricia Wright - Chief Executive                                             Date: 28th May 2012 
 
 
 
Statement of the chief executive's responsibilities as the accounting officer of the Queen Elizabeth Hospital 
Kings Lynn NHS Foundation Trust 
 
The NHS Act 2006 states that the chief executive is the accounting officer of the NHS foundation trust. The relevant 
responsibilities of the accounting officer, including their responsibility for the propriety and regularity of public finances 
for which they are answerable, and for the keeping of proper accounts, are set out in the NHS Foundation Trust 
Accounting Officer Memorandum issued by the Independent Regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts (“Monitor”).  
 
Under the NHS Act 2006, Monitor has directed The Queen Elizabeth Hospital Kings Lynn NHS Foundation Trust to 
prepare for each financial year a statement of accounts in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. 
The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of The Queen 
Elizabeth Hospital Kings Lynn NHS Foundation Trust and of its income and expenditure, total recognised gains and 
losses and cash flows for the financial year.  
 
In preparing the accounts, the Accounting Officer is required to comply with the requirements of the NHS Foundation 
Trust Annual Reporting Manual and in particular to:  
 
• observe the Accounts Direction issued by Monitor, including the relevant accounting and disclosure requirements, 
and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis;  
 
• make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;  
 
• state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 
have been followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in the financial statements; and  
 
• prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.  
 
The accounting officer is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy 
at any time the financial position of the NHS Foundation Trust and to enable her to ensure that the accounts comply 
with requirements outlined in the above mentioned Act. The Accounting Officer is also responsible for safeguarding the 
assets of the NHS Foundation Trust and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud 
and other irregularities.  
 
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out in Monitor's NHS 
Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum.  
 

 
 
Patricia Wright - Chief Executive                                             Date: 28th May 2012 
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE ACCOUNTS 
 
 
 
The Directors are required under the National Health Service Act 2006, as directed by Monitor, the Independent 
Regulator for NHS Foundation Trusts, to prepare accounts for each financial year. 
 
Monitor, with the approval of HM Treasury, directs that these accounts shall show, and give a true and fair view of the 
NHS Foundation Trust's income and expenditure, gains and losses, cash flow and financial state at the end of the 
financial year. Monitor further directs that the accounts shall meet the requirements of the NHS foundation trust Annual 
Reporting Manual that is in force for the relevant financial year, which shall be agreed by HM Treasury. 
 
In preparing these Accounts, the Directors are required to: 
• apply on a consistent basis, for all items considered material in relation to the accounts, accounting policies 
contained in the NHS Annual Reporting Manual issued by Monitor; 
• make judgements and estimates which are reasonable and prudent; and ensure the application of all relevant 
accounting standards, and adherence to International Financial Reporting Standards for companies to the extent that 
they are meaningful and appropriate to the NHS, subject to any material departures being disclosed and explained in 
the accounts. 
 
The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose, with reasonable accuracy, at any 
time the financial position of the Trust. This is to ensure proper financial procedures are followed, and that accounting 
records are maintained in a form suited to the requirements of effective management, as well as in the form prescribed 
for the published accounts. 
 
The Directors are also responsible for safeguarding all assets of the Trust, including taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
 
The Directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief, that they have complied with the above requirement in 
preparing the Accounts. 
 
 
By Order Of The Board Of Directors 
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Annual Governance Statement to 31 March 2012 
 
The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust 
 
 
1. Scope of responsibility 
 
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control that supports the 
achievement of the NHS foundation trust’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and 
departmental assets for which I am personally responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me.  I 
am also responsible for ensuring that the NHS foundation trust is administered prudently and economically and that 
resources are applied efficiently and effectively. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in the NHS 
Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum.  
 
 
2. The purpose of the system of internal control 
 
The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all risk of 
failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of 
effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an on-going process designed to identify and prioritise the 
risks to the achievement of the policies, aims and objectives of The Queen Elizabeth Hospital Kings Lynn NHS 
Foundation Trust, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and 
to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. The system of internal control has been in place in The 
Queen Elizabeth Hospital Kings Lynn NHS Foundation Trust for the year ended 31 March 2012 and up to the date of 
approval of the annual report and accounts.  
 
 
3. Capacity to handle risk 
 
The Trust has a Risk Management Strategy which is reviewed and updated annually, it provides a framework for 
managing risk and clearly lays out the delegation of responsibility to Executive Directors, managers, clinicians, and 
staff as appropriate. Executive Directors have been delegated responsibility for specific areas of risk management. 
The Director of Nursing is responsible for co-ordinating the management of organisational and clinical risk. The 
Director of Finance is responsible for the management of financial risk and for ensuring there are sound systems of 
financial control in place. The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for ensuring that risk management is integral to 
the corporate planning processes.  
 
Internal audit undertook a review of the risk management system and issued a ‘good’ opinion. 
 
The Committee structure of the Trust ensures risks are regularly reviewed and appropriately managed. The Trust’s 
high level operational risks are reviewed monthly by the Committees.  Staff are provided with risk management training 
and each ward or department has a designated risk champion. There is a range of Trust Policies available on the 
Trust’s Intranet that describe the roles and responsibilities in relation to the identification and management of risk. The 
risk scoring matrix and risk assessment procedure have been embedded to ensure that there is a consistent approach 
to both assessing and prioritising risk. 
 
The Trust learns from good practice through internal audits, clinical audits, performance management, peer reviews, 
continuing professional development, incidents and complaints.  There are specialist advisors in place to continually 
develop policies and procedures, and to provide advice to managers and staff. 
 
 
4. The risk and control framework 
 
Board Assurance Framework and Risk Register 
 
The Board of Directors agrees and monitors the Board Assurance Framework and the high scoring risks on the risk 
register.  The Board Assurance Framework sets out the principle risks to the delivery of the Trust’s strategic 
objectives. Each risk has a lead Executive Director assigned to it and details the controls in place to mitigate against 
the risk. Any gaps in controls are highlighted through this process allowing management action to be taken.  The 
Board agrees targets risk ratings for all strategic risks  and assesses residual risk against its key strategic aims once 
assurance is received that effective internal controls are in place. 
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Each division or department has a risk register which they review and update monthly.  All high scoring risks are 
included on the Trust’s central risk register. Risks are scored using a matrix system that takes account of the likelihood 
and impact of the risk if it were realised. 
 
The Trust continues to focus on managing the risks relating to data security.  The Board of Directors has overall 
responsibility and has nominated a Director to fulfil the role of Senior Information Risk Officer (SIRO). 
 
The Trust submitted its Department of Health Information Governance (IG) Toolkit in March 2012.  This evidenced the 
Trust’s compliance with IG standards, achieving a score of 92% and a green rating.  Internal audit also undertook a 
review of the systems and processes supporting the Trust’s submission and issued an opinion of ‘good assurance’. 
 
The Trust’s main operational risks include: 
 
• The IT Infrastructure is in need of replacement or major upgrade; the network is in need of replacement and the 
patient administration system requires a major upgrade. Work is underway to address the issues in the 2012/13 
financial year. 
• The main hospital building is showing signs of wear; significant investment is required to be made in the main 
infrastructure. The buildings are continually monitored for changes in their condition and plans are being developed to 
undertake the necessary repairs via the Trust’s backlog maintenance programme. 
 
The Trust’s key risks for the future include :- 
 
• If emergency activity continues to increase at current trend rates  the Trust’s profitability will be negatively impacted 
The Trust is working very closely with the PCT and other providers to deliver QIPP demand reduction schemes and 
performance will be monitored by the Finance and Investment Committee. 
• The Health and Social Care Act 2012 will impact the Trust as the commissioning of its services will fall to GP 
Commissioners and patients will be given more choice about where and what treatment they receive. However, the 
actual impact on the services that the hospital provides will not become clear until the commissioning groups are fully 
operational and all elements of the Act are implemented.  
• Delivery of CIP plans – KPMG were engaged during the year to support the business sustainability programme of 
the Trust. Their recommendations have contributed to the Trust’s cost improvement programmes. Robust programme 
management protocols have been set up which detail clear accountability for delivery.  Performance is being 
monitored through regular programme, project and divisional management meetings. 
• The stretching C-diff ceiling for 2012/13 will be challenging. There is a rigorous plan in place to deliver further 
improvements to reduce avoidable infections still further.  The Board monitors performance against the trajectory 
throughout the year and made improvements in infection control during 2011/12. 
 
The Queen Elizabeth Hospital NHS Foundation Trust is compliant with all Essential Standard Outcomes apart from 
Outcome 21 – Records, where the CQC raised a moderate concern in January 2012. The Trust has implemented 
actions to address the issues and awaits re-inspection.   
 
Committee Structure 
 
The Board had three committee reporting directly to it, namely the Healthcare Governance Committee, the Audit 
Committee and the Finance and Investment Committee. 
 
During 2011/12, the Board reviewed its corporate governance arrangements and committee structure to support its 
focus on Quality, Risk and Efficiency. The work of the former Healthcare Governance Committee, that reported to the 
Board, was split between two new committees, namely the Quality and Risk and Performance and Standards 
Committees. 
 
The Quality and Risk Committee reports to the Board. This Committee monitors all high scoring quality risks. The 
Clinical Governance Committee (a sub-committee of the Quality and Risk Committee) and the Capacity and 
Infrastructure Committee also monitor risks relevant to their associated areas of the organisation, thereby ensuring all 
organisational risks are reported into a committee that has a reporting chain through to the Board, through the 
escalation of risk by exception. 
 
 
The Finance and Investment Committee also reports to the Board. This committee monitors and reviews the adequacy 
of the Trust’s financial risk assessments, assumptions, sensitivities, mitigation plans and contingencies. 
 
The Audit Committee reports to the Board. It receives reports from Internal Audit including the Counter Fraud service. 
Internal Audit agrees an annual plan with the Audit Committee. The work includes identifying and evaluating controls 
and testing their effectiveness, in accordance with NHS Internal Auditing Standards. Reports emanating from the 
reviews are submitted to the Audit Committee, where recommendations are made and action plans are agreed with 
managers. The recommendations and agreed actions are put onto the Outstanding Actions Database which is 
maintained by Internal Audit, updated by managers and reported back to the Audit Committee for monitoring. 
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The Audit Committee receives reports from external audit, including the annual management letter and other reports 
agreed as part of their annual plan. 
 
The Audit Committee also receives the minutes and other key reporting records of the Board’s Committees, and 
undertakes periodic reviews of the efficacy of the assurances provided to the Board by its committees. 
 
Information risk is managed through the Information Governance Committee, which reports into the Capacity and 
Infrastructure Committee. The Trust assessed compliance with the requirements of the Connecting for Health 
Information Governance (IG) Toolkit, and signed the annual IG statement of compliance in March 2012. It assessed 
itself as green with a compliance score of 92% which is a pre-requisite of unconditional registration with the Care 
Quality Commission. There have been no serious incidents that require disclosure in relation to personal data. 
 
Public and Staff 
 
The public are involved in the risk management process within the Trust through their involvement in the Readers 
Panel and the Patient Experience Committee of the Governors’ Council (PEC).   The Governors’ Council itself also 
reviews quality and financial risk as part of its statutory duty to hold the Board of Directors accountable for the Trust 
remaining within the terms of its authorisation. 
Staff are expected to provide safe clinical practice, report incidents, accidents and potential hazards, be familiar with 
the Trust’s Risk Management Strategy and departmental risk issues, comply with all Trust policies and procedures and 
take reasonable care of their own safety and the safety of others. There was an inspection by the Health and Safety 
Executive in May 2011. No improvement notices were issued as a result of this inspection. An action plan was 
compiled following the inspection and all actions are on track for completion by May 2012. Each specialty undergoes 
an annual review where a panel assesses evidence that the Trust’s clinical governance standards are being adhered 
to. 
 
A considerable amount of work and training is undertaken throughout the year, to ensure continuous improvements 
are made to the robustness of the Trust’s business continuity plans, ensuring they are aligned across departments and 
with the organisation’s risks. 
 
As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension scheme, control measures are in place to 
ensure all employer obligations contained within the Scheme regulations are complied with.  This includes ensuring 
that deductions from salary, employer’s contributions and payments in to the Scheme are in accordance with the 
Scheme rules, and that member Pension Scheme records are accurately updated in accordance with the timescales 
detailed in the Regulations.  Internal audit conducted an audit of the Trust’s payroll systems and gave the opinion that 
satisfactory controls are in place. 
 
Control measures are in place to ensure that all the organisation's obligations under equality, diversity and human 
rights legislation were complied with. 
 
The foundation trust has undertaken risk assessments and Carbon Reduction Delivery Plans are in place in 
accordance with emergency preparedness and civil contingency requirements, as based on UKCIP 2009 weather 
projects, to ensure that this organisation’s obligations under the Climate Change Act and the Adaptation Reporting 
requirements are complied with. 
 
 
5. Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of resources 
 
Each year the Board of Directors agree budgets and plan targets that incorporate significant efficiency improvement 
requirements.  The delivery of those efficiency improvements has been monitored by the Trust’s Programme 
Management Office and latterly the Business Sustainability Programme Group and monthly meetings take place with 
Executive Directors to review performance.  A monthly performance report is also reviewed at the Finance and 
Investment Committee. 
 
The Board of Directors has specified within the Standing Financial Instructions and the Scheme of Delegation, the 
appropriate delegated authority levels throughout the Trust.  Executive Directors and managers have responsibility for 
the effective management and deployment of their staff and other resources to optimise the efficiency of each division. 
 
The Board of Directors receives both performance and financial reports at each of its meetings and receives reports 
from the chairs of its committees, to which it has delegated powers and responsibilities.  In addition, from time to time 
the Board receives further assurance from benchmarking exercises. 
 
A non-executive Director of the Board chairs the Audit Committee with regular attendance by representatives from 
both the Trust’s internal and external auditors.  The Committee reviews and agrees audit plans with both internal and 
external auditors, focussing work on the areas of highest priority. 
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6. Annual Quality Report 
 
The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health Service (Quality Accounts) Regulations 
2010 to prepare Quality Accounts for each financial year.  Monitor has issued guidance to NHS foundation trust boards 
on the form and content of annual Quality Reports which incorporate the above legal requirements in the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual. 
 
We have presented our Quality Accounts as part of our Annual Report and Accounts based on a range of indicators 
that were agreed by the Board and that are monitored on a regular basis through Patient Experience and Patient 
Safety reports.  The Board of Directors is satisfied that the messages within the Quality Account accurately reflect the 
information that it has received on a regular basis.  The report has been shared with the Trust’s commissioners, 
governors, Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Norfolk LINks, all of whom have been given the opportunity 
to provide formal comment for publication within the report.  
 
The Board has taken assurance on the quality of data included in the report from the following sources: 
 
• Internal audit reports 
• Audit Commission review of the Quality Report and an audit of two data items. 
• The Information Governance Toolkit assessment 
• External benchmarking from Dr Foster and CHKS 
• Weekly performance reporting against KPI’s. 
 
The Quality Accounts process is led jointly by the Director of Performance and Informatics, the Medical Director and 
the Director of Nursing. 
 
 
7. Review of effectiveness 
 
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control. My review 
of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of the internal auditors, clinical audit and 
the executive managers and clinical leads within the NHS foundation trust who have responsibility for the development 
and maintenance of the internal control framework. I have drawn on the content of the quality report attached to this 
Annual report and other performance information available to me. My review is also informed by comments made by 
the external auditors in their management letter and other 25 internal audit reports. I have been advised on the 
implications of the result of my review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control by the board, the Audit 
Committee and Healthcare Governance Committee and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous 
improvement of the system is in place.  
 
My review is informed in a number of ways. The head of internal audit provides me with an opinion on the overall 
arrangements for gaining assurance through the Assurance Framework and on the controls reviewed as part of the 
internal audit work. Although the focus of internal audit work is on internal controls, risk management and governance, 
there have been a number of assignments that have reviewed economy, effectiveness and efficiency of the processes 
within other departments including Human Resources and Purchasing.  Internal Audit also reviewed the Board 
Assurance Framework giving the opinion that good controls are in place. During the year, 25 internal audits were 
conducted in total and two of those audits, relating to Bank and Agency and A&E Data Quality, concluded that the 
controls in place provided only limited assurance. A follow up review has been undertaken of Bank and Agency which 
was given satisfactory opinion. One audit, namely Network Penetration Testing, was given an unacceptable opinion 
during the year. Robust management action plans and follow up audits have been agreed to address the risks and 
control weaknesses identified within each audit.  
 
The overall level of assurance given by the Head of Internal Audit is significant. 
 
As detailed above, the Board, its committees and sub-committees have a key role in maintaining and reviewing the 
effectiveness of the system of internal control. 
 
I also gain assurance from executive managers within the organisation, who have responsibility for the development 
and maintenance of the system of internal control. The Board has received regular reports on risk, performance and 
clinical governance.  
 
The Assurance Framework itself provides me with evidence that, the effectiveness of controls that manage the risks to 
the organisation achieving its principal objectives have been reviewed.  
 
My review is also informed by recommendations made by the external auditors in their management letter and other 
reports; the review mechanisms in place for the risk register, reviews undertaken by the Care Quality Commission and 
NHS Litigation Authority along with the declaration of compliance with core standards made to the Care Quality 
Commission. 
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With the exception of Outcome 21 – Records, the Trust was, in 2012, assessed as compliant with the outcomes of all 
CQC standards and is unconditionally registered with the Care Quality Commission for the full range of services that it 
provides. 
 
The Trust was found to be in significant breach of its terms of authorisation during the year, due to missing its financial 
targets and receiving three compliance actions as a result of an inspection by the Care Quality Commission in August 
2011. The Trust developed and implemented action plans to address the issues and quickly resolved all three 
compliance actions to the satisfaction of the Care Quality Commission. 
 
The Trust missed its C-diff infection ceiling for the year by 4 cases as a result of two clusters of infections that occurred 
during the year. Tests show that there was no cross infection within the hospital. An action plan was developed and 
the PCT infection control team were invited to review the hospital’s processes and procedures. Their 
recommendations were included within the action plan which has been monitored by the board.  
 
The Trust underwent an assessment of its risk management standards by the NHS Litigation Authority in September 
2009 and was successful in achieving compliance at level two. The Clinical Negligence Scheme for Trusts undertook 
an assessment of Maternity Risk Management (CNST) standards in December 2009, the result of which was that 
maternity services maintained compliance at level one. 
 
Recommendations made in reports received from the external auditors have been agreed and action plans developed. 
 
I have been advised on the implications, of the result of my review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control 
by the Board, Audit Committee, Performance and Standards, Quality and Risk, Clinical Governance Committee, 
Capacity and Infrastructure Committee and Finance and Investment Committee. 
 
Plans are in place to address any weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the system. 
 
 
8. Conclusion 
 
There are no significant control issues which have been identified. 
 
 
 
 
 
Signed on behalf of the Board on 28th May 2012. 
 
 

 
 
Patricia Wright 
Chief Executive 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE COUNCIL OF GOVERNORS OF QUEEN ELIZABETH HOSPITAL 
KINGS LYNN NHS FOUNDATION TRUST 
 
We have audited the financial statements of Queen Elizabeth Hospital Kings Lynn NHS Foundation Trust for the year 
ended 31 March 2012 on pages 10 to 50. These financial statements have been prepared under applicable law and 
the accounting policies set out in the Statement of Accounting Policies.  
 
This report is made solely to the Council of Governors of Queen Elizabeth Hospital Kings Lynn NHS Foundation Trust 
in accordance with Schedule 10 of the National Health Service Act 2006.  Our audit work has been undertaken so that 
we might state to the Council of Governors of the Trust, as a body, those matters we are required to state to them in 
an auditor’s report and for no other purpose.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the Council of Governors of the Trust, as a body, for our audit work, for this report 
or for the opinions we have formed. 
 
Respective responsibilities of the accounting officer and the auditor 
 
As described more fully in the Statement of Accounting Officer’s Responsibilities on page 1 the accounting officer is 
responsible for the preparation of financial statements which give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit, 
and express an opinion on, the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on 
Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practice’s Board’s Ethical 
Standards for Auditors. 
 
Scope of the audit of the financial statements 
 
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give 
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or 
error. This includes an assessment of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Trust’s circumstances 
and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates 
made by the accounting officer and the overall presentation of the financial statements.  In addition we read all the 
financial and non-financial information in the annual report to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial 
statements. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the 
implications for our report. 
 
Opinion on financial statements 
 
In our opinion the financial statements: 
 

 give a true and fair view of the state of Queen Elizabeth Hospital Kings Lynn NHS Foundation Trust’s affairs 
as at 31 March 2012 and of its income and expenditure for the year then ended; and 
 

 have been prepared in accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2011/12.  
 
 

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Audit Code for NHS Foundation Trusts 
 
In our opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are 
prepared is consistent with the financial statements. 
 
Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
 
We have nothing to report where under the Audit Code for NHS Foundation Trusts we are required to report to you if, 
in our opinion, the Annual Governance Statement does not reflect the disclosure requirements set out in the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual, is misleading or is not consistent with our knowledge of the Trust and 
other information of which we are aware from our audit of the financial statements

 3
 

 
We are not required to assess, nor have we assessed, whether all risks and controls have been addressed by the 
Annual Governance Statement or that risks are satisfactorily addressed by internal controls. 
 
 
Qualified Certificate 
 
Under Section 62(1) of the National Health Service Act 2006 and the Audit Code for NHS Foundation Trusts 2011 we 
have a duty to satisfy ourselves that the Foundation Trust has made proper arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.  
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In January 2012 Monitor notified the Trust that it was in significant breach of its terms of authorisation due to 
underperformance against financial targets and as a result of an inspection by the Care Quality Commission. The 
actions taken by the Trust to mitigate the reasons for the breach are set out in the Chair and Chief Exec’s Statement 
along with a summary of progress made to date. 

As a result of these matters we are not able to conclude that the Trust made proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2012.  

We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts in accordance with the requirements of the National 
Health Service Act 2006 and the Audit Code for NHS Foundation Trusts issued by Monitor 
 

 
 
S Beavis  
For and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor 
 
Chartered Accountants                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       
6 Lower Brook Street 
Ipswich 
IP4 1AP                                                                                                                               
 
28 May 2012 
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE 
YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012  

 
2011/12 

2 Months to 31 March 
2011 (Restated) 

   £000  £000  

Income from patient activities 2 152,382 26,071 

Other operating income 2 12,635 1,986 

Operating Expenses  3 (161,800) (26,922) 

OPERATING SURPLUS   3,217 1,135 

FINANCE COSTS     

Finance Income 6 28 3 

Finance expense - financial liabilities 7 (203) (28) 

PDC Dividends payable  (1,992) (272) 

NET FINANCE COSTS  (2,167) (297) 

 
 
SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR 
 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

 1,050 838 

Revaluation gain 23 905 51 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  FOR THE 
YEAR/PERIOD 

  1,955 889 

    

    

The accounts for the year ended 31 March 2012 have been prepared in accordance with paragraphs 24 and 25 of 
schedule 7 to the National Health Service Act 2006. 

    

The notes on pages 14 to 49 form part of these accounts.   

    

All income and expenditure is derived from continuing operations   
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 
MARCH 2012   31 March 2012 

31 March 2011 
(Restated) 

   £000  £000  

Non-current assets     

Intangible assets 8 50 44 

Property, plant and equipment 9 73,192 69,352 

Trade and other receivables 12 865 764 

Total non-current assets   74,107 70,160 

Current assets     

Inventories 11 2,253 2,379 

Trade and other receivables 12 4,240 8,583 

Cash and cash equivalents 14 9,119  7,163 

Total current assets  15,612 18,125 

Current liabilities     

Trade and other payables 15 (11,734) (13,016) 

Borrowings 16 (1,424) (802) 

Provisions 19 (231) (124) 

Other liabilities 18 (140) (2,736) 

Total current liabilities   (13,529) (16,678) 

    

Total assets less current liabilities  76,190 71,607 

 
Non-current liabilities 

    

Borrowings 16 (6,912) (4,332) 

Provisions 19 (404) (403) 

Other liabilities 18 (568) (521) 

Total non-current liabilities  (7,884)  (5,256) 

      

Total assets employed  68,306 66,351 

 
Financed by (taxpayers' equity)     

Public Dividend Capital  44,812 44,812 

Revaluation reserve 23 14,091 13,779 

Donated Asset Reserve  0 0 

Income and expenditure reserve   9,403 7,760 

Total taxpayers' equity   68,306  66,351 

The financial statements on pages 10 to 46 were approved by the Board on 28 May 2012 and signed on its behalf by: 

  
Chief Executive  P.Wright                                                                                        Date 28 May 2012 
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  03A 03C 03D 03E 03I 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES 
IN TAXPAYERS' EQUITY AS 
AT 31 MARCH 2012 

Total 

Public 
Dividend 
Capital 

Revaluation 
Reserve 

Donated 
Assets 

Reserve 

Income and 
Expenditure 

Reserve 

  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  

Restated Taxpayers’ Equity 
at 
31 March 2011 

66,351 44,812 13,779 0 7,760 

Surplus for the Year 1,050 0 0 0 1,050  

Revaluation 905 0 905 0  0 

Other reserve movements 0  0  (593) 0  593 

Taxpayers' Equity at 31 
March 2012 

68,306 44,812 14,091 0 9,403 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

  03A 03C 03D 03E  03I 

STATEMENT OF 
CHANGES IN 
TAXPAYERS' EQUITY AS 
AT 31 MARCH 2011 

Total 

Public 
Dividend 
Capital 

Revaluation 
Reserve 

Donated 
Assets 

Reserve 

 
 
 
 
Other 
Reserves 

Income and 
Expenditure 

Reserve 

  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000 £000  

Taxpayers' Equity 1 
February 2011 

65,508 44,812 13,966 4,858 61 1,819 

Prior period adjustment 4 0 0 (4,858) (61) 4,915 

Restated Taxpayers’ 
Equity at 
1 February 2011 

65,512 44,812 13,966 0 0 6,734 

Surplus for the Year 839 0 0 0 0 839 

Revaluation 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Other reserve movements 0  0  (187) 0 0 187 

Taxpayers' Equity at 31 
March 2011 

66,351 44,812 13,779 0 0 7,760 
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    04A 04B 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 
MARCH 2012  

 
2011/12 

2 Months to 31 
March 2011 
(Restated) 

   £000  £000  

Cash flows from operating activities       

Operating surplus/(deficit)  3,217  1,135 

Depreciation and amortisation  4,976 818 

Donated asset income  (95) (50) 

(Increase)/Decrease in Trade and Other Receivables  4,233 (377) 

(Increase)/Decrease in Inventories  126 (83) 

Increase/(Decrease) in Trade and Other Payables  (4,012) 4,333 

Increase/(Decrease) in Provisions  95 (37) 

NET CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS  8,540 5,739 

Cash flows from investing activities     

Interest received  28 3 

PDC Dividend paid  (1,929) (918) 

Net cash used in investing activities  (1,901) (915) 

Cash flows from financing activities    

Loans received  4,000 0 

Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment  (7,782) (1,434) 

Loans repaid  (736) (371) 

Interest paid  (165) (82) 

Net cash used in financing activities  (4,683) (1,887) 

Net Increase in cash and cash equivalents  1,956 2,937 

Cash and Cash equivalents at start of the financial year/period  7,163 4,226 

Cash and Cash equivalents at the end of the financial 
year/period 

   9,119 7,163 
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 
  

 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

 Monitor has directed that the financial statements of NHS foundation trusts shall meet the accounting 
requirements of the FT ARM which shall be agreed with HM Treasury. Consequently, the following financial 
statements have been prepared in accordance with the FT ARM 2011/12 issued by Monitor. The accounting 
policies contained in that manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and HM Treasury‟s 
FReM to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to NHS foundation trusts. The accounting policies 
have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts. 

  

 Accounting convention 

 
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation 
of property, plant and equipment, and certain financial assets and financial liabilities. 

  

 Acquisitions and discontinued operations 

 

Activities are considered to be ‘acquired’ only if they are taken on from outside the public sector.  Activities are 
considered to be ‘discontinued’ only if they cease entirely.  They are not considered to be ‘discontinued’ if they 
transfer from one public sector body to another. 

  

 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty  

 

In the application of the Trust’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.  
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are 
considered to be relevant.  Actual results may differ from those estimates and the estimates and underlying 
assumptions are continually reviewed.  Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which 
the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if 
the revision affects both current and future periods. 

  

 Critical judgements in applying accounting policies 

 
There were no critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that management has made 
in the process of applying the Trust’s accounting policies. 

  

 Key sources of estimation uncertainty  

 

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at 
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year 
 

  

 

The Trust receives income under the NHS Injury Cost Recovery Scheme, designed to reclaim the cost of treating 
injured individuals to whom personal injury compensation has subsequently been paid e.g. by an insurer.  The 
Trust recognises the income when it receives notification from the Department of Work and Pension's 
Compensation Recovery Unit that the individual has lodged a compensation claim. The income is measured at the 
agreed tariff for the treatments provided to the injured individual, less a provision for unsuccessful compensation 
claims and doubtful debts. 
 
The Trust's land and buildings were revalued as at 1 April 2009 by the District Valuer, the valuer also assessed 
the lives of the buildings. The Trust used the BCIS All In Tender Price Index to revalue its buildings up to the 
balance sheet date, this resulted in a 4.1% (£1,759,000) impairment in the value of buildings. 
 
During 2011/12 and in line with trust policy, the Trust took advice from a valuer and as a result, has revalued 
buildings upwards by £905,000, the value of land remains unchanged. 
The preparation of the financial information in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and the reported amounts of income and 
expenses and of assets and liabilities. The estimates and assumptions are based on historical experience and 
other factors that are believed to be reasonable under all the circumstances. Actual results may vary from these 
estimates. The estimates and assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period 
of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust 
Financial Statements For The Year Ended 31 March 2012 

 

15 

 
Notes to the Accounts - 1. Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
 
future periods. The estimates and judgements that have had a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements are outlined below. 
 
Income estimates 
In measuring income for the year, management have taken account of all available  information. Income estimates 
that have been made have been based on actual information related to the financial year. Included in the income 
figure is an estimate for partial spells, i.e. patients undergoing treatment that is only partially complete at twelve 
midnight on 31 March. The number of partial spells for each specialty is taken and multiplied by the average 
specialty price and adjusted for the proportion of the spell which belongs to the current year. 
 
Expense accruals 
In estimating expenses that have not yet been charged for, management have made a realistic 
assessment based on costs actually incurred in the year to date, with a view to ensuring that no material items 
have been omitted. 
 
Provisions 
In accordance with the stated policy on provisions, management have used best estimates of the expenditure 
required to settle the obligations concerned, applying HM Treasury’s discount rate as stated, as appropriate. 
Management have also taken into account all available information for disputes and possible outcomes. 
 
Income 
 
Income in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs 
And is measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable. The main source of income for the Trust  
is contracts with commissioners in respect of healthcare services.  
 

 

Expenditure on employees benefits 
 
Expenditure is accounted for applying the accruals convention. 
 

 
Short-term employee benefits 
 

 

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received 
from employees. The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in 
the financial statements to the extent that employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.  

 

 
Pension costs  
NHS Pension Scheme  
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme. The scheme is an 
unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, general practices and other bodies, allowed under 
the direction of Secretary of State, in England and Wales. It is not possible for the NHS foundation trust to identify 
its share of the underlying scheme liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as a defined contribution 
scheme.  
Employers pension cost contributions are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.  
Additional pension liabilities arising from early retirements are not funded by the scheme except where the 
retirement is due to ill-health. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to the operating 
expenses at the time the trust commits itself to the retirement regardless of the method of payment. 
 

 
Corporation Tax  
 

 

The Trust is a Health Service Body within the meaning of s519A ICTA 1988 and accordingly in relation to 
specified activities of a Foundation Trust (s519 (3) to (8) ICTA 1988). None of the Trusts activities in the period are 
subject to a corporation tax liability. 
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Notes to the Accounts - 1. Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
Retirement benefit costs 
 

 

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme.  The scheme is an 
unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under 
the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that 
would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the 
scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participating in 
the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.   

  

 Other expenses 

 

Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. 
They are measured at the fair value of the consideration payable. 
 
Expenditure on other goods and services 
 

 

Expenditure on goods and services is recognised when, and to the extent that they have been received, and is   
Measured at the fair value of those goods and services. Expenditure is recognised in operating expenses 
Except where it results in the creation of a non-current assets such as property, plant and equipment. 
 

 Property, plant and equipment 

  

 
Recognition 
 

 
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if: 
 

 ● it is expected to be used for more than one financial year; 

 ● the cost of the item can be measured reliably; and 

 ● the item has cost of at least £5,000; or 

 

● Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, 
where the assets are functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated 
to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial control; or 

 
● Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their 
individual or collective cost. 

 

 

 

 

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset 
lives, the components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives. 
 
Depreciation 
 

 

Freehold land, properties under construction, and assets held for sale are not depreciated. 
 
Otherwise depreciation is charged to write off the costs or valuation of intangible non-current assets, less any 
residual value, over their estimated useful lives, in a manner that reflects the consumption of economic benefits or 
service potential of the assets.  The estimated useful life of an asset is the period over which the Trust expects to 
obtain economic benefits or service potential from the asset. This is specific to the Trust and may be shorter than 
the physical life of the asset itself. Estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed each year end, with the 
effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis.  Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over 
their estimated useful lives. 
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Notes to the Accounts - 1. Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

 
Valuation 
 

 

All property, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to 
acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of 
operating in the manner intended by management.  All assets are measured subsequently at fair value. 

 
Land and buildings used for the trust’s services or for administrative purposes are stated in the statement of 
financial position at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation less any  

 

subsequent accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 
Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are not materially different 
from those that would be determined at the end of the reporting period. Fair values are determined as follows: 
 

 Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use 

 Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost 
 

 

Until 31 March 2008, the depreciated replacement cost of specialised buildings has been estimated for an exact 
replacement of the asset in its present location.  HM Treasury has adopted a standard approach to depreciated 
replacement cost valuations based on modern equivalent assets and, where it would meet the location 
requirements of the service being provided, an alternative site can be valued.   

  

 

Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less any 
impairment loss.  Cost includes professional fees but not borrowing costs, which are recognised as expenses 
immediately, as allowed by IAS 23 for assets held at fair value.  Assets are revalued and depreciation commences 
when they are brought into use. 

  

 

Until 31 March 2008, fixtures and equipment were carried at replacement cost, as assessed by indexation and  
depreciation of historic cost.  From 1 April 2008 indexation has ceased.  The carrying value of existing assets at 
that date will be written off over their remaining useful lives and new fixtures and equipment are carried at 
depreciated historic cost as this is not considered to be materially different from fair value. 

  

 

An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an impairment for 
the same asset previously recognised in expenditure, in which case it is credited to expenditure to the extent of 
the decrease previously charged there.  A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value 
or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a 
balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure.  Impairment losses that arise from a clear 
consumption of economic benefit should be taken to expenditure. This is a change in accounting policy from 
previous years where all impairments were taken to the revaluation reserve to the extent that a balance was held 
for that asset and thereafter to expenditure. Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported 
as other comprehensive income in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
 
There were no impairments in the year to 31 March 2012, there was a revaluation of buildings of £904,000 which 
was taken to the revaluation reserve. 
 

 Subsequent expenditure 

 

Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost is 
capitalised.  Where subsequent expenditure restores the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is 
capitalised and any existing carrying value of the item replaced is written-out and charged to operating expenses. 

  

 

Intangible Assets   
 
Recognition 

 

Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are capable of sale separately from 
the rest of the trust’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights.  They are recognised only 
when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the trust; where 
the cost of the asset can be measured reliably, and where the cost is at least £5000.   

  

 

Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at fair value.  Software that is integral to the 
operating of hardware, for example an operating system, is capitalised as part of the relevant item of property, 
plant and equipment.  Software that is not integral to the operation of hardware, for example application software, 
is capitalised as an intangible asset.  Expenditure on research is not capitalised: it is recognised as an operating 
expense in the period in which it is incurred.  Internally-generated assets are recognised if, and only if, all of the 
following have been demonstrated: 
 

     ● the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use 
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 Notes to the Accounts - 1. Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
  ● the intention to complete the intangible asset and use it 

   ● the ability to sell or use the intangible asset 

   ● how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits or service potential 

 
  ● the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the intangible asset                      

and sell or use it 

 
  ● the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its  development 
 

 
Measurement 
 

 

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred 
from the date when the criteria above are initially met.  Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be 
recognised, the expenditure is recognised in the period in which it is incurred. 

  

 

Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at fair value by reference to an active market, or, where 
no active market exists, at amortised replacement cost (modern equivalent assets basis), indexed for relevant 
price increases, as a proxy for fair value.  Internally-developed software is held at historic cost to reflect the 
opposing effects of increases in development costs and technological advances.   

  

 
Amortisation  
 

 

Otherwise amortisation is charged to write off the costs or valuation of intangible non-current assets, less any 
residual value, over their estimated useful lives, in a manner that reflects the consumption of economic benefits or 
service potential of the assets.  The estimated useful life of an asset is the period over which the Trust expects to 
obtain economic benefits or service potential from the asset. This is specific to the Trust and may be shorter than 
the physical life of the asset itself. Estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed each year end, with the 
effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis.   
 

 
Donated assets 
 

 

Following the accounting policy change outlined in the Treasury FREM for 2011-12, a donated asset reserve is no 
longer maintained.  Donated non-current assets are capitalised at their fair value on receipt, with a matching credit 
to Income. They are valued, depreciated and impaired as described above for purchased assets. Gains and 
losses on revaluations, impairments and sales are as described above for purchased assets.  Deferred income is 
recognised only where conditions attached to the donation preclude immediate recognition of the gain. 
 
This accounting policy change has been applied retrospectively and consequently the 2010-11 results have been 
restated. 
 

 

Government grants 
 
Following the accounting policy change outlined in the Treasury FREM for 2011-12, a government grant reserve is 
no longer maintained.  The value of assets received by means of a government grant are credited directly to 
income.  Deferred income is recognised only where conditions attached to the grant preclude immediate 
recognition of the gain. 
 
This accounting policy change has been applied retrospectively and consequently the 2010-11 results have been 
restated. 
 
The Trust has made prior period adjustments to reflect the change in accounting treatment. The values held in 
both the Donated Asset Reserve (£4,859,000) and the Government Grant Reserve (£58,000) have been 
transferred to the Income and Expenditure Reserve. 
Furthermore the income recorded in relation to the depreciation on donated assets has been removed (£51,000) 
along with the realised element of the Government Grant (£6,000). 
A total of £49,000 relating to assets donated in year has been included as income within the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.  
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Notes to the Accounts - 1. Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
The net result of the adjustments to income within the Statement of Comprehensive Income is an overall decrease 
of £8,000. 
 

 Non-current assets held for sale 

 

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a 
sale transaction rather than through continuing use.  This condition is regarded as met when the sale is highly 
probable, the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition and management is committed to the 
sale, which is expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of 
classification.  Non-current assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their previous carrying amount and 
fair value less costs to sell.  Fair value is open market value including alternative uses. 

  

 

The profit or loss arising on disposal of an asset is the difference between the sale proceeds and the carrying 
amount and is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.  On disposal, the balance for the asset on 
the revaluation reserve is transferred to retained earnings. 
Property, plant and equipment that is to be scrapped or demolished does not qualify for recognition as held for 
sale.  Instead, it is retained as an operational asset and its economic life is adjusted.  The asset is de-recognised 
when it is scrapped or demolished. 

  

 Leases 

 
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred 
to the lessee.  All other leases are classified as operating leases. 

 
 
The Trust as lessee 

 Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease, at 
fair value or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease 
obligation to the lessor.  Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease 
obligation so as to achieve a constant rate on interest on the remaining balance of the liability.  Finance charges 
are recognised in calculating the trust’s surplus/deficit. 

  

 

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  Lease 
incentives are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term. 

  

 

Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually 
assessed as to whether they are operating or finance leases. This is a change in accounting policy from previous 
years where leased land was always treated as an operating lease this change is due to the adoption of 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).  

 
 
The Trust as lessor 

 

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the amount of the trust’s net 
investment in the leases.  Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant 
periodic rate of return on the trust’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases. 

 

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.  Initial direct 
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased 
asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

 Inventories 

 

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value using the weighted average cost formula.  This 
is considered to be a reasonable approximation to fair value due to the high turnover of stocks.  
 

 Cash and cash equivalents 

 

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more 
than 24 hours.  Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and 
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value, the Trust has no 
cash equivalents. 

  

 
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable 
on demand and that form an integral part of the Trust’s cash management. 
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Notes to the Accounts - 1. Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
Provisions 
 

 

Provisions are recognised when the Trust has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, 
it is probable that the Trust will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation.  The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required 
to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties.  Where a 
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its carrying amount is the present 
value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate of 2.2% in real terms. 
 

 

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third 
party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the 
amount of the receivable can be measured reliably. 
 

 

Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are recognised and measured as a provision.  An onerous 
contract is considered to exist where the Trust has a contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the 
obligations under the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received under it. 
 

 

A restructuring provision is recognised when the Trust has developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring 
and has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement 
the plan or announcing its main features to those affected by it.  The measurement of a restructuring provision 
includes only the direct expenditures arsing from the restructuring, which are those amounts that are both 
necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with ongoing activities of the entity. 
 

 Clinical negligence costs 

 

The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) operates a risk pooling scheme under which the trust pays an annual 
contribution to the NHSLA which in return settles all clinical negligence claims.  The contribution is charged to 
expenditure.  Although the NHSLA is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases the legal liability 
remains with the trust.  The total value of clinical negligence provisions carried by the NHSLA on behalf of the trust 
is disclosed at note 30.  

  

 Non-clinical risk pooling 

 

The Trust participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme.  Both are risk 
pooling schemes under which the trust pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and, in return, 
receives assistance with the costs of claims arising.  The annual membership contributions, and any excesses 
payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due. 

  

 
Contingencies 
 

 

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed 
only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of 
the trust, or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be required to 
settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured sufficiently reliably.  A contingent liability 
is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote.  

  

 

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the trust.  A 
contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.   
 
Where the time value of money is material, contingencies are disclosed at their present value. 
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Notes to the Accounts - 1. Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
Other financial liabilities 

After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, except for loans from Department of Health, which are carried at historic cost.  The effective interest 
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the life of the asset, to the net 
carrying amount of the financial liability.  Interest is recognised using the effective interest method. 
 

 Recognition  
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities which arise from contracts for the purchase or sale of non-financial 
items (such as goods or services), which are entered into in accordance with the Trust’s normal purchase, 
sale or usage requirements, are recognised when, and to the extent which, performance occurs i.e. when 
receipt or delivery of the goods or services is made.  
 
Financial assets are recognised when the Trust becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the 
case of trade receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are 
derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or the asset has been transferred. 
Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value.  
 
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment 
loss is reversed through expenditure to the extent that the carrying amount of the receivable at the date of the 
impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not 
been recognised. 
 
The Trust has no Financial guarantee contract liabilities. 
 
Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with 
embedded derivatives whose separate value cannot be ascertained, are treated as financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit and loss. They are held at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in the 
trusts surplus/deficit. The net gain or loss incorporates any interest payable on the financial liability.  
 
The Trust has no financial liabilities at fair value through the profit and loss. 
 
 
Financial assets or financial liabilities in respect of assets acquired or disposed of through finance leases are 
recognised and measured in accordance with the accounting policy for leases described above. 
All other financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Trust becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. 
 
De-recognition  
All financial assets are de-recognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired or 
the Trust has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership.  
Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.  
 
Classification and measurement  
Financial assets are categorised as [‘fair value through income and expenditure’,] loans and receivables.  
Financial liabilities are classified as fair value through income and expenditure. 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities at ‘fair value through income and expenditure’  
Financial assets and financial liabilities at ‘fair value through income and expenditure’ are financial assets or 
financial liabilities held for trading. A financial asset or financial liability is classified in this category if acquired 
principally for the purpose of selling in the short-term. Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading 
unless they are designated as hedges. [Derivatives which are embedded in other contracts but which are not 
‘closely-related’ to those contracts are separated-out from those contracts and measured in this category. 
Assets and liabilities in this category are classified as current assets and current liabilities.  
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Notes to the Accounts - 1. Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
These financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, with transaction costs 
expensed in the income and expenditure account. Subsequent movements in the fair value are recognised as 
gains or losses in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.]  
 
Loans and receivables  
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments with are not  
quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets.  
 
The trust’s loans and receivables comprise: cash and cash equivalents, NHS debtors, accrued income and 
other debtors.  
Loans and receivables are recognised initially at fair value, net of transactions costs, and are measured 
subsequently at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
discounts exactly estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or, when 
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.  
 
Interest on loans and receivables is calculated using the effective interest method and credited to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.  
 
Other financial liabilities  
 
All other financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and 
measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the 
rate that discounts exactly estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability or, 
when appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability.  
They are included in current liabilities except for amounts payable more than 12 months after the Statement of 
Financial Position date, which are classified as long-term liabilities.  
Interest on financial liabilities carried at amortised cost is calculated using the effective interest method and 
charged to Finance Costs. Interest on financial liabilities taken out to finance property, plant and equipment or 
intangible assets is not capitalised as part of the cost of those assets.  
 
Determination of fair value  
 
After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, except for loans from Department of Health, which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest 
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the life of the asset, to the net 
carrying amount of the financial liability. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method. 
 
Impairment of financial assets  
 
At the Statement of Financial Position date, the trust assesses whether any financial assets, other than those 
held at ‘fair value through income and expenditure’ are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and 
impairment losses are recognised if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or 
more events which occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of the asset.  
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows 
discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced directly.  
 
Other financial liabilities 
After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, except for loans from Department of Health, which are carried at historic cost.  The effective interest 
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the life of the asset, to the net 
carrying amount of the financial liability.  Interest is recognised using the effective interest method. 
 
 

 Value Added Tax 
 

 Most of the activities of the trust are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and 
input tax on purchases is not recoverable.  Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category 
or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets.  Where output tax is charged or input VAT is 
recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT. 
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Notes to the Accounts - 1. Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
Third party assets 
 

 Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in the 
accounts since the trust has no beneficial interest in them.  Details of third party assets are given in Note 25 to 
the accounts. 

  

  
Public Dividend Capital (PDC) and PDC dividend 
 

 Public dividend capital represents taxpayers’ equity in the NHS Foundation trust. At any time the Secretary of 
State can issue new PDC to, and require repayments of PDC from, the trust.  PDC is recorded at the value 
received.  As PDC is issued under legislation rather than under contract, it is not treated as an equity financial 
instrument. 

  

  
An annual charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the trust, is payable to the Department of Health as 
public dividend capital dividend.  The charge is calculated at the real rate set by HM Treasury (currently 3.5%) 
on the average carrying amount of all assets less liabilities, except for donated assets and cash balances with 
the Office of the Paymaster General.  The average carrying amount of assets is calculated as a simple 
average of opening and closing relevant net assets.  

  

 Losses and Special Payments 
 

 Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds 
for the health service or passed legislation.  By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise.  They 
are therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of payments.  They are 
divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.            

  

 Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals 
basis, including losses which would have been made good through insurance cover had NHS trusts not been 
bearing their own risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure). 
 

 Subsidiaries and Associates 

  

 The Trust has no associates. 
 

 HM Treasury has granted dispensation to the application of IAS 27 (revised) by NHS foundation trusts solely 
in relation to the consolidation of NHS charitable funds for 2011/12 and 2012/13. The disclosure requirements 
of the standard will, however, apply should the NHS charitable fund be considered to be a subsidiary of the 
NHS foundation trust. 

  

 Joint ventures 
 

 The Foundation Trust has no joint ventures 

  

 Joint operations 
 

 Joint operations are activities undertaken by the Trust in conjunction with one or more other parties but which 
are not performed through a separate entity. The Trust records its share of the income and expenditure; gains 
and losses; assets and liabilities; and cashflows. 

  
Research and Development 

 Research and development expenditure is charged against income in the year in which it is incurred, except 
insofar as development expenditure relates to a clearly defined project and the benefits of it can reasonably 
be regarded as assured.  Expenditure so deferred is limited to the value of future benefits expected and is 
amortised through the Operating Cost Statement on a systematic basis over the period expected to benefit 
from the project. It should be revalued on the basis of current cost. The amortisation is calculated on the same 
basis as depreciation, on a quarterly basis. 

  

 Segmental Analysis 
 

 The Board of Directors received reports as a single operating area, in line with IFRS 8 on Operating Segments 
it has therefore been assessed that the Trust continues to report its annual accounts on the basis that it 
operates in the healthcare segment only. The accompanying financial statements have consequently been 
prepared as a single operating segment. 
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Notes to the Accounts - 1. Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
 

 Accounting standards that have been issued but have not yet been adopted 
 

 IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures - amendment  
Transfers of financial assets  

October 
2010  

Effective date of 2012/13 but not yet adopted by 
the EU.  

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments  
Financial Assets:  
Financial Liabilities:  

November 
2009  
October 
2010  

Uncertain. Not likely to be adopted by the EU 
until the IASB has finished the rest of its financial 
instruments project.  

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial 
Statements  

May 2011  Effective date of 2013/14 but not yet adopted by 
the EU.  

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements  May 2011  Effective date of 2013/14 but not yet adopted by 
the EU.  

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in 
Other Entities  

May 2011  Effective date of 2013/14 but not yet adopted by 
the EU.  

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement  May 2011  Effective date of 2013/14 but not yet adopted by 
the EU.  

IAS 12 Income Taxes amendment  December 
2010  

Effective date of 2012/13 but not yet adopted by 
the EU.  

IAS 1 Presentation of financial 
statements, on other comprehensive 
income (OCI)  

June 2011  Effective date of 2013/14 but not yet adopted by 
the EU.  

IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements  May 2011  Effective date of 2013/14 but not yet adopted by 
the EU.  

IAS 28 Associates and joint ventures.  May 2011  Effective date of 2013/14 but not yet adopted by 
the EU.  

 

  

 Accounting standards issued that have been adopted early 
 

 The amendment to IFRS 8 Operating segments that was included in the April 2009 Improvements to IFRS has 
been adopted early. As a result, total assets are not reported by operating segment. 
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 

   

2.   Operating Income   

   

   

Note 2.1 OPERATING INCOME (by classification) 
2011/12 

2 Months to 31 
March 2011 
(Restated) 

 Total  Total  

Income from activities £000  £000  

Acute Trusts   

Elective Income 33,102 5,300 

Non elective income  51,631 10,139 

Outpatient income  31,739 5,270 

A & E income  5,240 738 

Other NHS clinical income  29,069 4,337 

Private patient income 910 164 

Other non-protected clinical income  691 123 

Total Income from activities 152,382 26,071 

Other Operating Income   

Education and training  5,078 961 

Charitable and other contributions to expenditure  320 87 

Non-patient care services to other bodies  791 143 

Other 6,446 777 

Profit on disposal of other tangible fixed assets   0 18 

Total Other Operating Income 12,635 1,986 

   

TOTAL OPERATING INCOME 165,017 28,057 

   

All income from activities and the income in respect of education and training arise from the provision of mandatory 
services set out in the Monitors terms of authorisation. Of the above income £152,069,817 is mandatory. 
 

The other operating income with the exception of education and training relate to the provision of non -protected 
services. 
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Notes to the Accounts - 2. Operating Income (Continued) 

 
Note 2.2 Private Patient Income 2011/12 Base Year 

 £000  £000  

Private patient income  910 1,096 

Total patient related income  152,495 75,865 

Proportion (as percentage) 0.60%  1.44% 

   

Section 44 of the National Health Service Act 2006 requires that the proportion of private patient income received by the 
NHS Foundation Trust must not exceed its proportion whilst the body was an NHS Trust in 2002/03 (the base year). The 
Trust was compliant with this in 2010/11 and 2011/12. Under the terms of the Foundation Trust’s authorisation the cap 
on private patient income is, as above, 1.44%. 

   

Note 2.3 Operating Lease Income 
2011/12 

2 Months to 
31 March 

2011  

 Total  Total  

 £000  £000  

Operating Lease Income   

Rents recognised as income in the period 5 5 

TOTAL  5 5 

Future minimum lease payments due:   

- not later than one year; 5 5 

- later than one year and not later than five years; 25 25 

- later than five years. 538 548 

TOTAL     568 578 

 
2.4 Operating segments 

 

 

Healthcare related activities are the only activity of the Trust, hence income is reported as one segment,.  
Given this the results for the segment are represented in the  Statement Of Financial Position. 
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Note 2.5 OPERATING INCOME (by type) 2011/12 

2 Months to 
31 March 

2011 
(Restated) 

 Total  Total 

 £000  £000  

Income from Patient Activities 0 0 

NHS Foundation Trusts  31 18 

Strategic Health Authorities  0 10 

Primary Care Trusts 150,750 25,739 

Non NHS: Private patients  910 164 

Non-NHS: Overseas patients (non-reciprocal)  11 17 

NHS injury scheme (was RTA) 583 110 

Non NHS: Other  97 13 

Total Income from Patient Activities 152,382 26,071 

Education and training  5,078 961 

Charitable and other contributions to expenditure  320 87 

Non-patient care services to other bodies  791 143 

Profit on disposal of other tangible fixed assets  0 18 

Other ** 6,446 777 

Total Other Operating Income 12,635 1,986 

TOTAL OPERATING INCOME  165,017 28,057 

 06M 06N 

 ** Analysis of Other Operating Income: Other 2011/12 

2 Months to 
31 March 

2011 
(Restated) 

 Total  Total  

  £000  

Car parking 830 129 

Staff recharges* 2,279 24 

Pharmacy sales 92 5 

Staff accommodation rentals 21 4 

Clinical tests 23 8 

Catering 404 66 

Property rentals 54 15 

Other 2,743 526 

Total 6,446 777 

 

*Staff recharges have been disclosed separately this year for the first time. During 2010.11 £319,499 of staff  
recharges were included within other income and education and training income 
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Note 3.1  OPERATING EXPENSES (by type) 

2011/12 

2 Months to 
31 March 

2011 
(Restated) 

 Total Total 

 £000  £000  

Services from NHS Foundation Trusts  194 70 

Services from NHS Trusts  2,799 735 

Purchase of healthcare from non NHS bodies 464 86 

Employee Expenses - Non-executive directors 72 9 

Employee Expenses - Staff 110,356 18,213 

Employee Expenses - Executive Directors 1,111 164 

Drug costs  12,415 1,974 

Supplies and services - clinical (excluding drug costs) 14,397 2,033 

Supplies and services - general  2,548 448 

Establishment  1,928 451 

Transport  591 95 

Premises  4,867 588 

Increase / (decrease) in bad debt provision (13) 5 

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 4,954 814 

Amortisation on intangible assets 22 4 

Audit fees –audit services statutory audit 48 28 

Non-audit fees – KPMG project support 391 0 

Clinical negligence  3,358 479 

Consultancy 45 0 

Training, courses and conferences 508 79 

Patient travel 52 8 

Car parking & Security 69 9 

Redundancy 39 0 

Hospitality  54 17 

Insurance 103 16 

Other services, eg external payroll 107 16 

Losses, ex gratia & special payments  2 80 

Other 319 501 

TOTAL  161,800 26,922 
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS     

     

Note 3.2 Employee Expenses 
2011/12 2011/12 2011/12 2 Months to 31 

March 2011) 

     

 Total Permanent Other Total 

 £000  £000  £000   

Salaries and wages 91,358 88,682 2,676 14,654 

Social security costs  7,152 6,942 210 1,210 

 
Employers contributions to NHS Pensions  

10,329 10,026 303 
1,686 

Agency/contract staff  2,698 0 2,698 836 

TOTAL  111,537 105,650 5,887 18,386 

     

 08K 08L 08M  

Note 3.3 Average Number of Employees (WTE 
basis) 

2011/12 2011/12 2011/12 2 Months to 31 
March 2011  

 Total Permanent Other Total 

 Number Number Number  

Medical and dental  339 339 0 333 

Administration and estates  467 456 11 456 

Healthcare assistants and other support staff  370 318 52 383 

Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff  825 799 26 815 

Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff  365 360 5 363 

Other 355 331 24 337 

TOTAL 2,721 2,603 118 2,687 

 08Q 08R   

Note 3.4 Employee Benefits In Kind 
2011/12 

2 Months to 
31 March 

2011  

  

 £000  £000   
 

TOTAL  6  1   
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Note 3.6 Staff exit packages 
 
The exit packages within this disclosure were made under local arrangements, treasury approval was not required. 
 
 
There were no redundancies during 2010/11. 

 

Note 3.5 Early Retirements due to ill health    
 

During the year there were 6 (Feb – March 2011: 1) early retirement from the NHS Trust agreed on the grounds of ill-
health. The estimated additional pension liability as a result of this is £353,386 (Feb – March 2011:£4,244). The cost 
of these ill-health retirements will be borne by the NHS Business Services Authority - Pensions Division. 

Exit package cost band No. compulsory 
redundancies 

Other Total number of 
exit packages 

Less £10,000 1 0 1 

£10,000-£25,000 2 0 2 

£25,001-£50,000 0 0 0 

Total number of exit 
packages by type 

3 0 3 

Total resource cost £39,258 0 £39,258 

Note 4. Pension costs 

 
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. Details of the benefits 
payable under these provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. The 
scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, GP practices -and other bodies, 
allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run 
in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. 
Therefore, the scheme is 
accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS Body of participating in the scheme is 
taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period. 
 
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those 
that would be determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that "the period 
between formal valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years". An outline of 
these follows: 
 
a) Full actuarial (funding) valuation 
 
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the scheme 
(taking into account its recent demographic experience), and to recommend the contribution rates. 
The last formal actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending 31 
March 2004. Consequently, a formal actuarial valuation would have been due for the year ending 31 March 2008. 
However, formal actuarial valuations for unfunded public service schemes have been suspended by HM Treasury 
on value for money grounds while consideration is given to recent changes to public service pensions, and while 
future scheme terms are developed as part of the reforms to public service pension provision. Employer and 
employee contribution rates are currently being determined under the new scheme design. 
 
b) Accounting valuation 
 
A valuation of the scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary as at the end of the reporting 
period. Actuarial assessments are undertaken in intervening years between formal valuations using updated 
membership data are accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. However, as the 
interval since the last formal valuation now exceeds four years, the valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 
2012, is based on detailed membership data as at 31 March 2010 updated to 31 March 2012 with summary global 
member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in lAS 19, 
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relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used. 
 
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the scheme actuary report, which forms part of 
the annual NHS Pension Scheme (England and Wales) Pension Accounts, published annually. These accounts can 
be viewed on the NHS Pensions website. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office. 
 
c) Scheme provisions 
 
The NHS Pension Scheme provided defined benefits, which are summarised below. This list is an illustrative guide 
only, and is not intended to detail all the benefits provided by the Scheme or the specific conditions that must be met 
before these benefits can be obtained: 
 
The Scheme is a "final salary" scheme. Annual pensions are normally based on 1/80th for the 1995 section and of 
the best of the last three years pensionable pay for each year of service, and 1/60th for the 2008 section of 
reckonable pay per year of membership. Members who are practitioners as defined by the Scheme Regulations 
have their annual pensions based upon total pensionable earnings over the relevant pensionable service.  
 
With effect from 1 April 2008 members can choose to give up some of their annual pension for an additional tax free 
lump sum, up to a maximum amount permitted under HMRC rules. This new provision is known as "pension 
commutation".  
 
Annual increases are applied to pension payments at rates defined by the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971 , and are 
based on changes in retail prices in the twelve months ending 30 September in the previous calendar year. From 
2011-12 the Consumer Price Index (CPI) will be used to replace the Retail Prices Index (RPI). 
 
Early payment of a pension, with enhancement, is available to members of the scheme who are permanently 
incapable of fulfilling their duties effectively through illness or infirmity. A death gratuity of twice final years 
pensionable pay for death in service, and five times their annual pension for death after retirement is payable. 
 
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the 
scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to the employer. 
 
Members can purchase additional service in the NHS Scheme and contribute to money purchase AVC's run by the 
Scheme's approved providers or by other Free Standing Additional Voluntary Contributions (FSAVC) providers. 
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Note 5.1 Operating Leases 

2011/12 

2 Months 
to 31 

March 
2011  

 £000  £000  

Minimum lease payments 342 7 

TOTAL  342 7 

   

 09C 09D 

Note 5.2 Arrangements Containing an Operating lease 31-Mar-12 31-Mar-11 

 £000  £000  

Future minimum lease payments due:    

- not later than one year; 128 31 

- later than one year and not later than five years; 98 100 

- later than five years. 0 0 

TOTAL   226 131 
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Note 5.3 Limitation on Auditor's Liability 

 
 

2011/12 

 
 

2010/11 

 £000  £000  

Limitation on auditor's liability 

1,000 
 
 

0 
 
 

   

   

 
 
Note 5.4 The late Payment of Commercial Debts (interest) Act 1998 

  

 
2011/12 

£000  

2 Months to 31 
March 2011  

£000  

Amounts included within other interest payable arising from claims made 
under this legislation 

0 0 

Compensation paid to cover debt recovery costs under this legislation 0 0 

   

Note 6 Finance Income 
2011/12 

2 Months to 31 
March 2011  

 £000  £000  

Other gains  28 3 

TOTAL  28 3 

   

   

   

Note 7 Finance Expense - Interest 
2011/12 

2 Months to 31 
March 2011  

 £000  £000  

Loans from Department of Health (171) (25) 

Finance lease (19) - 

Unwinding of discount factor (13) (3) 

TOTAL  (203) (28) 

   

The Trust  holds 3 loans with The Department Of Health. The first one was a 7 year term and expires during 
2014/15, the second one is a 10 year term and expires during 2020/21 and the third one is a 10 year term and 
expires during 2021/22. The interest is fixed at the date the loan documents are signed and vary between 5% and 
6%. 

   

   

Note 8  Intangible Assets - 2011/12 Total  
Software  
licences 

(purchased) 

        £000  £000  

   

Valuation/Gross cost at 1 April 2011  168 168 

Additions -purchased 14 14 

Additions - donated 8 8 

Reclassification 6 6 

Gross cost at 31 March 2012 196 196 

   

Amortisation at 1 April 2011 124 124 

Provided during the year  22 22 

Amortisation at 31 March 2012 146 146 

Net book value    

NBV - Purchased at 31 March 2012   

NBV total at 31 March 2012 50  50 
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*I.T Information Technology 
**Furniture & Fittings 

 

Note 11.1  Inventories   
 

31 March 2012 31 March 2011 

   
£000  £000  

Inventories   2,253 2,379 

     

TOTAL Inventories   2,253 2,379 

 

Note 9.3 Economic Life of Purchased Intangible 
Assets 

  
Years Years 

 Intangible assets     

Software   5 5 

Note 9.4 Economic Life of Property, Plant and 
Equipment 

Min Life Max Life 

   Years Years 

Land   
  

Buildings excluding dwellings    
15 80 

Dwellings    
15 80 

Plant & Machinery   
5 15 

Transport Equipment   
7 7 

Information Technology   
5 8 

Furniture & Fittings   
5 15 

 
Note 10.  
Analysis of 
Property, 
Plant and 
Equipment 31 
March 2012 

Total  Land  
Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings  

Assets under 
Construction 

& POA 

Plant & 
Machinery 

Transport 
Equipment 

IT* F&F** 

 £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  

Net book 
value          

Protected 
assets 

55,82
0 

4,415 51,405 - - - - - 

Unprotected 
assets 

17,37
2 

- - 7,613 8,082 56 
1,46

2 
159 

TOTAL 
73,19

2 
4,415 51,405 7,613 8,082 56 

1,46
2 

159 
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Note 12. Trade Receivables and Other 
Receivables   

31 March 
2012 

31 March 
2011  

   £000  £000   

      

Current      

NHS Receivables   2,445 4,471  

Other receivables with related parties  123 3  

Provision for impaired receivables   (162) (175)  

Prepayments   724 1,631  

Accrued income    28 269  

Other receivables   1,082 2,384  

      

TOTAL CURRENT TRADE AND OTHER 
RECEIVABLES 

 
 

 4,240 8,583 
 

Non-Current  
 

  
 

NHS Receivables   275 261  

Other receivables   590 503  

      

TOTAL NON CURRENT TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES  865 764 
 

      

      

Note 13.1. Provision for Impairment of Receivables 2011/12  

    £000   

      

At 1 April 2011    175  

Provisions removed    (59)  

RTA / General provision increase    46  

At 31 March 2012     162  

Bad debt provision has reduced during the year to reflect the movements on debtors and under the RTA scheme and      

provisions that have been removed.     

     

13.2.  Receivables past their due date but not impaired 

31 March 
2012 

31 March 
2011 

     £000  £000  

       

By up to three months  
 2,275 2,680 

By three to six months  
 (12) 50 

By more than six months  
 305 358 

Total   2,568  3,088 

The Trust holds no collateral against these debts     

 
Overdue debts are monitored monthly and passed on to a debt collection agency when necessary, the Trust has a 
Debt collection policy which is adhered to. 
The three to six months credit balance represents credit notes that have yet to be taken 
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Note 14.  Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 
31 March 

2012 
31 March 

2011 

 £000  £000  

At 1 April 2011 7,163 0 

At start of period for new FTs 0 4,226 

Net change in year 1,956 2,937 

At 31 March 9,119 7,163 

Broken down into:   

Cash at commercial banks and in hand  72 48 

Cash with the Government Banking Service 9,047 7,115 

Cash and cash equivalents as in SoFP 9,119 7,163 

Cash and cash equivalents as in SoCF 9,119 7,163 

   

Note 15.  Trade and Other Payables 
31 March 

2012 
31 March 

2011 

 £000  £000  

Current    

NHS payables 770 1,618 

Trade payables - capital 943 904 

Other trade payables 3,607 4,468 

Other payables 2,411 3,502 

Tax payable 1,272 2,322 

Accruals 2,674 202 

PDC payable 57 0 

TOTAL CURRENT TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 11,734 13,016 

Non-current   

   

 An amount of £1,285,000 relating to outstanding pension contributions is included within other payables; this will be 
paid in April 2012 (March 2011: £1,265,000) 
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Note 16. Borrowings 
31 March 2012 31 March 2011 

 £000  £000  

Current  
  

Loans  1,156 735 

Obligations under finance leases 268 67 

TOTAL CURRENT BORROWINGS 1,424 802 

Non-current   

Loans  6,912 4,069 

Obligations under finance leases 0 263 

TOTAL OTHER NON CURRENT BORROWINGS 6,912 4,332 

   

 31 March 2012 31 March 2011 

Note 17.  Prudential Borrowing Limit 
£000  £000  

   

Total long term borrowing limit set by Monitor  26,000 25,700 

Working capital facility agreed by Monitor  15,000 15,000 

TOTAL PRUDENTIAL BORROWING LIMIT 41,000 40,700 

Long term borrowing at 1 April 2011 5,134 0 

Long term borrowing at 1 February 2011 0 5,505 

Net actual borrowing/(repayment) in year - long term 3,202 (371) 

Long term borrowing at 31 March 8,336 5,134 

   

Working capital borrowing at 31 March 0 0 

   

Information on the NHS Foundation Trusts Prudential Borrowing Code and Compliance Framework can be found on 
the website of Monitor, the independent Regulator of Foundation Trusts. 

 

     

Financial Ratio 2011/12 
 Actual 
2011/12 

Actual  
2010/11 

Approved 
PBL  

Minimum dividend cover 18.3 times 7.2 times >1 times  

Minimum interest cover 26.2 times 78.3 times >3 times  

Minimum debt service cover 6.8 times 5.3 times >2 times  

Maximum debt service to revenue 0.4% 1.3% <2.5%  
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Note 18 Other Liabilities  
31 March 

2012 
31 March 

2011  

  £000  £000   

Current      

Deferred Income  140 2,736  

TOTAL OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES  140 2,736  

Deferred Income  568 521  

TOTAL OTHER NON CURRENT LIABILITIES  568 521  

     

Note 19.1. Provisions for Liabilities and 
Charges Current  Non-current  

 
31 March 

2012 
31 March 

2011 
31 March 

2012 
31 March 

2011 

     

Pensions relating to other staff 134 34 405 403 

Legal 96 90 0 0 

Total  231 124 405 403 

 
Provisions include amounts for early retirements, clinical negligence and pay. 
 
 
The amount included within the accounts of the NHSLA as at 31 March in respect of the Trust is £20.255 million (31 
March 2011 £13.981m), this provision is for clinical negligence liability 

G 

Note 19.2. Provisions for Liabilities and Charges Analysis 

Total  
Pensions - 
other staff Other  

  £000  £000  £000  

     

At April 2011  527 437 90 

Arising during the year   225 125 100 

Utilised  (65) (35) (30) 

Reversed unused   (65) 0 (65) 

Unwinding of discount   13 12 1 

     

At 31 March 2012  635 539 96 

Expected timing of cashflows:      

- not later than one year;  230 134 96 

- later than one year and not later than five 
years; 

 170 170 0 

- later than five years.  235 235 0 

     

TOTAL  635 539 96 

     

Other provisions relate to employers and public liability claims  

     

Note 20 Contingent (Liabilities) / Assets  
   

The Trust has no contingent liabilities or assets.
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Note 21. Events after the reporting period 

    

The Trust does not have any material events after the reporting period.    

     

 
 
Note 22.  Private Finance Transactions 

    

The Trust does not have any PFI transactions off balance sheet.    
 
 
         
Note 23. Revaluation Reserve  

    

  
Total 

revaluation 
reserve 

   

1st April 2011  13,779 

Excess depreciation  (593) 

Revaluation   905 

As at 31 March 2012  14,091 
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Note 24.1 Related Party Transactions    Income Expenditure* 

   £000 £000 

     

Board Members* 
Other NHS Bodies 
Charitable Fund 

  0 
159,809 

320 

8 
9,695 
320 

   
160,129 10,023 

     

Note 24.2 Related Party Balances   Receivables Payables 

   £000 £000 

     

Board Members   0 0 

Other NHS Bodies   2,843 770 

Charitable Fund   5 0 

     

Total   
2,848 770 

 
NHS Norfolk 
NHS Cambridgeshire 
NHS Lincolnshire 
East of England Strategic Health Authority 
Department of Health 
NHS Litigation Authority 
NHS Purchasing and Supply Agency 
Norfolk & Waveney Mental Health Partnership NHS Trust 
Cambridgeshire Community NHS Trust 
Lincolnshire Teaching PCT 
Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council 
Cambridgeshire University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
South East Essex PCT 
NHS Business Services Authority 
NHS Pension Scheme 
HMRC 
East Of England Ambulance Service 
 
 
The Trust has also received revenue from and incurred expenditure with the Sandringham Private Hospital. The 
Trust’s Medical Director also provides some consultancy services to Sandringham Private Hospital, the total income in 
the period amounted to £910,000 there expenditure of £33,288 with the Sandringham Private Hospital. 
 
The Trust has also received revenue and capital payments amounting to £86,902 from the Queen Elizabeth Hospital 
King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Fund, the Trustees for which are also members of the Trust Board. A 
copy of the Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Fund accounts can be obtained 
on request (Tel: 01553 613981) 
 
 
The Trust has conducted transactions with other Health Authorities and NHS bodies, which individually are not 
regarded as material, during the normal course of the Trust’s activities. 
 
 
*During the year there were 3 transactions with the husband of J.Bate, the above was in relation to management 
training provided to the Trust. 
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Note 25. Third Party Assets 
The Trust held £354.72 of patients monies as at 31 March 2012 (31 March 2011 £0). 
 
 
Note 26. Contractual Capital Commitments  

   
31 March 

2012 
31 March 2011 

   £000 £000 

     

Property, Plant and Equipment   1,601 547 

     

 
 
Note 27. Finance Lease Obligations   

  
31 March 

2012 
31 March 2011 

Gross lease liabilities  £000 £000 

    

of which liabilities are due    

- not later than one year  268 77 

- later than one year and not later than five years  0 269 

- later than five year  0 0 

Finance charges allocated to future periods  0 (16) 

    

Net lease liabilities    

- not later than one year  268 0 

- later than one year and not later than five years  0 67 

- later than five year  0 263 

    

 
 

Note 28.1. Financial Assets by Category 

  Total 
Loans and 

Receivables 
 

Assets as per SoFP  £000 £000  

     

Trade and other receivables excluding non 
financial assets (at 31 March 2012) 

 3,884 3,884  

Cash and cash equivalents (at bank and in 
hand (at 31 March 2012)) 

 9,119 9,119  

     

Total at 31 March 2012  13,003 13,003  
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Note 28.2. Financial Liabilities by Category 

  Total 
Other 

Financial 
Liabilities 

 

Liabilities as per SoFP  £000 £000  

     

Borrowings excluding Finance lease and PFI 
(at 31 March 2012) 

 (8,068) (8,068)  

Obligations under finance leases (31 March 
2012) 

 (268) (268)  

Trade and other payables excluding non 
financial assets (31 March 2012) 

 (5,320) (5,320)  

Other financial liabilities (31 March 2012)  0 0  

     

Total at 31 March 2012  (13,656) (13,656)  

 

 
Note 28.3. Fair Values of Financial Assets at 31 March 2012     

   Book Value Fair Value 

   £000 £000 

     

Non current trade and other receivables 
excluding non financial assets 

  13,003 13,003 

     

   Book Value Fair Value 

   £000 £000 

Non current trade and other payables 
excluding non financial liabilities 

  (268) (268) 

Provisions under contract     

Loans   (8,068) (8,068) 

Other   (5,320) (5,320) 

Total   (13,656) (13,656) 

 
 
29.1. Financial risk management 
 
International Financial Reporting Standard 7 and International Accounting Standard 32 requires disclosure of the role 
that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its 
activities. Because of the continuing service provider relationship that the NHS Foundation Trust has with Primary 
Care Trusts and the way those Primary Care Trusts are financed, the NHS Foundation Trust is not exposed to the 
degree of financial risk faced by business entities. Also financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating 
or changing risk than would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The 
NHS Foundation Trust has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are 
generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the NHS Foundation 
Trust in undertaking its activities. 
The Trust’s treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined 
formally within the trust’s standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the board of directors. Trust treasury 
activity is subject to review by the Trusts internal auditors. 
 
Currency Risk 
 
The trust is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities being in the 
UK and sterling based. The trust has no overseas operations. The trust therefore has low exposure to currency rate 
fluctuations. 
 
Interest rate risk 
 
Because the majority of the trust’s income comes from contracts with other public sector bodies, the trust has low 
exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at 31 March 2012 are in receivables from customers, as 
disclosed in the trade and other receivables note. 
 
Liquidity Risk 
 
The trust’s operating costs are incurred under contracts with primary care trusts, which are financed from resources 
voted annually by Parliament . The trust funds its capital expenditure from funds obtained within its prudential 
borrowing limit. The trust is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks. 
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Note 29.2. Losses and Special Payments (approved cases only)  

  2011/12 2011/12 

  
Total number 

of Cases 
Total value  

of cases 

LOSSES:  Number £000 

Losses of cash due to:    

- other  21 18 

    

Damage to buildings, property etc. due to:    

- theft, fraud etc    

- other  427 10 

    

TOTAL LOSSES  448 28 

    

SPECIAL PAYMENTS:    

- other   26 34 

    

TOTAL SPECIAL PAYMENTS TOTAL LOSSES AND 
SPECIAL PAYMENTS 

 474 62 

  
 
Note 29.3 Recovered Losses 2011/12 

   
Total value  

of cases 

   £000 

RECOVERED LOSSES    

    

Compensation payment received from CHCC   0 
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Foundation Trust Audited Directors Remuneration Report (continued) 
            
The benefits in kind relate to vehicles provided to Directors. 
            
The remuneration report has been audited 
            
The Government actuary Department (GAD) factors for the calculation of Cash Equivalent Transfer Factors "CETVs") 
assume that benefits are indexed in line with CPI which is expected to be lower than RPI, as used previously; this will 
tend to produce lower transfer values. 
              
ELEMENTS OF REMUNERATION             
Salaries are renewed annually, taking into account external market levels and internal comparisons as well as 
individual’s responsibilities and overall performance against annually agreed objectives. The chief executive 
undertakes the appraisals of the Executive Directors and the chair undertakes the chief executive’s appraisal, the 
results of these appraisals are reported to the Remuneration Committee. 
 
The basic salary is paid as a fixed monthly sum. 
 
The chief executive has an element of performance related pay, set at up to 15% of her annual salary. 
              
PENSIONS              
All Executive Directors are eligible to participate in the NHS Pension Scheme that provides salary-related pension 
benefits on a defined benefit basis.      
              
EMPLOYMENT CONTRACTS             
The policy of the Remuneration Committee is for the contracts of employment of Executive Directors to a maximum 
notice period of six months. Each contract expires on the pensionable age of the individual, which is the normal NHS 
retirement age, but is subject to earlier termination for cause or if notice is given under the contract. There is no 
entitlement to any additional remuneration in the event of early termination other than in the case of termination on the 
grounds of redundancy. 
              
REMUNERATION RECEIVED             
The remuneration of the Board of Directors appointed or leaving during the year is included in respect of their period of 
membership only.      
              
Details of remuneration and audited information.  
            
Details of Directors’ remuneration for the period ended 31 March 2012 as set out in the table on page 47. 
 
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the highest paid director in 
their organisation and the median remuneration of the organisations workforce. The requirement was introduced 
during 2011/12 and so comparative information has not been prepared. 
 
The calculation uses the basic salary of each employee, part time staff have had their salary grossed up to their full 
time equivalent salary. Agency staff costs have been assumed to be 70% staff costs and 30% commission. The staff 
cost element has been grossed up to the annual full time equivalent cost and has been included within the data. 
 
 
The banded remuneration of the highest paid director in The Queen Elizabeth Hospital Kings Lynn NHS Foundation 
Trust in the financial year 2011/12 was £175,000 - £180,000; this was 7.6 times the median remuneration of the 
workforce, which was £23,000.  In 2011/12 eleven members of the workforce received remuneration in excess of the 
highest paid director. Remuneration ranged from £13,903 to £292,500.  
 
Five of the eleven members of the workforce whom were paid more than the highest paid director, were not direct 
employees of the Trust. Their agency rates, when grossed up to an annual salary equivalent, were higher than the 
highest paid directors’ salary. 
 
   2011/12 
    
    
Band of highest paid director - full year effect (£’000)   175-180 
Median total remuneration   22,676 
Ratio   7.6 times 
 
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance related bonuses, benefits in kind as well as 
severance payments. It does not include employer pension contributions, the cash equivalent transfer value of 
pensions, overtime or shift allowances. 
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The median and lowest salary cost for the Trust is low compared to some other Trusts. This is as a result of Trust not 
having outsourced non-clinical services, for example domestic and catering staff, whom remain our employees.           
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Patricia Wright – Chief Executive Date 28 May 2012 



 

 

      

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 



 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Queen Elizabeth Hospital  
King’s Lynn 

NHS Foundation Trust 
 

If you would like to receive a copy of this annual review in a different format, 
eg. Braille, audio or translated, please contact 

Richard Humphries on 01553 613216 
 

The Queen Elizabeth Hospital 
Gayton Road, King’s Lynn, PE30 4ET 

 
www.qehkl.nhs.uk 


